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Corporate Profile
REEGN

The Company has been listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange since 8 October 2009. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group was principally engaged in mining and ore
processing, sale of self-produced products, trading of steels, mining
facilities management and management of strategic investments. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group owned one ordinary iron ore mine
(namely the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine), one gypsum mine (namely
the Shigou Gypsum Mine) and one processing plant (namely the
Maoling Processing Plant). All mines and processing plant are located in
Sichuan Province, China.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of Shares of the Company
in issue was 2,249,015,410 Shares and the percentage holding of the
Company'’s subsidiaries was as follows:

A\\ China VTM Mining
rh [ 5 $5

l

AT EH2009FE10A8A LU —ERE B
FrEfR b REZE2023F12H31HLEFEE
AEBRNFEEBARBEREQLE -HES
EER NEES BERXMEEREREERLRE
EER2023F12B3 1B AEBEE—EZ
mEE EE-FRLER - —EAaE®E B
LBOERE h—EAER BIEETER -2
ERHE S R T E I AL R E )| o

fR2023F12831H A AN B ZBTRMHEH
#32,249,015,4100 > MAABRE FARMNE
HFEOHEWT :

100% [ 100% 1 100% 1

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.
IR AR FAABRAE

Sure Prime Limited

- Offshore B -
- Onshore £/ -

Sichuan Lingyu
)12

Powerside Holdings Limited

RS ERBRAR

100% l

Simply Rise Holdings Limited
BEIERARAR

100% l

First China Limited
=RERAR

51% 1 100%1 100% l

100% l

Sichuan Haoyuan Aba Mining Sichuan Xinglian Sichuan Lingwei
o)1 3EE Fel SR It )12
100% l 100%1 so% [ 0% |
Xinjin Mining Akuang Trading Sichuan Shengjiawei @ Sichuan Yufengwei ©
FRRE PR E 57 ) || BE R ) F 8
Notes: M5
o Deregistered on 11 January 2023 o R2023F 1B 11 BEE#H
@ Joint venture, incorporated on 15 December 2023 @ BEDE R2023FE128 158 5= MAIL
® Joint venture, incorporated on 19 December 2023 @ BEDE R2023FE128 198 5EMAIL
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Financial Highlights
MGHREE

REVENUE* 2023 784,951
WA
(RMB’000) 2022 725,869
AEIETTT) 2021 756,225
2020 580,703
2019 923,611
GROSS PROFIT* 2023 36,534
EF)
(RMB'000) 2022 25,78
ARHTT) 2021 31,527
2020 61,599
2019 118,524
PROFIT/(LOSS) 2023 9,697
ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1304
OWNERS OF THE 2022 '
COMPANY
8311
BB AR 2021
BAEANTE (B8 500 (17054)
(RMB’000)
UNEE S 2019 69,199
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE 2023 646,288
TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY 2022 636,575
ALY 635,240
BH AR 2021 '
(RMB'000) 2020 626,251
ANR¥T7T)
2019 644,740

# Included both continuing operations and discontinued operations after f O EREREREERRERIIKREER  KILHE
elimination of intra-group revenue or profit, whichever is applicable. ERASIBBARFE (LUBREABZE) ©
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Chairman’s Statement

ERERSE

Teh Wing Kwan 2Bk #
Chairman Z /& e

Dear Shareholders

Many businesses were hopeful of a meaningful rebound in economic
activities once China ditched its COVID rules. They hoped consumer
spending would return, factory capacities would ramp up, the property
market would stabilise, and business sentiment would improve.
However, the external business environment is getting more complex
than ever before as there have been mounting concerns in this
contentious situation over geopolitical tensions, trade conflicts, debt
crisis, and global inflationary pressure (seems to have moderated but
remain elevated) which have eroded economic stability, both globally
and locally.

HMEMRR:

—RERALTERELE TN REEH
COVIDMRERBERE P HEEHEER
ITREEAR FHETRSZEEIEE E@m™
BRE -AM IMEEHRIBAIFAARAMERE
HoOMGEARBER - BEER EHEHK
RINBREN BUHERNENHABL F15
MBSIEIH MATHEE HISERRME
B REE
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OVERVIEW

Under these circumstances, headwinds abound as local consumers save
more and spend less, showing sign of tight pockets. Businesses are
starved of cash as export demand shrank and local consumption fell,
elevating industrial overcapacity concerns. Meanwhile, property giants
defaulted and the real estate crisis deepened, sparking worries over
broader spillovers and higher credit crunch risk. These spiralling effects
have caused many lenders to cut credit expansion and raise the credit
refinancing bar, further exacerbating credit stress as local corporate
leverage remains very high.

Against this backdrop, China's steel market has been under pressure
given the weak demand and excess capacity while industry players have
been concurrently dealing with higher operating costs and increasing
investments for environmental compliance. Despite uncertainties, we
reported higher revenues and operating profits during the year under
review.

Our team resolved various operational issues relating to production
constraints and restored output to near pre-Covid levels, despite
disruptions of mine operations caused by mudslides and flash floods.
We have also completed the resource integration process, expanded
our production capacity for the high-grade iron concentrates (on which
we have invested in and incurred capital expenditure for the related
licensing, exploration, compliance, and engineering works) — it has not
been easy for the team.

In the meantime, we continue to believe that facilities management will
play an increasingly important and integral role in other industries and
sectors. We have thus extended the service scopes, expanded the value
chain, and forged strategic partnership in the form of joint ventures
or other forms of project collaboration for the facilities management
business. The restructured facilities management operations did well
and has since helped to diversify our revenue streams.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

While economic growth remains elusive, it is encouraging to see a
modest but steady 5% recommended GDP growth target for China
in the new year. In light of this, we believe that the authorities are
not ignorant of the danger of the spiralling real estate crisis and the
spillover credit risks as they pledge to preserve economic stability and
roll out more stimulus plans, in a bid to boost confidence. We have also
learned that the proposed implementation of a proactive fiscal policy
to fix decelerating growth will be "flexible, moderate, precise, and
effective”, as quoted so while China is shifting away from those debt-
fuelled and investment-driven models which had propelled the economy
exceptionally well.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

ITERESE

As a result, it is likely that our business will see a slower recovery
pace and slower revenues growth going forward as we adopt a more
progressive and less aggressive expansion strategy for obvious reasons.
In view of this, we have been systematically reviewing and adjusting
our strategic plans. We have also streamlined operational efficiencies
and are optimising expansion plans in the face of various dynamic
challenges while we are hopeful of more concrete signs of business
rebound.

THANK YOU

| must also thank our stakeholders, partners, bankers, management,
and staffs for their continued support during these trying times as we
adapt to stay afloat and bear up.

Teh Wing Kwan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

it - B IERRNRE > RARNEREF
HMERBARBMOETEE WEFARNE
PR ALE RIE AT BE AR - B ER UL > 3
—HERAMRE AR E - E
HEIZANRE RMATEBEHEERXRL
ETFEBELERE FARANEREEBEREDN
BEPR

AANTREILRHRPINTOE EHFBHEER
RIT-EEERETI -—BELURNRHZR @R
IR RFER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREmR D

MARKET REVIEW ™ 3% [E1 B8
During the Reporting Period, the Group observed the following industry RMEPR AEEFTEIUTTEZERERT
developments and market statistics: St 8
. In 2023, the global economic landscape faced considerable . R2023%F > 2B BFIRIEEME A K

challenges, resulting in a notable slowdown in economic
growth. The combination of stringent monetary policies,
constrictive financial conditions, and sluggish global trade
and investment significantly impacted economic momentum.
The escalation of conflict in the Middle East added to the
heightened geopolitical risks, exacerbated concerns over high
debt levels, climate change impacts, and trade fragmentation
presented fresh near-term hazards for the global economy.
Consequently, global growth is anticipated to decline for the
third consecutive year, from 2.6% in 2023 to 2.4% in 2024,
almost three-quarters of a percentage point below the average
of the 2010s.

o China’s economy demonstrated resilience with a 5.2% vyear- o
on-year Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth in 2023,
surpassing the government'’s initial target of 5%, as reported
by the National Bureau of Statistics of China. This performance
comes amid challenges, including subdued public sentiment and
a stagnant real estate sector.

o Meanwhile, the World Bank projected China’s growth to be o
4.5% for 2024, with the real estate sector’s struggles and
subdued demand in the short-term clouding the outlook.
Moreover, structural impediments to growth, including high
debt levels, an aging population and deceleration in productivity
growth in the past year further contribute to the complexity of
the overall economic landscape.

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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In 2023, the Chinese steel industry faced a moderate recovery,
leading to an oversupply. Crude steel production stabilised at
1.019 billion tonnes, mirroring the previous year's output. The
“2024 China Steel Demand Forecast Results” by the China
Metallurgical Industry Planning and Research Institute indicated
a 3.3% decrease in steel consumption to about 890 million
tonnes year-on-year. Despite some improvements in steel
demand at the beginning of the year, it fell short of industry
expectations, further contracting in the second half of 2023.
This prompted steel enterprises to proactively reduce production,
resulting in a noticeable year-on-year decline in monthly
production from August to December in 2023.

The Iron Ore Price Index compiled by the Mysteel Group, a
leading commodity data service provider in China, had revealed
a V-shaped trend in 2023, initially decreasing to a low of 821.9
in May 2023, then sharply rising to 1,110.3 by December 2023.
This fluctuation was initially driven by weak demand from a
sluggish real estate sector and modest infrastructure investment.
The latter part of the year, however, saw prices rebound, driven
by optimistic macroeconomic policy expectations, increased
demand, and stable raw material costs, thereby stimulating
growth in the domestic steel market.

Meanwhile, the Chinese Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI")
consistently remained above the critical threshold of 50
throughout 2023, primarily benefitting from the recovery in
general business production and operations in China, indicated
the recovery across various sectors. Yet, the PMI’'s gradual
decline from 57.0 in April 2023 to 50.3 in December 2023
suggests a potential deceleration into 2024. Notably, the PMI
for the Chinese steel sector remained at a level above 45 during
the second half of 2023, reflecting resilience amid broader
economic uncertainties.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In 2023, the China Iron and Steel Association (“CISA")
introduced the “Three Fixed Principles”, building upon the
previously established “1231 work direction” and the “232
key work promotion system”. These initiatives, alongside
the ongoing “Cornerstone Plan” for iron resource security
and the “Steel Application Expansion Plan”, underscored the
industry’s commitment to a “high-end, intelligent, and green”
development trajectory, in line with national development
objectives. The issuance of the “Interim Measures for the
Cultivation and Management of Green Factories” by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology in late
2023 marked a significant step toward establishing green
manufacturing standards, guiding the steel industry and regional
economies toward green and low-carbon transformation and
upgrade.

According to the “2023 summary and 2024 outlook for the
Chinese property management industry” by the China Index
Academy (“CIA"), the property management industry in China
has been sustaining positive development momentum within
the industry. Achieving record management scales and steady
corporate performance improvements, the industry is navigating
a deep transformation, prioritising high-quality development
over mere market expansion. The first half of 2023 saw
property management companies listed in Hong Kong achieve
an average revenue of approximately RMB22.3 billion, a 9.9%
increase year-on-year, which starkly contrasts with the much
higher growth rates during the same period in the previous year.
The data indicated a broader industry-wide revenue growth
deceleration, reflecting a strategic shift from quantity-focused
expansion to quality enhancement.

The CIA anticipated continued growth in both the management
scale and revenue of China’s property management sector,
propelled by an expanding management scope and the
broadening of service offerings. According to CIA estimates, the
industry’s management scale is expected to exceed 35.0 billion
square metres by 2027, with the potential for basic service
revenue to approach RMB1 trillion, reflecting the evolving
landscape of average property management fees and service
extension.
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BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Operation and Financial Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group managed to restore its high-
grade iron concentrates output that were comparable to pre-COVID
levels, overcoming production constraints from the pandemic and the
disruption of mine operations caused by mudslides and flash floods in
Aba Prefecture, Sichuan Province in June 2023 despite persisting market
price fluctuations amid challenging operational conditions. In addition,
the full-year revenue contribution from the facility management
segment, including higher revenues from expansion of its services
scopes, had helped to diversify the Group's revenue stream. As a
results, the Group’s overall profitability improved.

Specifically:

o the production volume of high-grade iron concentrates recorded
a significant increase of approximately 55.3%;

o the average selling price for high-grade iron concentrates
increased by approximately 1.6%; and

o the steels trading volume increased by approximately 8.5% to
approximately 194.7Kt in FY2023, despite a decrease in average
selling price by approximately 7.0% due to weak market
sentiment.

At the same time, the Group’s facility management segment recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB19.5 million for FY2023, compared to
approximately RMB8.0 million in FY2022 given the full-year revenues
contribution and services scope expansion.

Overall, the Group recorded a higher gross profit of approximately
RMB36.5 million for FY2023, compared to approximately RMB25.3
million for FY2022, and the administrative expenses remained relatively
stable at approximately RMB21.8 million, compared to approximately
RMB21.6 million in FY2022.

Details of the financial performance of the Group are set out on page
16 of this annual report.
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Overview of Mines R E

Please refer to the table below for the status of the mine operations EHHBAEREE REENBESNEMENRR

which are owned and operated by the Group. FEB2R TR

Mines Processing Plant Status as at 31 December 2023

&% R 1220235 12H31HRRR

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Maoling Processing Plant Producing iron concentrates of high Fe contents (within the
range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe)

EE-FRLUEE EEIER S EFeEESNEIBEE (Tregd 2/ F65%E72%)

Shigou Gypsum Mine N/A Assessing and evaluating development and mining plans

AERERE NER IE7E T 3 R B ER 5T &)

The following table summarises the transacted volumes for (i) trading TREBAAEERNEZHE ; R(NVHEBEE®D

sales; and (ii) sale of self-produced products of the Group: HNRZE
Purchase from Sale to
an independent third party independent third parties
H—RBRIE=FEE HMELE=HFLHE
FY2023 FY2022 Change FY2023 FY2022 Change
2023 2022 2023 2022
MBEE HMEREE 2% HMREE HEREE b )
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
(F18) (F @) % (FH) (F18) %
(i) Trading Sales (i) EZHE
Steels i) 194.7 179.4 8.5% 194.7 179.4 8.5%
Production volume (Dry basis) Sales volume (Dry basis)
E2 (EE) #He (EE)
FY2023 FY2022 Change FY2023 FY2022 Change
2023 2022 2023 2022
HHEE HBREE 2% MHEE FHEE =
(Kt) (Kt) % (Kt) (Kt) %
(1) (Fu8) % (F18) (F @) %
(ii) Sale of Self-produced (i) SHEBEEM
Products
High-grade iron concentrates SRRyt 113.8 733 55.3% 113.8 73.7 54.4%

Y
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Business Risks and Uncertainties

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties that are of
significance, which may bring potential significant impacts to the
Group’'s businesses, results of operations and financial conditions.
However, this is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks and
uncertainties arising from changes in economic and other conditions
over time:

o Dynamic macroeconomic environment — the macro business
environment in which the Group operates is highly dynamic
that any adverse change in market conditions for sale of iron
concentrates and trading of steels may materially affect the
businesses of the Group;

o Price fluctuations and market sentiment — price fluctuations
of iron concentrates, variations in capacity utilisation rates, and
shifts in market sentiment influenced by geopolitical tensions
and demand changes may result in re-assessment of the
valuation of the intangible assets (in relation to exploration and/
or mining rights), potentially leading to impairment losses due to
decreased value-in-use and reduced economic returns as may be
derived from the related cash-generating units;

J Regulatory changes — changes in government policies, laws
and regulations in the PRC may affect the Group's operational
practices and/or result in additional compliance costs;

o Credit risk exposure — weak market demand, challenging
business environment and real estate crisis may lead to more
stringent terms and restrictive financial covenants being
imposed by financiers on any corporate refinancing and debts
restructuring plans, as applicable. Such conditions could further
result in liquidity crunch and exacerbate credit risk conditions,
which could potentially lead to broader industry spillovers; and

o Strategy implementation and resource allocation — delays
or deviations in executing growth and transformation strategies,
or in reallocating resources, may affect the Group’s operational
efficiency and financial results.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B4 75 B B8

FY2023 FY2022 Variance

2023 BEE 2022MBEE &
RMB'000 RMB'000 %
ARETT AR¥TF T %
Revenue A 784,951 725,869 8.1
Cost of sales HE B AR (748,417) (700,591) 6.8
Gross profit EH 36,534 25,278 445
Other income and gain H U A W 17,244 8,371 106.0
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHEX (2,254) (904) 149.3
Administrative expenses TEHEX (21,783) (21,592) 0.9
Other expenses Hpak (9,980) (4,198) 137.7
Reversal of impairment losses, net AEEIEEEFER 2,674 4,528 (40.9)
Finance costs 2RI D7 (8,323) (5,965) 39.5
Profit before tax TR B 14,112 5,518 155.7
Income tax expenses PSR Z (5,032) (4,480) 12.3
Profit for the year FRFHE 9,080 1,038 774.8
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BB
Owners of the Company EN/NEIEZE DN 9,697 1,304 643.6
Non-controlling interests JEE R R = (617) (266) 132.0
9,080 1,038 774.8

Revenue KA

FR2023 FE  WABMENARKE785.08

Increase in revenue to approximately RMB785.0 million for FY2023
(FY2022: RMB725.9 million) was mainly attributed to the combined
effect of (i) higher sales volume of high-grade iron concentrates and
steels trading due partly to business recovery momentum in China
during first half of 2023; and (ii) revenue contribution from the facility
management segment for the full year in FY2023, which included

Bt (20220 BEE - ARM7259B 8T » E
ZRERUTESBENEHEE (WERELEIR
R 2023F FHEENEEERRATE R
HEREEREMEZNEE LT RiREEE
DEHR2023MBEEE2ENBASE > BHEK
BE AR EEFTIEMAYULA ©

increased revenues from the expansion of service scopes.

L ~
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales mainly comprises environment compliance cost, incidental
costs for resuming the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine operations from the
production disruption and suspension, contracting fees for mining and
stripping as well as costs of materials, labour, power and other utilities,
repair and maintenance, depreciation and amortisation, and trading
purchase.

For FY2023, cost of sales increased to approximately RMB748.4 million
(FY2022: RMB700.6 million) on the back of higher revenue.

Gross Profit and Margin

The Group recorded a higher gross profit of approximately RMB36.5
million for FY2023, compared to approximately RMB25.3 million
for FY2022. This improvement was primarily attributed to higher
production and sales volume from the High-Fe Mining Operations,
leading to lower unit production costs and strengthening the
overall gross profit margin to approximately 4.7% for FY2023 from
approximately 3.5% for FY2022.

Other Income and Gain

Other income and gain increased to approximately RMB17.2 million
for FY2023 from approximately RMB8.4 million for FY2022 primarily
due to (i) the proceeds from the sale of mine tailings of approximately
RMB7.2 million (FY2022: RMB2.9 million); and (ii) full year guarantee
fee income of approximately RMB8.6 million (FY2022: RMB4.5 million)
under the Master Guarantee Agreement, which became effective on 29
June 2022.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses, which comprise mainly delivery,
logistics, storage and warehousing costs, increased to approximately
RMB2.3 million for FY2023 (FY2022: RMBO0.9 million) due primarily to
higher storage and handling costs on the back of higher sales volume
for high-grade iron concentrates.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses, which comprise mainly staff related expenses,
professional fees and other fixed operating overheads (including those
associated with production disruption and suspension), remained
relatively stable at approximately RMB21.8 million for FY2023 (FY2022:
RMB21.6 million), reflecting the Group’s cost control discipline.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other Expenses

Other expenses, which comprise primarily cost of processing mine
tailings, increased to approximately RMB10.0 million for FY2023
(FY2022: RMB4.2 million) due mainly to (i) a larger volume of mine
tailings requiring processing, driven by increased production of high-
grade iron concentrates; and (ii) higher transportation costs associated
with the storage facilities for the mine tailings, which began operation
in September 2022.

Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables
For FY2023, the Group recovered long-standing receivables of
approximately RMB2.7 million (FY2022: RMB4.5 million) from a
previous customer. This led to a reversal of the previously recorded
impairment loss of the same amount.

Finance Costs

Finance costs, which comprise mainly the cost of funds for working
capital loans, interest on lease liabilities, and the accounting effects for
unwinding discount of reclamation obligations and long term payables,
increased by approximately 39.5% to approximately RMB8&.3 million for
FY2023 (FY2022: RMB6.0 million). The increase was primarily due to
the interest elements of approximately RMB2.2 million arising from the
mining right payable to the government associated with the resource
integration process of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group recorded income tax expenses of approximately RMB5.0
million for FY2023 (FY2022: RMB4.5 million) due mainly to higher
operating profits across the business segments leading to higher
corporate tax expense under the prevailing tax rates.

Net Profit
Given the above, the Group recorded a Net Profit of approximately
RMB9.7 million for FY2023 (FY2022: RMB1.3 million).

Final Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2023 (FY2022: Nil).

Hthk
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The following table sets out certain information regarding the Group's TR BEBAEE2023H BEE &202284 K
consolidated statement of cash flows for FY2023 and FY2022:

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Net cash flows from operating
activities

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

Net cash flows (used in)/from
financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

FUVNRERIFAEFEY

KEEHEERN
REMNEFER

R EREER
REMNEFE

MEED (A
EENRENEFEA

RERREEEY
(Rb) /18 1n%gR
EXREHTEFE

FROREER
REFEY

Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities
The Group's net cash flows from operating activities were approximately B R(HWEEESEHRTERALGARE
RMB95.1 million for FY2023 (FY2022: RMB21.3 million) after 374887 (20220 BEFE | ARB17.48
accounting for (i) operating income before working capital changes of B (NFEEESEHNVARK0IART

approximately RMB37.4 million (FY2022: RMB17.4 million); (ii) positive

Management Discussion and Analysis
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MRMERERER

FENGEGREMABRNETER !

FY2023 FY2022
20238 L E 20228 LEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTT AR®TE®

9,357 6,436
95,147 21,316
(79,770) (23,766)
(16,712) 5,231

(1,335) 2,781

16 140

8,038 9,357

REERHEENRERETFEHE

(2020 HEE : A\RM4SEETT) ; &GP

working capital changes of approximately RMB60.3 million (FY2022: BRAFROARE268ET (20228 BEFE
RMB4.8 million); and (iii) income tax payment of approximately RMB2.6 AROIHETT) B 20230 BEEARAERLK

million (FY2022: RMBO0.9 million).

EIHELEMNREEREFENAARIEIS 1T
Bt QONBHEE : ARIE213HET) °
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Net Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

The Group’'s net cash flows used in investing activities were
approximately RMB79.8 million for FY2023 (FY2022: RMB23.8 million)
due mainly to partial payments of approximately RMB48.3 million
made to the government for costs incurred in relation to the resource
integration process, as further elaborated in the section headed
“Financial Position — Intangible Assets” in this annual report, such that
the Maoling Mine is capable of operating under the combined Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine as intended by both the government and the
management (the “combined High-Fe Mining Operations”), and the
capital expenditures of approximately RMB30.7 million for engineering
and preparatory works on site for progressive upgrade and expansion of
the combined High-Fe Mining Operations.

Net Cash Flows (Used In)/From Financing Activities

The Group's net cash flows from financing activities were approximately
RMB16.7 million for FY2023 (FY2022: RMB5.2 million), due primarily
to (i) net repayments of bank and other borrowings of approximately
RMB6.0 million; and (ii) interest payments of approximately RMB4.7
million associated with the working capital loans; and (iii) lease
payments of approximately RMB6.0 million related to the right-of-use
assets.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Intangible Assets

The Group's intangible assets, which primarily comprise concession
rights of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine, increased to approximately
RMB822.1 million as at 31 December 2023 (FY2022: RMB734.4
million), primarily attributable to costs of approximately RMB98.2
million paid and payable to the government associated with the
resource integration process of the combined Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine, of which, the Group has paid an accumulated amount of
approximately RMB48.3 million to the government during the Reporting
Period, with the remaining balance scheduled to be paid over 8 annual
instalments up to 31 December 2031.
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Inventories

The Group's inventories, comprise raw materials, stocks and
consumables in relation to the High-Fe Mining Operations, increased
to approximately RMB18.7 million as at 31 December 2023 (FY2022:
RMB13.6 million) mainly due to stocking raw materials in preparation
for expected production activities.

Trade and Bills Receivables

The gross amount of trade and bills receivables decreased to
approximately RMB119.9 million as at 31 December 2023 (FY2022:
RMB209.9 million) due to improved collection cycles. The trade
receivables have been substantially collected subsequent to the
Reporting Period, while the remaining balance, which falls within the
credit period, is expected to be collected before the second quarter of
2024.

Other Receivables

The Group's other receivables increased to approximately RMB96.3
December 2023 (FY2022: RMB6.2 million) for
deposits and advanced payments made to a state-owned enterprise
for procurement of steel supply in relation to confirmed orders which
were delivered to customers and the related sale proceeds have been
collected as at the date of this annual report.

million as at 31

Trade Payables

The Group's trade payables increased to approximately RMB71.0 million
as at 31 December 2023 (FY2022: RMB35.1 million) mainly due to an
increase in purchases of the Group. The overall creditor turnover days
were 26 days, as compared to 17 days in FY2022.

Borrowings

Total borrowings of the Group decreased to approximately RMB82.6
million as at 31 December 2023 (FY2022: RMB91.1 million), due to
ongoing repayments of working capital loans. As at 31 December 2023,
all borrowings of the Group were denominated in RMB. Details of the
borrowings of the Group are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

Lease Liabilities

The total lease liabilities of the Group of approximately RMB23.2
million as of 31 December 2023 (FY2022: RMB24.7 million) represents
payment obligations related to the right-of-use assets for (i) office
premises; (i) mine tailings management facilities; and (iii) storage
facility for mine tailings.
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Contingent Liabilities and Financial Guarantees

The Company has provided the CVT Guarantees in favour of the
Financial Institutions guaranteeing the loan facilities of Huili Caitong
and Xiushuihe Mining with a maximum aggregate guaranteed
amount of RMB730.0 million. The amount guaranteed under the CVT
Guarantees as at 31 December 2023 was RMB690.0 million (FY2022:
RMB690.0 million). As at 31 December 2023, a principal amount of
approximately RMB506.6 million (FY2022: RMB515.4 million) remained
outstanding under such loan facilities. The CVT Guarantees had been
provided by the Company prior to the 2019 Disposal to guarantee
the indebtedness of Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining owed to the
Financial Institutions. Those debts have not been fully repaid and the
CVT Guarantees continued after the 2019 Completion. In connection
with the CVT Guarantees, the Company and Chengyu Vanadium Titano
(the parent company of both Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining)
entered into the 2019 Counter Indemnity for the provision of counter-
indemnity by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in
respect of the Company's contingent liabilities and potential claims
under the CVT Guarantees.

Given that the CVT Guarantees are continuing in nature and will
only be released by the Financial Institutions upon the full and final
settlement of the guaranteed liabilities, on 16 May 2022, the Company
entered into the Master Guarantee Agreement with Chengyu Vanadium
Titano, Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining to continue the provision of
the CVT Guarantees on such terms and conditions contained therein,
including, among other things:

o the Company shall continue to provide the CVT Guarantees
in favour of the Financial Institutions for a term commencing
from 29 June 2022 to 31 December 2024, subject to a
maximum aggregate guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million.
The amount guaranteed under the CVT Guarantees as at 31
December 2023 was RMB690.0 million. The CVT Guarantees
shall cover the indebtedness owed by Huili Caitong and
Xiushuihe Mining to the Financial Institutions under the CVT
Guarantees and any related rolled-over loans approved by the
Financial Institutions;

° Chengyu Vanadium Titano shall provide counter-indemnity in
favour of the Company under the 2022 Counter Indemnity by
(i) pledging its inventories as security, the market value of which
shall not be less than 1.25 times of the maximum guaranteed
amount under the Master Guarantee Agreement; and (ii)
providing a joint liability guarantee which allows the Company
to claim against Chengyu Vanadium Titano directly for any
payments, losses and expenses incurred as a result of the CVT
Guarantees; and
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o Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining shall pay an annual
guarantee fee to the Company, which is calculated at 1.25% of
the maximum guaranteed amount.

Further to the above, as announced on 28 March 2024, the Company
has been notified by Huili Caitong on 27 March 2024 that a litigation
has been commenced by China Construction Bank Corporation,
Liangshan Branch (“CCB") against Huili Caitong in China (the
“Litigation™), for principal indebtedness of RMB276.9 million and
interest thereof (which Huili Caitong is still in the midst of verifying and
confirming the related calculations) owing by Huili Caitong under loan
facilities granted by CCB.

As previously disclosed in the Company's circular dated 8 June 2022,
the slowing economy, prolonged market recovery, and heightened
credit risk have prompted many financial institutions in China to adopt
a more conservative approach towards extending banking facilities.
This shift has been driven by the need to reduce credit exposure across
various industries, resulting in requirements for additional collateral,
higher loan-to-value ratios, and/or stricter debt-service coverage ratios,
amidst the spillover effects from the real estate debt crisis.

These macroeconomies uncertainties may further lead to tighter
liquidity conditions for many businesses as credit demand has softened.
Financiers could curtail lending, the need for debt restructuring may
rise, and corporate refinancing risks are likely to intensify. These
factors underscore the Group's concerns over the potential increased
risk of liquidity squeezes in the overall markets amidst a challenging
macro-operating environment. These market conditions could result in
persistent slowdown in credit expansion, which have prompted certain
financiers to impose more stringent terms and restrictive financial
covenants on corporate refinancing initiatives and debt restructuring
plans.

In response to the CVT Guarantees amidst the increasingly higher credit
risk environment as mentioned above, the Company has engaged legal
advisor in China and conducted its own internal assessment, including
assessment of the adequacy of the Master Guarantee Agreement for
the provision of counter-indemnity by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in
favour of the Company under the 2022 Counter Indemnity, which
allows the Company to claim against Chengyu Vanadium Titano directly
for any payments, losses and expenses incurred as a result of the CVT
Guarantees. Meanwhile, Chengyu Vanadium Titano has confirmed that
it will continue to fulfil its obligations under the Master Guarantee
Agreement.
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Having considered (i) the financial positions of both Huili Caitong and
Xiushuihe Mining as at 31 December 2023; (ii) the adequacy of the
transactions contemplated under the Master Guarantee Agreement,
including the appraised value of inventories pledged in favour of the
Company thereunder according to the latest independent valuation
report dated 22 March 2024, which remained substantially higher than
the maximum guarantee amount under the CVT Guarantees as at 31
December 2023; and (iii) other information currently available to the
Group, there were no contingent liabilities and financial guarantees
effects being recorded in relation to the CVT Guarantees as at 31
December 2023.

In light of the abovementioned, the Group will continue to assess the
adequacy of the value of the pledged inventories (including the related
independent valuation) and monitor the financial positions of both
Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining closely. The Group will provide
further updates as and when there is a material development in relation
to the abovementioned credit exposure under the Master Guarantee
Agreement and the CVT Guarantees.

Save for the above, as at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have
any other material contingent liabilities and financial guarantees.

Pledge of Assets

The Group’s pledge of assets as at 31 December 2023 was related
mainly to a bank loan of RMB69.6 million granted to Aba Mining,
which was secured by (i) the mining right of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine; and (ii) 100% equity interest of Aba Mining held by Sichuan
Lingyu.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions

and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and

Joint Ventures, and Future Plan for Material
Investments of Capital Assets

In December 2023, as part of its operational strategies, Sichuan
Lingwei, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has
incorporated two joint ventures with initial registered capital of
RMB5.0 million each, which is to be progressively contributed equally
by the respective joint venture partners. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 7 December 2023 for further details.
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Except as disclosed in this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for FY2023, there were no other significant
investments held and/or committed by the Company, nor were there
any other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during FY2023. Additionally, there were no other
material investments or additions of capital assets that were not related
to normal operation authorised by the Board as at the date of this
annual report.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures arose primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely, HKD, USD and
SGD, against the functional currencies of respective entities within the
Group.

The RMB is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted
into foreign currencies.

The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to manage
the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The management
monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the needs arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to bank
deposits, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (which are subject
to fair value interest rate risk).

The Group manages its interest rate exposure arising from all its
interest-bearing loans through the use of fixed rates. In addition, the
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest
rate risk. The Group will constantly monitor the economic situation
and its interest rate risk profile, and will consider appropriate hedging
measures when the needs arise.

Please refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report for more details of the interest rates and terms of
repayment of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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Capital Expenditures

The Group’s total capital expenditures increased by approximately
RMB80.4 million to approximately RMB115.6 million for FY2023
(FY2022: RMB35.2 million) mainly due to costs associated with the
resource integration process of the combined Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine, including costs incurred for the engineering works performed in
preparation for the progressive upgrade and expansion of the combined
High-Fe Mining Operations.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is a measure of financial leverage, which is calculated by
“net debt” divided by “total equity plus net debt”. Net debt is defined
as interest-bearing bank and other loans and lease liabilities, net of
cash and cash equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working
capital purpose. Equity includes equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests. As of 31 December 2023, the
gearing ratio decreased to approximately 9.4% (FY2022: 10.3%) due to
repayments of working capital loans.

RESOURCE AND RESERVE OF MINES UNDER
THE JORC CODE (2012 EDITION) AS AT 1
JANUARY 2024

Resource Summary of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

JORC Mineral Resource Category
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Following the completion of the resource integration process for the
combined Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine, the Group has engaged an
independent technical advisor, BAW Mineral Partners Limited ("BAW"),
to update the mineral resource estimates in conformity with the
JORC Code 2012 in relation to the resources delineated within the
latest tenement under the current market dynamics in southwestern
region of China with pertinent assumptions, technical parameters and
methodologies as detailed below:

o changes in the dimensions and area of the latest mining licence;

miR (FHRE)
FREZE CK)

Area (square km)
Varying depth (meters)

& CK)

Dimension (meters)

o the addition of ore bodies located in the eastern part of the
tenement to the enlarged area of 2.7366 square kilometers;

o accounting for market dynamics, and considering that
substandard and smaller-sized resources might hold insignificant
or no economic value, BAW has adopted a cut-off grade of 15%
TFe with a minimum width of 2 meters; and

o the use of 3-dimensional resource modelling software using the
Inverse Distance Weighted method.

The culmination of the above enhancements has resulted in a
substantial increase in resources within the combined Maoling-
Yanglongshan Mine mining area, as per the JORC Code 2012. The
resources have nearly doubled from 54.56 Mt at an average grade of
22.83% TFe (as at 31 December 2022) to 90.63 Mt at an average grade
of 24.3% TFe (as at 31 December 2023), despite adopting a higher
boundary cut-off grade.
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The pertinent considerations for the estimation of mineral resources
include:

. the estimate of mineral resources may be materially affected by
environmental, permitting, legal title, taxation, socio-political,
marketing, or other relevant issues and therefore, mineral
resources which are not defined as ore reserves may not have
demonstrated economic viability;

. the quantity and grade of Inferred Resources in this estimation
are uncertain in nature and there has been insufficient
exploration to define these Inferred Resources as Indicated or
Measured Resources and it is uncertain if further exploration will
result in upgrading them to an Indicated or Measured Resources
category;

o mineral resources are constrained to the mining license or
exploration license, as applicable;

° mineral resources are estimated on an in-situ basis (i.e. as an in-
situ tonnage and not adjusted for mining recovery);

o mineral resources are depleted by mined out tonnage; and

o mineral resources are estimated based on the survey data made
available as of 31 December 2023.

RESOURCE OF MINES UNDER THE
CLASSIFICATION FOR RESOURCES/RESERVES
OF SOLID FUELS AND MINERAL COMMODITIES
(GB/T 17766-1999) AS AT 1 JANUARY 2024

Resource Summary of the Shigou Gypsum Mine
The mineral resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine under the
Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral
Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) have not been changed since the
disclosure in the Group's 2014 annual report. The assumption of the
resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine is 82.51% "“gypsum + anhydrite”
cut-off grade and 1 metre minimum in width.
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 317 dedicated full
time employees (FY2022: 215 employees), including 4 management
staff members, 33 technical staff members, 28 administrative and
sales & marketing staff members, and 252 operational staff members.
For FY2023, the employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
remuneration in the form of fees, salaries and other allowances) were
approximately RMB34.5 million (FY2022: RMB22.0 million).

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group. The Group has also adopted a share option scheme for
its employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
with reference to their contributions. Proper training programmes were
implemented in order to promote employees’ career development and
progression within the Group.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

2023 Framework Agreements

As a continuity of the 2022 Framework Agreements, on 13 December
2022, Sichuan Lingwei entered into the 2023 Framework Agreements
with Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang. Pursuant to
the 2023 Framework Agreements, Sichuan Lingwei shall provide facility
management services, comprising operational site routine services,
mining engineering support services and consultancy services (the "FM
Services”), to the mining camps of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and
Yanyuan Xigang for the period from 31 January 2023 to 31 December
2025. The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
2023 Framework Agreements for the years ending 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 are RMB26,000,000, RMB34,000,000 and
RMB34,000,000, respectively. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders
collectively hold more than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium
Titano, which in turn wholly owns Huili Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining is
in turn a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Huili Caitong. Furthermore,
Yanyuan Xigang is ultimately held indirectly as to more than 30%
by the Relevant Substantial Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Huili
Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang is an associate of the
Relevant Substantial Shareholders and therefore is a connected person
of the Company, and the transactions contemplated under the 2023
Framework Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 13 December 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 10 January 2023 for further details.
The 2023 Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereafter were approved by independent Shareholders in the 2023
EGM.

The Disruption to the High-Fe Mining Operations
Due to mudslides and flash floods in Miansi Town and Weizhou Town
in Wenchuan County, Aba Prefecture, Sichuan Province at the end of
June 2023, the Group had temporarily suspended the entire operations
of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine since 27 June 2023 and there were
also major disruptions to telecommunication, water, electricity, and
material supply in the affected regions. The Group had progressively
resumed the mine operations at the end of July 2023 upon completion
of repairing works, as announced on 27 July 2023.

Please refer to the Company's announcements dated 27 June 2023 and
27 July 2023, respectively, for further details.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan
Mr. Teh, aged 51, was appointed as the non-executive Director on
26 July 2017 and subsequently appointed as the chairman of the Board
on 12 October 2017. Mr. Teh is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Teh, a sophisticated investor, specialises in corporate restructuring,
corporate finance, and merger & acquisition. Mr. Teh currently serves as
a non-independent and non-executive chairman of Livingstone Health
Holdings Limited (listed on the Catalist of the SGX-ST and formerly
known as Citicode Ltd.). He has also been an advisor of Koda Ltd (listed
on the main board of the SGX-ST) since 2013.

Mr. Teh was the executive chairman and chief executive officer
("CEO") of Citicode Ltd (previously listed on the mainboard of the
SGX-ST) from July 2018 to February 2021 for which he completed its
corporate turnaround plan via a reverse takeover of a multi-disciplinary
healthcare services group, Livingstone Health Ltd. Mr. Teh was also the
group CEO and managing director of Sapphire Corporation Limited
("Sapphire”) (listed on the main board of the SGX-ST) from October
2013 to December 2017. Under his leadership, Sapphire has undergone
a major corporate restructuring exercise and he has transformed
Sapphire by acquiring one of the largest privately-owned urban rail
transit engineering groups in China. He has also led Sapphire to be
the first company listed outside Hong Kong to receive The Listed
Enterprise Excellence Awards 2016 from the Hong Kong-based Capital
Weekly. Mr. Teh also served as a non-executive director for other public
companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, SGX-ST and ASX.
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Some of Mr. Teh's other investment and corporate portfolios include
but are not limited to — In 2002, he advised and completed the
restructuring and initial public offering (the “IPO") exercise of Koda Ltd
(which was named one of the best 200 companies under a billion by
Forbes Asia in 2006 and 2022) on the SGX-ST. In 2006, he evaluated
and advised on a spinoff plan for the proposed IPO application of a
foreign-controlled enterprise on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange.

In 2009, he advised and completed the restructuring and listing exercise
of one of Asia's foremost liver centres, the Singapore-incorporated
Asian Centre for Liver Diseases and Transplantation Limited via a
reverse takeover of an ASX-listed fashion design house. Mr. Teh has
also previously been involved in and advised on other corporate actions
including business reorganisation, corporate restructuring, proposed
divestments, corporate debts restructuring and cash exit offer for other
publicly listed companies, family-owned enterprises and regional asset
owners.

Mr. Teh was nominated for the 2015 and 2016 Asia Pacific
Entrepreneurship Awards (Singapore) under the Industrial and
Commercial Products Industry as well as the 2017 and 2018
Outstanding Leaders in Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
Awards under the Leadership Category. Mr. Teh is a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom), a
fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants, a chartered accountant of the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants, and an international affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is currently a senior accredited
director accredited by the Singapore Institute of Directors, and an
ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao, aged 42, has been an executive Director and the financial
controller of the Company since 1 January 2018. He has been
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company since 1 July
2023. Mr. Hao is also a director/supervisor of certain key subsidiaries
of the Company and is responsible for the financial reporting and
management of these subsidiaries. He has 19 years of experience in
financial management and has also previously participated in the IPO
exercise of the Company, including pre-IPO reorganisation, merger and
acquisition, corporate finance matters and operational reorganisation.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hao was the financial supervisor
of the Panxi Region of the mining branch of Chuan Wei from March
2010 to January 2012, a financial supervisor in each of the financial
management department of Chuan Wei from May 2006 to March
2010 and Sichuan Longwei Metal Products Co., Ltd.* from July 2004
to April 2006, respectively. Mr. Hao has a professional qualification as
an International Certified Management Accountant. Mr. Hao obtained
a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in June 2004.

Mr. Wang Hu

Mr. Wang, aged 44, has been an executive Director since 1 January
2018. He is also a member of the remuneration committee and an
authorized representative of the Company. Mr. Wang is the head
of legal and compliance department of the Company. Mr. Wang is
also a director of certain key subsidiaries of the Company and is
responsible for legal and compliance matters of these subsidiaries. On
17 March 2023, Mr. Wang has been appointed as a non-independent
non-executive director and a member of the strategic committee of
Atlantic China Welding Consumables, Inc., a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang has 20 years of experience in
legal and compliance matters. Mr. Wang has previously participated in
the pre-IPO reorganisation and IPO exercise of the Company, including
merger and acquisition. He is responsible for the legal and compliance
matters of the Group after the listing of the Company. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Wang was the supervisor of legal department of
Chuan Wei from September 2003 to August 2008 and worked as a
client relationship manager in Agricultural Bank of China, Chongging
Changshou branch* from August 2002 to September 2003. Mr. Wang
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in July 2002 and a master's degree in business
administration from Sichuan University in December 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Yu, aged 59, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu was a chartered public accountant
in Sichuan Tongde Certified Accountants Firm* (formerly known as
Chengdu Xinda Certified Accountants Firm*) from 1994 to 2000, a
member of the expert panels of Land and Resources Department of
Sichuan Province and Science and Technology Department of Sichuan*.
Mr. Yu is a chartered public accountant (non-practicing) in the PRC, and
a professor, master and doctoral supervisor of the Accounting Faculty of
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan
Province. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of professor committee in school
of accounting at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
Chengdu, Sichuan Province.

Mr. Yu worked in the finance department of Weiyuan Steel Factory*
from July 1988 to August 1990. Mr. Yu served as an independent
non-executive director of Xinan Huaji Company Limited*, a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from 1998 to 2000 and he
served as an independent non-executive director of Jinyu Checheng
Company Limited* (“Jinyu Checheng”), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and was also a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of Jinyu Checheng from May
2004 to June 2010. As a member of the audit committee of Jinyu
Checheng, Mr. Yu's duties included reviewing the internal control
system and reviewing and analysing financial statements of the
company. Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive director and a
member of audit committee of Chengdu Tianxing Instruments (Group)
Co., Limited*, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from
June 2012 to June 2015. Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive
director and the chairman of the audit committee of Royal China
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to September 2018. Mr. Yu was
also an independent non-executive director of Sichuan Jiuzhou Electric
Group Co., Ltd*, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
from May 2013 to October 2020. Currently, Mr. Yu is an independent
non-executive director of Chengdu Haoneng Technology Co., Ltd.* and
an independent non-executive director of HitGen Inc.,* both companies
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Yu is currently also an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the strategic committee of Sichuan
Expressway Company Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Yu received a bachelor's degree from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan Province in economics
(accounting) in July 1988, a master's degree in economics (accounting)
in December 1992 and a doctoral degree in management (accounting)
in March 2002. Through his professional qualification as a chartered
public accountant, his education background in accounting and his
previous experience as an independent non-executive director of public
companies, he meets the criteria for accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that Mr. Yu's background and experience
in internal controls and reviewing and analysing audited financial
statements of a public company that he gained when he was serving
as a member or chairman of the audit committees of various public
companies enables him to meet the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Liu, aged 61, has been an independent non-executive Director since
4 September 2009. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has been working at Sichuan
Metallurgical Design and Research Institute since July 1987, engaging in
project consulting, beneficiation process and mining design, feasibility
study and relevant engineering design work and specialising in mineral
processing engineering. His past experiences in mining design projects
include constructing iron concentrate production lines of various
capacities and mining operations planning for vanadium-bearing titano
magnetite mines. He is the deputy chief engineer and the chief project
designer of the mining engineering institute of Sichuan Metallurgical
Design and Research Institute. He is also a Work Safety Expert in
Sichuan* appointed by the Department of Emergency Management of
Sichuan Province. Mr. Liu graduated from the faculty of mining resource
engineering of Xi‘an Metallurgy and Architecture College*, now known
as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology, in Shaanxi and
received a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1987.
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Mr. Wu Wen

Mr. Wu, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 1 November 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. Wu graduated from Peking University
School of Law in 1990. Mr. Wu obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Northwestern School of Law of Lewis and Clark College in 1998.
Mr. Wu worked as an associate of Sichuan Canway Law Firm from
August 1998 to May 2002 and later became a partner from February
2003 to December 2008. Mr. Wu also worked as legal counsel in Kodak
(China) Company Limited from May 2002 to December 2002. Mr. Wu
practiced law as a partner of Tahota Law Firm from February 2009 to
February 2014. Since March 2014, Mr. Wu has been a partner of Zhong
Lun Law Firm. Mr. Wu is a member of the Chinese Bar Association.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Hao is the chief executive officer of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Wang Hu
Mr. Wang is the head of legal and compliance of the Company. Details
of his biography are set out above in this section.
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Directors’ Report
EFGHRES

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are mining and ore processing, sale of
self-produced products, trading of steels, mining facilities management
and management of strategic investments. Details of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during FY2023 as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group's business, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this Directors’ Report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance,
which gives appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its
Directors and officers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for FY2023 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 107 and 108 of this annual report.

BEEENREERSEUARNTEE20230 B F
ENEEZEEMBEREK-

FEXH

ARBA/—BREERAE  HFRAENIE
EBRETREREBEOAE - HEBEER
BEZ KERKNEEREERBUERE -FQ
B FAB2023F 12831 BB N AFR
REMBRRNEE

e G
BEBEHF6228(RERH) M RSREH A
EEEBFHNTEERRAEE20230KF
ENXRBENSmAON BEERAEEEY
WEBRABRTABERN R EERES
FREANRRERNIBT  FERAERTEE
BEE TEEEBTREIN RTEEEAR
E-RREERANMEZEI BB LETRBN
FEFTREEN D

EEFFIMERX

MARE EFRAIMRERATRENRES
AU TEH ~ B[R FH 02 A (FH AT
TEMEEHAEREARZHIFTE TR K
AR B BEREAAZESUERT
NWEERFBFHNBERIREZES &
L 378 8 R 38 M A R 1R 2 ER R 7] B8 F RV IE (T BRGF
HAABETRHERNERNER-

ARBERAEFNESBRBERFREERE U
REFNSHBEREEEERTHEEE
IRE

e
AEE023HBEENEBBRNAERE107
RE10SENGAHBRE -

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

On 27 December 2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company will maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. When considering
the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will consider a
number of factors, including but not limited to the (i) Group’s financial
results and cash flow position; (ii) the Group’s future operations and
earnings; (iii) the Group's expected capital requirements and expansion
plans; (iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level; (v) any
restrictions on payment of dividends under any financial covenant
undertaken by the Group; (vi) the retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;
(vii) the Shareholders’ expectations and industry norms; and (viii) the
general market conditions.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend to the
Shareholders for FY2023 (FY2022: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
21 May 2024 to Friday, 24 May 2024 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all share transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17™ Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 May 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during FY2023 in the Group’s property, plant
and equipment are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company during FY2023. Details of the movements during the year in
the issued share capital of the Company are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements during FY2023 in the reserves of the Group
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
111 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles were
RMB1,877.5 million.

Under the Companies Act, subject to the provision of the Articles, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company in paying
distributions or dividends to its members or in paying up unissued
shares to be issued to its members as fully paid bonus shares provided
that no distribution or dividend may be paid to members out of the
share premium account unless, immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The reserves of the Company available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purposes, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by reference
to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC. These distributable profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 239 to
241 of this annual report.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Details of the loans and borrowings of the Group for FY2023 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For FY2023 and FY2022, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 96.9% and 98.6% of the total revenue of the Group,
respectively, and sales to the largest customer accounted for 51.5%
and 88.4%, respectively.
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During the year, the Group’s customers were highly concentrated
primarily because (i) the steels and iron products are bulk raw
materials and the customers required stable supply; and (ii) the
production volumes of self-produced products were low and our pool
of target customers was small. The Group was aware of the risk of
a concentrated customer base and has entered into non-exclusive
sales agreements with several potential customers. Pursuant to the
agreements, the Group is able to sell any of our products to the
potential customers without any restrictions.

For FY2023 and FY2022, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 94.4% and 95.5% of the total purchases of the
Group, respectively, and purchases from the largest supplier accounted
for 83.8% and 54.1%, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5.0%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Wang Hu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 31 to
36 of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles, Messrs.
Teh Wing Kwan and Wu Wen will retire at the 2024 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2023. Mr. Wu
Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2023.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has
entered into any service agreement with the Company which is not
terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICIES

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group.

When compared to other employees of the Group, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management place a heavier
weight on their contributions to the performance of the Group. This is
achieved by way of share option schemes. The emolument policies of
the Directors and senior management are overseen by the remuneration
committee of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes are set out under the section
headed “Share Options” of this report and note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of their independence in respect of
the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.

At the end of FY2023, Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu Wen
have served on the Board for more than nine (9) years since their
appointments. In view of this, both the Nomination Committee and the
Board are of the view that Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu Wen
have individually demonstrated strong independence character and
judgement over the years in discharging their duties and responsibilities
as independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The Board
believes that continued contribution will provide stability and benefits
to the Board and the Company as a whole, especially their invaluable
knowledge of the Group and its operations gained through the years.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:
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Long positions in share options granted by the MRAEATFRIZERDEAENTS
Company
Number of share options held by the Directors and chief executives of R2023F12A31H A RAEERRBITHA

the Company as at 31 December 2023: ERFENRKRMIERE

Percentage of
Number of Number of the Company’s

share options underlying issued share

Name Capacity held Shares capital

HEATBET

Y g% Fris Rz HARE BB HEARG&E AT DL

Mr. Wang Hu Beneficial owner 800,000 800,000 0.04%
FrREE BEmEAA

Mr. Hao Xiemin Beneficial owner 100,000 0.00%*
T G BREAA

Mr. Yu Haizong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.00%"
REBREE BmEAA

Mr. Liu Yi Beneficial owner 100,000 0.00%*
EP g e BEmEAA

# Less than 0.01%

# /DjR0.01%

KRBEER

THABRERRM AR

The details of share options held by the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are disclosed under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as is known
to all the Directors and chief executives of the Company, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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SHARE OPTIONS

At the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution to adopt a new share option
scheme (the “2020 Option Scheme”) was approved to ensure the
continuity of the Company's share option scheme after the expiration
of a prior share option scheme on 14 April 2020 (the “2010 Option
Scheme"”). The 2020 Option Scheme has become effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on 16 June 2020. Outstanding share options
granted during the life of the 2010 Option Scheme prior to its expiry
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2010 Option Scheme.

Summary of the 2010 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2010 Option Scheme are: (i) to broaden
the scope of eligible persons to include all substantial Shareholders
and any person whom the Board considers to have contributed to the
development and growth of the Company; (ii) to provide incentive or
reward to eligible persons for their contributions to, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of the Company; and (iii) to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The eligible
persons include directors, chief executives, substantial Shareholders or
employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of the Group
and any person who the Board considers, at its sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to the development and growth of the
Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to each eligible person under the 2010 Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
Company had 9,600,000 share options outstanding under the 2010
Option Scheme, which represented 0.43% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report.
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Any grant of options to a Director, chief executives or to a substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (ii) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options is
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.
For the vesting period of the scheme options granted under the 2010
Option Scheme, please refer to the table on page 48 of this annual
report.

Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2010 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing
to the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the
number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at
its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
ten years from the date of grant. The 2010 Option Scheme was valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the date of
approval of the 2010 Option Scheme. The 2010 Option Scheme has
expired on 14 April 2020 and no option may be granted thereafter.
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The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option. In the event of a grantee ceasing
to be an eligible person for any reason other than (i) by reason of
summary dismissal for misconduct or other breach of the terms of his
employment or other contract constituting him an eligible person, or
appears either to be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect
of being able to pay his debts or has become insolvent or has made any
arrangement or composition with his creditors generally or on which
he has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his integrity
or honesty; or (ii) by death, the option may be exercised within one
month after the date of such cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is
an employee of any member of the Group, his last actual working day
with such member of the Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice
or not; or (ii) if he is not an employee of any member of the Group, the
date on which the relationship constituting him as an eligible person
ceases.
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Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2023 which
have been granted under the 2010 Option Scheme are as follows:

Notes:

BERE2010F s E3R BB 2023512831
HEARITHEHRGHBEEBOT

Number of
share options
outstanding

as at
01.01.2023
Exercise price per and
Name or category of participant Date of grant Exercise period™ share option 31.12.2023@
20235
1818 %2023%
- 12631H
) ) SHRHBR R TR
SEALTHANER b=l fTfEE™ 18 RiREREZ E®
(HKD)
(BT
Directors/chief executives of the Company
FAREE/BRETHAR
Mr. Wang Hu (Exgcutive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 400,000
ERELE BITES) 15.10.2014%214.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.10.2015%F14.04.2024
Mr. Hao Xiemin (Executive Director) 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
WHGEE BITER) 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Yu Haizong 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
(Inde endent‘Non-execytive Director) 15.10.2014%F14.04.2024
RERTE BUFRTES) 15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%F14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Mr. Liu Yi 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
(Independent Non-executive Director) 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
BREE BUFRNTES) 15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%F14.04.2024
Eméloyees of the Group 15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 4,250,000
FEERER 15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Total:
st 9,600,000
PEE -
The vesting period of the share options is from the respective dates of 1. BOBPENEBHAREEREHHERET
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. FHARE A ko
There were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed 2. 20238 B B D AR IR (0 BR AR E IR N AT
during FY2023. R d eSS
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Summary of the 2020 Option Scheme

The purposes of adopting the 2020 Option Scheme are: (i) to provide
incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company; and (ii) to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any director(s), chief executive(s) (as defined
under the Listing Rules), employee(s) (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group, and any substantial Shareholder(s) (as
defined under the Listing Rules), suppliers, customers, contractors,
service providers, agents, advisers, consultants, joint venture partners
and business partners, of any member of the Group, who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2020 Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under all schemes
adopted by the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 224,901,541
Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares then in issue as
at the date of adoption of the 2020 Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed under the 2020 Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible person under the 2020 Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes shall not in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The
number of share options available for grant under the scheme mandate
of the 2020 Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023, respectively, is 224,901,541. The Company had 224,901,541
Shares available for issue under the 2020 Option Scheme, which
represented 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this annual
report.
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Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees of the
options). If any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months
up to and including the date of the offer of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on the date of the
offer; and (ii) having an aggregate value in excess of HKD5.0 million,
based on the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such further grant of options is
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting at which all
connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting in favour
of the grant at such meeting and other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.

Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the 2020 Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing to
the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the number
of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years
from the date of grant. The 2020 Option Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the date of approval of the
2020 Option Scheme. The 2020 Option Scheme will expire on 15 June
2030 and no option may be granted thereafter.
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The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option (which must be a business day).
In the event of a grantee ceasing to be an eligible person for any
reason other than (i) by reason of summary dismissal for misconduct
or other breach of the terms of his employment or other contract
constituting him an eligible person, or appears either to be unable to
pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his debts
or has become insolvent or has made any arrangement or composition
with his creditors generally or on which he has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty; or (ii) by death,
the option may be exercised within one month after the date of such
cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is an employee of any member
of the Group, his last actual working day with such member of the
Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not; or (ii) if he is
not an employee of any member of the Group, the date on which the
relationship constituting him as an eligible person ceases.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme at the 2020 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its parent companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2023, persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short

positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

Name Notes
218/ 14 Wi sE
Trisonic International 1,5&6
EEIELS 1+ 5%%6
Kingston Grand 1,2&5
Kingston Grand 1~2k5
Mr. Wang Jin 1,5&6
ITHEE 12556
Mr. Yang Xianlu 5
R ERE 5
Mr. Wu Wendong 5
BNEREE 5
Mr. Li Hesheng 1&5
FHBEE 15
Mr. Shi Yinjun 1&5
RIREFRE 1K5
Mr. Zhang Yuangui 1&5
REELE 1K5
Long Sino International Limited 2,3&5
Long Sino International Limited 2~3k5
Mr. Zou Hua 3,4&5
MWERE 3 4%5
Ms. Jiang Hua 4 &5
EEYL 47%5

Sichuan Trust Co., Ltd.
mjIEsEERAT

Erie Investments Limited
Erie Investments Limited

Directly
beneficially
owned

1,006,754,000

202,892,000

Through
parties acting
in concert

BB
TBALHESR

1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000
1,006,754,000

1,006,754,000

FERRKEHEMALRERG K
MR PRI

MARBEFAZSITHRAERRM > 122023
F128318 RRDIABBRMN T HEAREE
SFREEFRAEXVEE2RFID B IR AD
AABRWBEHNRERBDREESF A EIREG S
336 AEFEMNE LM BRI XA AL
(ERBDEFHAZRSTHAERIN WOF :

RRBEEFE

Held in

the capacity of
a person Percentage
having of the
a security Company'’s
interest issued
in Shares Total share capital
NEEERHR X VA
BEREZEALT BEITRE
HNEHEER pk Ba
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
614,080,000 614,080,000 27.30%
- 202,892,000 9.02%
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Notes:

1. The issued share capital of Trisonic International is held in the following
manner: 3.0% by Mr. Li Hesheng, 42.6% by Mr. Wang Jin, 7.2% by
Mr. Shi Yinjun, 7.2% by Mr. Zhang Yuangui and 40.0% by Kingston
Grand.

2. The issued share capital of Kingston Grand is 100% held by Long Sino
International Limited.

3. The issued share capital of Long Sino International Limited is 100% held
by Mr. Zou Hua.

4. Ms. Jiang Hua is the spouse of Mr. Zou Hua.

5. As at 31 December 2023, 1,006,754,000 Shares were held by Trisonic
International. Since Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua were parties acting in concert, each of Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua was deemed to be interested in 1,006,754,000 Shares held by
Trisonic International.

6. Mr. Wang Jin is a director of Trisonic International.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to restrict competition activities between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company, the Controlling Shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated
23 September 2009 (the “Non-Competition Deed”).
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The undertakings and covenants stipulated under the Non-Competition
Deed cover any business which involves ore processing and sale of
iron concentrates, iron pellets, titanium concentrates and titanium
related downstream products or any other business from time to time
conducted by any member of the Group (the “Competing Business”) in
Hong Kong, the PRC or such other part of the world where any member
of the Group carries on its business from time to time other than the
mines owned or operated by Weixi Guangfa and Yanyuan Xiwei.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Controlling Shareholders
having an opportunity to invest in, participate in, engage in, operate
or manage any Competing Business (the “Business Opportunity”) shall
notify the Company about such Business Opportunity in writing. The
Company shall have the first right of refusal under the same investment
terms to such Controlling Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders
shall implement the project only if the Company has confirmed that
it has no intention to invest, participate in, engage in or operate such
Business Opportunity as approved by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors and employment
contracts of full-time employees, the Company has not entered into
any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to manage
or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the service contracts and share option schemes as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group, to
which the Company, its parent companies, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” on pages 55 to 61 of this annual report and note
34 to the consolidated financial statements headed “Related Party
Transactions” on pages 224 to 227 of this annual report, no contracts
of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Company.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Provision of the CVT Guarantees by the Company
under the Master Guarantee Agreement

On 29 January 2019, Sichuan Lingyu entered into a sale and purchase
agreement in respect of the 2019 Disposal at a consideration of
RMB550.0 million with Chengyu Vanadium Titano. Upon the 2019
Completion, the 2019 Disposal Group (i) ceased to be the subsidiaries
of the Company; and (ii) has since become the subsidiaries of Chengyu
Vanadium Titano. As the Relevant Substantial Shareholders collectively
hold more than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium Titano,
Chengyu Vanadium Titano is an associate of the Relevant Substantial
Shareholders, and therefore a connected person of the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 29 January 2019 and 30 July 2019, and the circular
of the Company dated 10 June 2019 for further details of the 2019
Disposal.

Immediately upon the 2019 Completion, Chengyu Vanadium Titano
has become the holding company of the Caitong Group. Accordingly,
each of the Caitong Group companies becomes an associate of the
Relevant Substantial Shareholders, and therefore is a connected person
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Prior to the 2019 Completion, the Company had provided the CVT
Guarantees in favour of the Financial Institutions guaranteeing, inter
alia, the indebtedness owing by Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining
to the Financial Institutions (including but not limited to the principal,
interests, liquidated damages, compensation and other costs and
expenses payable by Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining under the
facilities granted by the Financial Institutions to Huili Caitong) and
Xiushuihe Mining, with a maximum aggregate guaranteed amount of
RMB730.0 million.
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Following the 2019 Completion and pending completion of the release
of the CVT Guarantees by the Financial Institutions, the Company and
Chengyu Vanadium Titano entered into the 2019 Counter Indemnity.
The 2019 Counter Indemnity shall remain effective until the date of
actual release of the CVT Guarantees.

The Financial Institutions have informed Chengyu Vanadium Titano,
Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining that they will only release the
CVT Guarantees provided that the total outstanding Loans (as defined
below) are fully repaid. Given that the CVT Guarantees are continuing
in nature and will only be released upon the full and final settlement
being made and officially discharged by the Financial Institutions, the
Company has (i) requested for the extension of the 2019 Counter
Indemnity in favour of the Company; and (ii) required all the relevant
existing agreements in connection with the CVT Guarantees be
consolidated and combined into the Master Guarantee Agreement for
ease of administration. The Company, Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining
and Chengyu Vanadium Titano entered into the Master Guarantee
Agreement on 16 May 2022, pursuant to which, among other things,

(i) The Company shall continue the provision of the CVT
Guarantees in favour of the Financial Institutions for a term
commencing from 29 June 2022 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Master Guarantee Period”), subject to a maximum aggregate
guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million which shall cover:

(a) the indebtedness owing by Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe
Mining to the Financial Institutions under the CVT
Guarantees; and

(b) any loans approved by the Financial Institutions for
rollover under the extension of the aforementioned
indebtedness from time to time (collectively, the
“Loans”);

(i) Huili Caitong and Xishuihe Mining shall ensure that the
aggregate amount of the Loans and the total interest for the
Loans during the Master Guarantee Period shall not exceed
RMB601.0 million;
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(iii) Huili Caitong and Xishuihe Mining shall pay an annual
guarantee fee to the Company, calculated at 1.25% of the
maximum guaranteed amounts during the Master Guarantee
Period; and

(iv) Chengyu Vanadium Titano shall provide counter-indemnity in
favour of the Company by:

(a) pledging its inventories (comprising structural steels and
iron ores, or any other assets approved by the Company)
as security for such counter-indemnity. The market value
of such pledged inventories shall not be less than 1.25
times of the maximum guaranteed amounts; and

(b) providing a joint liability guarantee which allows the
Company to claim against Chengyu Vanadium Titano
directly for any payments, losses and expenses incurred
as a result of the CVT Guarantees.

Further, Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Huili Caitong and Xiushuihe
Mining have signed a letter of undertaking dated 16 May 2022 to
the Company, pursuant to which, Chengyu Vanadium Titano, Huili
Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining have undertaken that they shall, on best
effort basis, reduce the maximum guaranteed amounts to not more
than RMB530.0 million by 31 December 2024 from the then existing
RMB730.0 million. The amount guaranteed under the CVT Guarantees
as at 31 December 2023 was RMB690.0 million.
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As at 31 December 2023, the details of the Loans covered by the R2023F 128318 FRFBBEARENZSE

Master Guarantee Agreement are as follows: BRGEBEHINWT -
Loan details
A
Maximum
guaranteed Year of  Outstanding
Financial Institutions Borrowers Guarantor amount inception amount
TR famA BRA REiERE MIER HREESH
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(ANRET ) NS
1. China Cinda Asset Management Huili Caitong the Company 200,000 2014 140,975
Co., Ltd., Sichuan Branch®
TEEEZEEEERDERLT BEVE /NS 20146
B IR
2. Industrial and Commercial Bank of Huili Caitong the Company 70,000 2013 69,715
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
MEIFERTRMBRATRUNT BEME /NS 20135
3. Industrial and Commercial Bank of Xiushuihe Mining  the Company 20,000 2013 19,000
China Limited, Liangshan Branch
PETIHRTROVBRABRUST  FRHUEE PN/N| 20134
4. China Construction Bank Corporation,  Huili Caitong the Company 400,000 2010 276,929
Liangshan Branch
PREZBTRMDBELABRUST BEME /NG| 20106
Total 690,000 506,619
“Et
Note: M -
1. The guarantee provided by the Company in favour of China Merchant 1. ARBFMRENIBEIRITRO AR A ME
Bank Co., Ltd, Chengdu Branch (“CMB") was created on 11 September 217 (TBERITY) A2 @ AMNIER 12014
2014. Pursuant to the guarantee dated 11 September 2014 and entered FIORNBRIU - BRIBFARBEBEIBITAET
into between the Company and CMB, the Company granted the T HEEA2014F98 1M EHNER AR E
guarantee in favour of CMB for the indebtedness of Huili Caitong under By REBEEBRITRAEBEEINEERET
the credit agreement, which was executed between Huili Caitong and BIEMBHNER  UBBRITAZE ARME
CMB on even date. By a notice of assignment of loan on 6 July 2017, Rt PR2017FE7B6ENEBEREZ®EN » &AQ
the Company was informed of the assignment by CMB of all its rights in BESHN BERTUTREEEEEER®D
the credit agreement and the guarantee in favour of China Cinda Asset BRABHEHNARAB AR m A EEBEHIRT
Management Co., Ltd, Sichuan Branch. RIEERERERN AR -

For further details of the Master Guarantee Agreement, please refer EETERGENE—THFE F2REAERH
to the announcement of the Company dated 16 May 2022 and the HEfA2022F5816BN A EUR BEA2022
circular of the Company dated 8 June 2022. F6H8HMBXR o
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2023 Framework Agreements

As a continuity of the 2022 Framework Agreements which expired on
31 December 2022, on 13 December 2022, Sichuan Lingwei (as service
provider) entered into the 2023 Framework Agreements. Pursuant to
the 2023 Framework Agreements, Sichuan Lingwei shall provide facility
management services, comprising operational site routine services,
mining engineering support services and consultancy services (the "FM
Services”), to the mining camps of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and
Yanyuan Xigang for the period from 31 January 2023 to 31 December
2025. The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the
2023 Framework Agreements for the years ending 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 are RMB26,000,000, RMB34,000,000 and
RMB34,000,000, respectively. The Relevant Substantial Shareholders
collectively hold more than 30% equity interests in Chengyu Vanadium
Titano, which in turn wholly owns Huili Caitong. Xiushuihe Mining
is in turn a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Huili Caitong. Further,
Yanyuan Xigang is ultimately held indirectly as to more than 30%
by the Relevant Substantial Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Huili
Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang is an associate of the
Relevant Substantial Shareholders and therefore is a connected person
of the Company, and the transactions contemplated under the 2023
Framework Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 13 December 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 10 January 2023 for further details.
The 2023 Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereafter were approved by independent Shareholders in the 2023
EGM.

Other than the continuing connected transactions set out above,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract
of significance has been entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the substantial Shareholders during FY2023.
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Annual review conducted by the independent
non-executive Directors on the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions
were entered into:

° in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
. on normal commercial terms or better; and
o in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the

relevant transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Annual review conducted by the auditor of

the Company on the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (revised)
“Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The Company’'s auditor has issued his
unmodified limited assurance report containing his findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this annual report in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

BIUFATESHAERRGE
MEXZEITHNEEEZ

BIUFRTEFCERLAFERERS I
HBRRERST

. EREENAEEHPEIIL;

BB —RE B RN B EERET &

BREBEERXZNIHRET RATE
B AN ERRMNEBEND-

AT RB B A ERRITE
REXZETHNEESEZ

ARATHNZBMCEZRREEAISHMA
GIEMEBEEXEFHERFE30005% (EEE])
TERNERELMBERIINEEES k2
REHRAFT405 ((REF]) NMRBEBLHR
AZBETA RS BRERZR M EREER
NEERERG AR BN ZHUMERR LD
RAB14A 5607 FHEFREZAREERS
FIMEAN AT ERATAFRNENFTERER
ZBIEIR G o

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



The auditor of the Company has reviewed the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above and confirmed to the Board that:

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

o for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;

o nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

J nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the amount of each of the transactions has exceeded its
specific amount mentioned above.

The Company confirms that the execution and performance of the
specific agreements in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions during FY2023 were in compliance with the pricing
principles of such continuing connected transactions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures.

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and
Mr. Wu Wen.

During FY2023, the audit committee has reviewed: (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements and annual results announcement of
the Group for FY2022; (ii) the consolidated financial statements and
interim results announcement of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2023; and (iii) the risk management and internal control system
of the Group. Details of the risk management and internal control of
the Group are set out on pages 90 to 96 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Hu.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman) and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu
Wen.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions relating to pre-emptive rights over the Shares
under the Articles or exist in the Cayman Islands.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout FY2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. During FY2023, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions under the CG Code. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages
68 to 100 of this annual report.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' INFORMATION

Save for the appointment of Mr. Wang Hu as a non-independent non-
executive director of Atlantic China Welding Consumables, Inc., a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, and the re-designation
of Mr. Hao Xiemin as the chief executive officer of the Company
w.e.f. 1 July 2023, there has been no change in directors’ and chief
executives’ information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During FY2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Directors’ Report

EEEHRSE

BABEERE
4R 558 B B 5 191 5 AR 49 (B S 8 ER MR B 15
YO

ETEFXBHRETR
AATERMBETA (rBEEETEAT
BERBNTBTA - ROMEEELETAR
BE EESERD REENEE0234
REE-—EETRETAURBREMRZHRE
e

TEER
ERBEHRMEETAFAEREGNERERES
PRI ARBN2023BEE—BEEBTEEST
AUBYFR A 38 A3 57 BUAR S o 45 2 B R Al 8 1R 5 &
ERMCEXEAER UEFRETEETR -

ERMEEELARENFHE F
EHE1008 °

EERESITHRARENEE

BT RAEESET AR FIREMERD
BRAE (RLBEZEHEXZFALEHTHAE) B9IE
B IERITES URMBHBLEBTEAT
HEHITE EMBE 1 2023FE7818) 5 #E
B FHRAEI35IBUIVEERENESRE
BITBRABEREZH

2RAFHRF6S

BE -HERBOEAAQT LS

52 55

R20230 B A ASREEFT AT BE
BE EREEAAREALHES -

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF



Directors’ Report

EEEREE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in the
ordinary course of business are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. The Company has complied
with the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for those
related party transactions which constituted connected transaction/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as disclosed
in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” on
pages 55 to 61 of this annual report. Save for the abovementioned,
other related party transactions as set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements either did not constitute connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions or constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

(i) Employees
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 317
dedicated full time employees,
approximately 47.4% as compared to the previous year.
Almost all of the Group's employees are based in the PRC. The

representing a increase of

employee turnover rate for the year was approximately 6.8%.
The total full-time employees included 115 female employees
and 202 male employees, of which 48 employees were aged
30 or below, 121 employees were aged between 31 and 40, 93
employees were aged between 41 and 50, and 55 employees
were aged 51 or above. Management maintained good
communications with the employees and encouraged feedback
from them. The proper training programmes were implemented
in order to promote employees’
progression within the Group. The Group evaluated the

career development and

employees' performance regularly, and promotions and further
training were provided when necessary.
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(i)

(iii)

Suppliers

During the year, the Group's suppliers mainly consisted of
mining contractors, transportation contractors, suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies. The Group
selected the suppliers based on various criteria, including
but not limited to qualifications and reputation. The Group
has established a long-term relationship with the major
mining contractor for more than 11 years, the transportation
contractors for more than 9 years, and both the suppliers of
production related materials and trading companies for more
than 9 years. The Group has continued to maintain sound
business relationships with major suppliers, and no incidents
that will adversely affect the Group’s product supply have
occurred during the year.

Customers

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 96.9% of the total revenue. The Group
maintained good relationships with the customers who required
a stable supply for these bulk raw materials, such customers
being distributors and trading companies. The Group has
established long-term relationships with the customer for 8
years. The trading of steels contributed 82.8% of the total
revenue of the Group.

Please refer to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report for more details of the Group’s trading terms with
its customers as set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Company has always been closely communicating with its

stakeholders, actively responding to their needs, and taking those into

consideration during the corporate strategy formulation and decision-

making process. The Company sees sustainable development as the key

for a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-win

situation for the Group, society and the environment by balancing the

creation of economic value and the impact on the environment.
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The Group strictly complies with various national environmental
protection laws and regulations. It has implemented a series of
measures to alleviate environmental impacts of ore mining, processing
and transporting. The Group has established rules for pollutant control
and waste disposal, including the proper way of handling airborne
dust, waste oil, noise, mine rocks and tailings generated during ore
mining and the promotion of waste recycling. The Group has also
brought in new equipment to improve resource use efficiency and built
tailings pond to control ecological impact and improve water resources
recycling; electricity consumption has been reduced by improving the
Group's facilities and technologies and increasing the proportion of new
energy purchases such as hydropower, thereby controlling greenhouse
gas emission. The Group supports green operations and encourages its
employees to adopt environmentally friendly working habits. For further
information about the Company’s environmental performance during
the year, please refer to the Company’s separate Environmental, Social
and Governance Report which is available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in China, while the Company listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group accordingly shall comply
with the Listing Rules, SFO and the relevant laws and regulations in
China and the respective places of incorporation of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings and
oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group.
The Group highly values the importance of ensuring compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022
have been audited by Ernst & Young ("EY"). On 7 November 2023,
EY resigned as the auditor of the Company. The Board, with the
recommendation from the Audit Committee, has resolved to appoint
Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) as the new auditor of the Company
w.e.f. 7 November 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of EY and to hold office until the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023
have been audited by Mazars. Mazars will retire in the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

There were no other changes in the auditor of the Company during
the past three years, save for the resignation of EY as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 7 November 2023, and Mazars was
appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from 7 November
2023 to fill the vacancy, particulars of which have been set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2023.

On behalf of the Board
Teh Wing Kwan
Chairman

28 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. The Directors consider that during FY2023, the Company
has complied with all the applicable code provisions under the CG
Code.

The Company recognises the importance of gender diversity at the
Board level and intends to actively seek out suitable candidates in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The selection process for newly
appointed Directors or potential successors to the Board will adhere
to the Company's nomination policy and board diversity policy. The
decision-making process will be based on the selected candidates'
merits and contributions, taking into consideration the benefits of
diversity on the Board and the Board's needs, without focusing solely
on a single diversity aspect. The Company will endeavour to appoint at
least one female Director by 31 December 2024.

Furthermore, in accordance with the updates to the CG Code under
the Listing Rules, where code provision B.2.4 of the CG Code states
that where all the independent non-executive directors of an issuer
have served more than nine years on the Board, the issuer should
appoint a new independent non-executive director at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. As at FY2023, Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and
Mr. Wu Wen have each served for a period of more than 9 years on
the Board since the date of their first appointment on 4 September
2009, 4 September 2009 and 1 November 2014, respectively. To
ensure compliance with the code provision B.2.4 of the CG Code, the
Company has been and will continue to source for a new independent
non-executive director.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the Model Code throughout FY2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EFY

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Directors, EEgRNANTES - FRTESRBEIULFEF
a non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors. HITESER - EV—LBIUFNTEEESR

At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses IHRAERNBEEZEER (R sTHNARR
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related HEEREAM BN EETSHERER
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. This EBHEAERE£B RN ERRETMEENE

provides a healthy professional relationship between the Board and Ho-BERENEIEMTELZE L B
senior management in the process of formulating business strategies EEEREERE %STIELZEGABTREZEG H

for the Group. The Board is also supported by other key committees to MEEERRELEES T EHBIIENTE
provide independent oversight of management. These key committees EHEB R AFRAR ESENEARKEZES
are the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination wr

committee and are made up of a majority of independent non-executive

Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the composition and

committees of the Board are as follows:

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board members committee committee committee

EXEgmE B%EEY HINEES R2ZEEE

Non-executive Director

EHMITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan - - C
BBk ST

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Hao Xiemin - _ _
it G

Mr. Wang Hu - M -
FrREE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIUFERITES

Mr. Yu Haizong C M M
REBREE

Mr. Liu Yi M C M
& sE

Mr. Wu Wen M - M
BXEE

Notes: M -

C: Chairman C xR
M: Member M: &
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Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section
headed "Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 31 to
36 of this annual report.

Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu, each being an executive Director,
entered into a new service contract with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2023. The appointment of
each of the executive Directors may be terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of their respective service contracts and/or by
either party to the service contract giving to the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Liu Yi, each an independent non-executive
Director, entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 8 October 2023. Mr. Wu
Wen, an independent non-executive Director, entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 November 2023. The appointment of each of the
independent non-executive Directors is subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the chairman and non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 July 2017
pursuant to which his appointment is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The appointment of Mr. Teh is terminable
by either party to the letter of appointment by giving the other party
not less than two months' prior notice in writing.

The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules.

At the end of FY2023, Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu Wen
have served on the Board for more than nine (9) years since their
appointments. In view of this, both the NC and the Board are of the
view that Mr. Liu Yi, Mr. Yu Haizong and Mr. Wu Wen have individually
demonstrated strong independence character and judgement over the
years in discharging their duties and responsibilities as independent
non-executive Directors of the Company. The Board believes that their
continued contribution will provide stability and benefits to the Board
and the Company as a whole, especially their invaluable knowledge of
the Group and its operations gained through the years.
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The key roles of the Board are:

° to guide the overall development, corporate strategies and
directions of the Group, approve the Board policies, strategies
and financial objectives of the Group and monitor the
performance of management;

o to ensure effective management leadership of the highest
quality and integrity;

. to approve major funding proposals and investments; and
o to provide overall insight in the proper conduct of the Group'’s
business.

The Board has delegated certain functions to the relevant Board
committees, details of which are disclosed below. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management
of the Company under the supervision of the executive Directors. The
functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

During FY2023, the Company held four regular Board meetings for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
considering the overall strategies and policies of the Group. In
accordance with code provision C.5.3, a notice convening the Board
meeting was dispatched to the Directors at least 14 days before the
date of such Board meeting and sets out the matters to be discussed.
All the Directors were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for the Board meeting and had access to the company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to ensure that all board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations were followed.
The Board also enabled the Directors to seek independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense in appropriate circumstances.

EXENIERES

. EEAEERNERER RDRBRS
Mo MEEFEETHR AEFRE R
BER UKEREEBNKIE;

. BERrreEEBRRERENENEES
5,

. HETBERHEIRRKRE &

. MEBETAEREBHERRES

EFCgCEEBNDIETHEHREFEZE S 5
BRIXEE - AEAEBNASEEEER
FARBDEER URATEFEE HILER
NIERBOEEZ ERBS UERERITE

L A2
2o H°

R20230BEFEE A ABIBRITHEXFITE
EEER UBT R ENBREERT U
RERAEEERRIERBEK - BRTFAEX
C53'AABERESTEHHBFEL14K
MBESTEAREHESETENEN 7
BEg R mNEE  SEFYARESEEMN
ANBEEZERER TIEAATNATWE
(TRABIME)) B4& UEFRLHEETTRF R
PR BEAREFENEET EFENERE
EENBEBRTSKBURERER  EAM
AN B A o

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Prior to any meetings of the Board or Board Committees, Directors
are provided by the management, where appropriate, with sufficient
relevant information including the agenda and board papers at least
three days prior to the meetings to enable them to be prepared for
making informed decisions at the meetings. The management also
provides the Board with information on the financial performance,
operational performance, business developments and other important
and relevant information so that it may effectively discharge its duties.
On an on-going basis, all Directors have separate and independent
access to the management should they have any queries or require
additional information on the affairs of the Group. In addition, the
management keeps the Board apprised of the Group’s operations
and performance through monthly updates, informal discussions and
meetings.

At the meetings of the Board or Board Committees, the Directors were
provided with the relevant documents to be discussed and approved.
The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes for the
Board and Board Committee meetings and such minutes are open for
inspection by the Directors. Minutes of the Board and Board Committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient detail as to the matters considered
and decisions made. Draft and final version of the minutes of the
Board and Board Committee meetings are sent to the Directors/Board
Committee members for their comment within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held.

All Directors are required to disclose their business interests and any
potential or actual conflicts of interest that they are aware of, or as
soon as such conflicts become apparent. During FY2023, on matters
that might have given rise to a conflict of interest, the interested
Directors had in all cases disclosed such conflict at the relevant Board
and Board Committee meetings and had abstained from voting in
respect of the matters/transactions in which such Director(s) is/are
interested.
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During FY2023, the Company held one annual general meeting and
one extraordinary general meeting. The following is the attendance
record of the meetings of the Board, audit committee, remuneration
committee, nomination committee and the Shareholders during

R2023FE A AB G RIT—ARRBEF
RER—RIERFFRIAEG o« LLTA20238 B4
ENEEE BERZEE HFHZEEST RELZ
EERRERGWHELLS .

FY2023:

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

HEEERYBITTARY

74

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board committee committee committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
BRZEEY HMEEE RYHZEEE
EFss Exggs Ik IE g5 RRRE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan 4/4 - - 1 2/2
BoxEEE
Mr. Hao Xiemin 4/4 - - - 2/2
B 5 B S
Mr. Wang Hu 4/4 - 2/2 - 2/2
TREE
Mr. Yu Haizong 4/4 2/2 1”7 2/2
REREE
Mr. Liu Yi 4/4 2/2 11 2/2
ElEek
Mr. Wu Wen 4/4 - il 2/2
BXRE

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that board independence is a key component
of good corporate governance. To ensure that independent views
and input are readily available to the Board, we have established
mechanisms and conduct regular reviews at least on an annual basis to
guarantee their continued relevance and effectiveness.

These mechanisms include: (a) actively encouraging independent
non-executive Directors to participate in Board and Board committee
meetings, (b) ensuring that independent non-executive Directors have
adequate time to fulfill their duties as a Director of the Company,
(c) setting clear terms of reference for the nomination committee to
identify suitable candidates for appointment as Directors, including
assessing independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
(d) providing access to external independent professional advice as
required at the Company’s expense.

EFgRIUM
AAREREFEFH UMD REFEREARNE
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R LURZBHEBRGIFEDEGAERER

ZERFOE EBXBBEULIFRITESES
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FERTEENBILM) > F(d)FE 2 RIBHEVF I
BBUIFEEXER BERALRTKE-
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Additionally, we have a rigorous selection, nomination, and

appointment/re-appointment process for Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, as set out in the section headed
“Nomination Policy” on pages 85 to 88 of this annual report. The
remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is also subject
to regular review mechanisms to ensure that their compensation
remains competitive and commensurate with their responsibilities and

workloads.

During FY2023, the independent non-executive Directors met with the
Chairman at least once without the presence of any other Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contributions to
the Board remain informed and relevant.

All the Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All the Directors had provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code. During the year, all the
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development by way of reading materials relevant to the Group's
business or to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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The individual training record of each Director during FY2023 is set out R2023EE > FEENE A FIIZEH
below: mr:

Training received

Bzl
Non-executive Director
EHITES
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (1) and (2)
BBk ST (Mk(2)
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Hao Xiemin (1) and (2)
e (M k(2)
Mr. Wang Hu (1) and (2)
ER&E (Mk(2)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIJERITES
Mr. Yu Haizong (1) and (2)
REBR&E (Mk(2)
Mr. Liu Yi (1) and (2)
Bl o e (Mk(2)
Mr. Wu Wen (1) and (2)
BxmE (Mk(2)
Notes: M -
(1) Reading relevant materials and updates relating to the Listing Rules and (M HEREERETHEBEEMN EmRNUK
other applicable regulatory requirements and matters of relevance to the HMBEREEREREENME REMER ;
Directors in the discharge of their duties; and Y4
() Reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials () HEREERTHEBEERMI Y AR RE
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the SEHREEFNME BT SR REAM
Directors in the discharge of their duties. RAEM KL o
—
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Company's chairman and the chief executive are
segregated. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan is the chairman of the Board who is
primarily responsible for managing the Board and acting in the best
interests of the Group and the Shareholders, while Mr. Hao Xiemin is
the chief executive officer of the Company who takes charge of the
supervision of the execution of the policies determined by the Board.

The chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Board meeting, taking into account matters proposed by the
other Directors for inclusion in the agenda. The chairman chairs the
Board meetings and seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues to be discussed at the Board meetings and receive
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The chairman
also ensures that the Board members work together with the
management with the capability and authority to engage management
in constructing views on various matters, including strategic issues and
business planning processes.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Directors will receive a formal letter of appointment
outlining their duties and responsibilities. They will also be provided
with the CG Code, the Model Code, terms of reference for the Board
committee(s) to which they are appointed, and other relevant materials
to help them fulfill their roles as Directors.

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or, if the number is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third shall retire from the office and shall be eligible for re-election.
The Directors to retire by rotation shall be those who have been longest
in office since their last appointment or re-election. Every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. Any other appointment, resignation, removal or
re-designation of Directors will be timely disclosed to the Shareholders
by announcement and such announcement shall include, the reasons
given by the Director for his resignation.
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The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship with
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
Group's business.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The audit committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yu
Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen. The audit committee’s
main functions are:

. to be responsible for the relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, including making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and to develop and
implement policy on the engaging of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

o to monitor the integrity of the consolidated financial statements
and annual/interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared
for publication) and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and

o to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.

EFZENHWEEFREACRTRALERES
FTRRBERERE REREBEFHEEA-
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EHEEMEBE -BREATRBE=LE
URRTEERERELE () HBREER
SXEEMERN - BRESENEENAES

. BERARNEINEZHEANREGE SF
MIIBRZEEANEE - EFEZERER
BEFZRMHERE HEIBZEEMN
N B AR AR RERIEE R ARZZ
BEM A B S AT IR R L BRI R RE

. RERNRERN RERIMNSZEEE
BEIEHEAMBEFEREN L
B R NS AZ BUBM B (1 SR R BUR 5 1 E &
HATEER ;

. EERAMBRRUAREE FFER
Eh (EHRTIE TERENTEL T
BERRERRREMEERYFERNE

BRI &

EEAERENMBERFE BARERE
A BB EIE R

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



During the year, the audit committee held three meetings and
performed the following major tasks:

o reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements and
annual results announcement of the Group for FY2022, and
reviewed the consolidated financial statements and interim
results announcement of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2023;

o reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impact on the consolidated financial statements;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s qualifications,
independence and performance;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s statutory audit plan,
audit scopes and engagement letters; and

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
as well as the internal audit function of the Group and financial
reporting procedures.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
which directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit
personnel will attend the audit committee meetings and report on
internal audit matters annually. If there is any material internal control
defect, the internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit
committee without limitation. The audit committee assists the Board
in monitoring the risk exposure, design and operating effectiveness
of the relevant risk management and internal control systems. The
audit committee will report to the Board after properly reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems as well as the internal audit function.
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During FY2023, the audit committee has reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function. Details of the risk management and internal
control of the Group are set out on pages 90 to 96 of this annual
report. Additionally, the audit committee has reviewed and was satisfied
with the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The remuneration
committee currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Hu.

The remuneration committee’s main functions are:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management's
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

. to review and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

o to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors or senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;
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o to consider the granting of share options to Directors, chief
executives or employees of any member of the Group and any
eligible person who has contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group pursuant to the share
option schemes adopted by the Company;

o to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

. to review and approve the interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and circulars or any publication of the Company
regarding information on the remuneration and service contracts
of the Directors prior to approval by the Board.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings, at
which the members of the remuneration committee:

o determined the policy for the remuneration of the Directors and
reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors;

. assessed the performance of the Directors; and
o considered and approved the terms of the Directors' service
agreements.

The Company considers various factors, such as performance,
experience, and competence, as well as comparable market
remuneration packages, when determining the compensation packages
for Directors and senior management. For further information on the
Company’'s emolument policies, please refer to page 42 of this annual
report.
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The remuneration paid/payable to senior management (comprising

Directors) for FY2023 by band is set out below:

Name of Director

EEt4

Non-executive Director
FHTES
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
YinEzE

Mr. Hao Xiemin
i

Mr. Wang Hu
IR%kE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUFHTES
Mr. Yu Haizong
RERTE

Mr. Liu Yi
mELE

Mr. Wu Wen
BXkE

Remuneration
band

HHgE

HKD1,000,000 - 1,500,000
1,000,000 - 1,500,000 7

RMB200,000 - 500,000
A 200,000 - 500,00070
RMB200,000 - 500,000
A 200,000 - 500,00070

RMB nil - 200,000
ARHEZ - 200,0007
RMB nil - 200,000
ARHEZ - 200,0007
RMB nil - 200,000
ARHEZ - 200,0007

Director's
fee

EENE

39

45

P20238 EE ) B ENBHREEAE (8
RES) WEHMEEHOT :

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Share scheme
in kind options contributions Total
e Rk
BNER REE  RASHAMLS &t
% % % %
- - - 100
56 - 5 100
49 - 6 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The nomination
committee currently comprises the non-executive Director, Mr. Teh Wing
Kwan (Chairman), and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen.

The nomination committee’s main functions are:

o to review the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with due
regard to the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) and
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) of the
Company and other factors which are relevant to the Company;

o to develop and formulate the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy for the Board’s consideration and approval;

o to discuss any revisions to the Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy that may be required, and recommend
such revisions to the Board for the Board’s consideration and
approval;

o to review, implement and monitor, as appropriate, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

o to review measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing any of the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving such
objectives;

o to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors with reference to, inter alia, the factors set out in the
Listing Rules and any other factors deemed appropriate by the
nomination committee or the Board and assess their ability to
devote sufficient time to the Board and Board committees;
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o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;

o to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship; and

o to keep under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in
the market place.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy is concerned with achieving sustainable and
balanced development and increasing diversity in the Company as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development.

Board level

In this regard, the nomination committee has considered the
measurable objectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy, which are to
ensure that candidates of the Board are considered based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on merit and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Board Diversity Policy is reviewed annually by nomination committee,
as appropriate, nomination committee will ensure the effectiveness
of such policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

For FY2023, the Board consists of six members, including two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors who are of different ethnicities and with
professional experience and qualifications in various aspects, such as
financial management, law, compliance, accounting and mining. Having
regard to the composition of the Board and the measurable objectives,
the Company considers that the Board composition is sufficiently
diversified in terms of balance of skills and experience, which are
desirable for the effective management and sustainable development of
the Company.

The Company recognises the importance of gender diversity at the
Board level and intends to actively seek out suitable candidates in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company will endeavour to
appoint at least one female Director by 31 December 2024 and ensure
that sufficient resources are available for providing appropriate trainings
and career development to develop a pipeline of potential successors to
the Board and achieve gender diversity.
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Workforce level

The Group's primary business activities include mining, ore processing,
sales of mined and processed minerals, and trading of coal and steel.
Due to the unique nature of the industry, the majority of workers at
mine sites are men, with women comprising a minority. As disclosed on
page 64 of this annual report, the Company's workforce composition
is slightly skewed towards men. Given the characteristics of the mining
industry, setting measurable objectives for gender diversity at the
workforce level is not deemed appropriate.

The Company welcomes all genders to apply for positions. Our
recruitment strategy focuses on selecting the most suitable candidate
for each position, regardless of gender. We remain committed to
providing equal opportunities to all employees with regards to
recruitment, training and development, job advancement, remuneration
and benefits.

During the year, the nomination committee held one meeting, at which
the members of the nomination committee:

o reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Directors;
o evaluated the performance and contribution of the retiring

Directors; and

o assessed the independence of the retiring independent
non-executive Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,
senior management prepared for Board positions under the succession
planning of the Company. The Nomination Policy sets out the following
key nomination criteria and procedures, among others, as follows:

(1) Nomination criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

(i)

character and integrity;
(i) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, and diversity aspects
under the Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy;
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(2)

EXERKRS

(iii) any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

(iv) requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

(vi) willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company;

(vii)  such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the nomination committee from time
to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning; and

(viii)  such other factors set out in terms of reference of the
nomination committee.

Nomination procedures (2)

(a) Appointment of new Directors

(i) The nomination committee identifies individual(s)
suitably qualified to become Board members
based on its assessment on the character,
biographical information and other relevant
details of such individual(s), having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of the
proposed independent non-executive Director(s)
as appropriate;

(i) If the nomination committee has identified more
than one individual who are suitably qualified
for directorship based on the above assessment,
the nomination committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each individual
(where applicable);
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

individual(s)
recommended by the nomination committee,
having due regard to the assessment of the
nomination committee, the Nomination Policy

The Board considers the

and the Board Diversity Policy;

The Board confirms the appointment of the
individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends the
individual(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board will be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles; and

The Shareholders approve the election of
individual(s), who stand(s) for election at general
meeting, as Director(s).

b) Re-appointment of retiring Directors

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The nomination committee considers each retiring
Director based on its review of each retiring
Director's overall contribution, services to the
Company, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board, having due regard
to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy, and assesses the independence of each
retiring independent non-executive Director;

The nomination committee makes recommendation(s)
to the Board;

The Board considers each retiring Director
recommended by the nomination committee,
having due regard to the nomination committee's
review of each retiring Director, the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

The Board recommends the retiring Directors
to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles; and

Corporate Governance Report

(b)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

EEEARS

RAZEETNEFERY
FE=

EFgRNBHEHETERD
ZEgNTME REEE
REEEZTIEHERE
ERIELEZEGHEBHNA
=+

EFgmslEZEEAMAL
REFAEBEBALR
RERRXELSE-BEF
B EIRMR T SR
HEFERENERAL
ARBENEZSRRE
Bk

PRt ERENRERS
E2ENATRES-

ENEHIRIESE

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

RHEEEENBEEEIE
LBRREFGZTIER
RE REEHSHEE
EENEREEHM -NER
ANRBEEURTES
EHN2REERKREE
BRBREES LUK
BRRENBIUIFNITE
EFEOBBIANL

RAZETRNEFERY
2

EFENBEHZERERZ
EEHBLREEENE
R RERERREFTES
TIERRE  TRIELE
EEHENBLERMEE
%,

EFgRRANNRRKRERE
FRELHEBREERE
BEE R

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF

(
\\
-

/7

.
7 |
— /



Corporate Governance Report

EEELARS

(3)

4)

(v) The Shareholders approve the re-election of
Directors at the annual general meeting.

The Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all matters
relating to the selection and appointment of Directors. Where
the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as Director at a general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or
other applicable laws and regulations.

Principles considered by the nomination committee
In carrying out its responsibilities, the nomination committee
should give adequate consideration to the following principles:

(a) in relation to Board composition — the Board should
have a balance of skills, experience, diversity of
gender and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company'’s business. It should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption.
It should include a balanced composition of executive
and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively enhance
decision making capability of the Board. Non-executive
Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for
their views to carry weight; and

(b) in relation to appointments, re-election and removal —
there should be a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Directors.
There should be plans in place for orderly succession
for appointments. All Directors should be subject to
re-election at regular intervals. The Company must
explain the reasons for the resignation or removal of any
Director.

Regular review

The nomination committee will conduct regular reviews on the
structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board Diversity
Policy, and the Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy and business needs.

(3)

4)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance functions as set out below:

o to develop and review the Company’'s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

o to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board held four meetings, at which the Board
considered and discussed, among other things, the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, as well as the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For FY2023, the remuneration paid/payable in relation to assurance
services (excluding out-of-pocket expenses and taxes) by the Group
to the Company’s current external auditor, Mazars CPA Limited, is
approximately RMB 1,400,000, and the provision of non-audit services
of RMB690,000 was charged by the Group's predecessor auditor, Ernst
& Young, in respect of interim report for the six months ended 30 June
2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND GOING CONCERN
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for each financial period, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. Senior management
is required to present and explain the financial reporting and matters
that materially affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Group to the audit committee
and the Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the
audit committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the consolidated financial
statements of the Company on a going-concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.
The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the risk exposure,
design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The audit committee will report to the
Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
which directly reports to the audit committee. The internal audit
personnel will attend the audit committee meetings and report
on internal audit matters annually. If there is any material internal
control defect, the internal audit personnel directly reports to the
audit committee without limitation. Further, the Group appointed an
international advisory firm as an external advisor to provide internal
control services under a three-year rotation plan based on a risk-based
methodology.
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Under the supervision of the Board, the management of the Group
is responsible for designing and implementing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Group has set up three
lines of defense for risk management. As the first line of defense, the
business units (e.g., sales department and production department) are
responsible for identifying and assessing business risks and developing
risk mitigation measures. As the second line of defense, the functional
departments (e.g., compliance department and finance department)
are responsible for assisting the business units in improving the risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness of risk management. As
the third line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Board
and the audit committee to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

As and when required during the year, the management convened
meetings which were chaired by the senior management with
attendants including managers from subsidiaries and department
heads from the headquarters. The Group’s decisions on operations,
implementation of investment projects, financial issues, and the
updates on risk management and internal control were considered and
determined at these meetings. The management convened annual and
interim work meetings in order to assign and review works on a yearly
basis and half yearly basis, respectively. The meetings have facilitated
the organisation, co-ordination, communication and supervision on the
commencement and implementation of the Group’s various operations,
as well as the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information include:

o the Company has established a sensitive information disclosure
policy, which specified the information disclosure process,
the confidentiality requirements of the undisclosed sensitive
information, and the confidentiality obligations of the
employees of the Group;

o the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

o confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations;

Corporate Governance Report

EEEARS

EEFENEET F2EEEEERERIR
BTTEENEABREERANBEERK K&
ERRBEENE=ZMME - F—RHBRSE
BB BHEMPIREESF) - BFHIK
MG EB R LR ERMERRET ; 550
RASThAERRPI (BN ERBPIKM AP B8
MMEBEUNSZARERE ERAREEMN
M MEZRMBANBEZEE HBEFS
REZZEERNAEEAREERNIEE
RARBIARL

FRAMERE EEETEAHASREEAR
HEEFENEZ HgE0EFRAEMNEER
BEHNHPIEE - AEENEERK - KREEA
MBET WHEFEEUARAREERANBEEN
RMBER IR ZEERLEERRE -EEE
CBRFEATHIGER USEFAEFFIE
KRB BB IIF-ZEFGHA AR W
BMEREEAERTREBUREREERA
BEERRHARRET

FERNTERBEIRSRPERM S EHRA
REBMRA BEARABHERSRERS
BEEARAM EEREMABTHENEFR
PEREEHE B IR ¢

. ARBEHNEHRNELIRTEEER 5]H
BERIREBRRE TRESRENRE
RERTEBRENREET

. By EEEEZRNARBENES
BB -ERAANREHENEESZE T HRK

ENREBES

. FERRETEREFARF ] LFREH

=
0

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF

\

91 |



92

Corporate Governance Report

EEELARS

o the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors;

. the service contracts of the Directors, senior management and
the employees of the Group specify the confidentiality clauses;
and

° the legal advisors of the Company regularly provide relevant

updates to the Board and senior management.

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk management mechanism
guided by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The Board has
established risk management policies and measures on the procedures
of risk identification, evaluation, reporting and mitigation. The risk
management mechanism covers the whole Group’s various risks in the
business operations and management. The functional department of
risk management is the compliance department of the Group, which
reports to the audit committee and is responsible for the establishment
and operations of the risk management system and coordination of risk
management, supervision and evaluation of risk management, as well
as providing advice for material risk decisions.

The compliance department of the Group periodically collected risk
information and conducted risk evaluation through questionnaires,
workshops, management meetings, which were reported to senior
management in a timely manner. In FY2023, based on the Group's
production and business conditions, the compliance department
of the Group summarised a total of 77 risk factors, categorised as
strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk and financial risk. The
management scored the risk factors based on their understanding,
production and operational experience and determined the risk
mitigation and internal control measures to address the risks. The
identified top five risks for FY2023 are as below:
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S/N  Risk title
wmar EMRER

1 Environmental risk
IRiG R

2 Investment strategy risk
BB R A
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Description
itk

The Group is principally engaged in the business of mining, ore processing, sale of mined
and processed minerals and trading of coals and steels. The Group owns and operates
the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine, an iron ore mine, Shigou Gypsum Mine, a gypsum mine
and Maoling Processing Plant. The mines and processing plant are located in Sichuan
Province, the PRC.

FEBIERERBE - BASE - HECHRKEMNIREUARFEBHEZER K
EEMAAKEEE-FRLUER ERARE GBaERE (SRS hEHLE
T o 5% S5 TR 5 R S EERR TS AL FR B I ) o

Mining and the related processing operations are susceptible to incidents of
environmental pollution arising from accidents, non-compliance with internal procedures
and external environmental regulations. Should there be an incident of pollution that
causes serious damage to the environment, human casualties and/or fatalities, the
Group’s operations and reputation may be adversely impacted by legal actions initiated by
third parties and regulatory actions such as penalties and production stoppages.
REREEEEEFHAGERBINSRER - ERANBERF RINIRBEREFEW
ERSRERNENBRERBRE AEZERHET AIAEENES R EEAES
NE=FREEEFDURIAKEESHETHNTFEE-

New investments, both locally and overseas, can be made in the form of a new setup,
acquisition of an existing business or a joint venture. Such investments carry a risk of
failure. Overseas investments and investments in joint ventures inherently carry a higher
risk of failure due to: (i) a lack of visibility and knowledge of the business nature and
market; and (ii) high dependency on the other party which may or may not deliver on its
responsibilities, respectively.

REBANRBEAMARIFAT - WBREARAHNGECENTERETHRE MEF
FHERERFNAR BIGERBRENGECEAGEFARSNEEXRNAR  RE
R (VRZHEBMERTSNERKRPH ; RVEEFBS —75 > MEDSEE A5k
FTERBITHEE

On top of the initial capital, the Group may need to continuously support the new
investments by extending financial resources such as loans or corporate guarantees.
BRAFTEXRI REBTOEREFEZBENERA R EREVBERIENLE
&Fo

Post investment, investment may fail due to poor execution of the original investment
plan by local partners or inadequate monitoring. Failed investments may have an adverse
impact on the financial performance of the Group.

ETRER RENGAEMSERHEREESINIT A OHBEER MK B8
EHAERNUBRESEHNIF TR
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S/N  Risk title
wmIE EREE

3 Mining management risk
REEERR

4 Health and safety risk
REKRZEERE

Description

i P

Mining and processing operations are highly dependent on the use of heavy machinery
and equipment such as crushers, grinder machines and conveyor belts.

RERABREBSERBERAERM MK RE  OIWMEE RERRER -

As the machines are subject to heavy usage, the level of wear and tear is high. Improper
use, repair and/or inadequate maintenance may lead to accidents that result in casualties,
fatalities, damage to machinery, environment, economic losses and prolonged operational
disruptions. In addition, insufficient and improper mine management and maintenance
may lead to soil erosions and mine accidents with similar adverse impacts.
HREERERA WEBRE-FATE HER ' REEFEAIEEREIN EME
FANEBBET HBRIRIBEE QBRI RREEEFERE - ILI BIZEEREETE
HFEFREEBKERARBERIN PIERKRELETFIZE -

The mining industry is deemed a high-risk industry on health and safety due to the nature
of mining and processing works carried out. Common injuries and occupational diseases
that may occur in the mining industry include falls from heights, slips and falls, machinery
incidents, vehicular incidents and struck by falling and moving objects.
HAFETHRBERAETEEECEA BETRREEREFEAREADRAMITE EE
FRERERENERZERBEROELSERAC - BERET HESI BWEINLRK
TEHBHYRERE -

In the event of an occurrence of the above-mentioned incidents, the Group may be
adversely impacted by the following outcomes:

fmEd BB ARERETERIUTERTFIZE

o The regulatory authority may impose punitive measures such as fines and stop-
work orders in the event of unsafe conditions discovered at safety inspections of
worksites or non-compliance with regulations;

MR IHZ2KEREFRAZ2NERBE R N BRI SEMMNE&SIEHE > F
MEARRELL ;

J Loss in manpower;
ATEE
o Financial loss due to compensation payout for work related injuries; and

A THEHMEMEENFER , &

o The public may lose confidence in the Group if the incidents are publicized in the
mass media.

HARBEREEHO WARA LTSRN ERERKRERE D
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S/N  Risk title Description
W RMRIRE st
5 Budget management risk The Group generates cash flow from sales of mined and processed minerals, trading of
steel products and makes payments for items such as purchases of inventory, payments
for payroll, operating overheads and finance charges. From time to time, significant cash
outflows such as large capital expenditure or acquisitions may be made.
BEHEEERR AEENRESREREHEFRBARKEERY EENR G UENBEEFEGE XU

B REBERAKVBERSRENR YRR ARERMA AW EFHRSELER
el

Failure to allocate resources and implement an effective budget for existing and
expansion plans may lead to a depletion of cash balances, impact the Group's ability to

compete in its industry and in turn affect its ability to operate as a going concern.
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Internal Control

The audit committee supervises and inspects the comprehensiveness
and implementation of the internal control system of the Group,
and regularly discusses with the management on the system in order
to ensure that the management performs its duties to establish an
adequate and effective internal control system.

The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the assets
of the Group and maintain proper accounting records, execution with
appropriate authority and compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations. The Board has established and evaluated the relevant
internal control system across three spectrums covering the corporate
governance and system, business and accounting procedures and
information system control. The management, with oversight from the
Board, has established internal control and risk management systems
guided by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission’s Internal Control Integrated Framework. The main features
of the framework are as follows:

o control environment: including code of conduct and other
practices regarding acceptable business practice or expected
standards of ethical and moral behaviours, management of
conflict of interest, authority and responsibility, and legal and
regulatory compliance;

o risk assessment: including objective management, risk
assessment and management, and compliance management;
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o control activities: including sales, trade receivables and
collection, procurement, trade payables and payment,
production and costing, human resources and payroll, assets
management, treasury, financial reporting, and information
technology general controls;

o information and communication: including forecasting and
budgeting, internal and external communication, confidentiality
and data protection; and

. monitoring activities: including internal audit function, and
reporting of internal control defects.

During FY2023, the internal audit function of the Group, with the
assistance of an international advisory firm, performed an annual review
and self-assessment on the above internal control system in order to
monitor its operations in a timely manner. The main work procedures
included policy review, interview with key process owners, and sample
testing. As a result of the review, the Group updated the relevant
policies and procedures in accordance with the business operations and
practice of the Group. To address the 10 issues identified in the annual
review, the Group requested the relevant departments to take remedial
actions in a timely manner. The internal audit function together with
the international advisory firm reported the self-assessment and annual
review results to the audit committee. The Board, through the audit
committee, reviewed the work of the internal audit function as well.
After a follow-up review on the remedial actions taken to address
the identified issues, the Board was of the view that a proper internal
control system of the Group was established and executed, and no
significant area of concern which might affect the Shareholders was
found.

The Board conducts a review of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems at least once a year. The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. During FY2023, the Board, through the
audit committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the systems of risk
management and internal control (including financial, operational and
compliance controls), and was of the view that the Group complied
with the CG Code on risk management and internal control and
concluded that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate, and such controls effectively mitigated the
risks that might have an impact on the Group in achieving its strategic
objectives.
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Whistleblowing

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a whistleblowing policy to provide employees and relevant
third parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers,
creditors and debtors) with guidance and reporting channels to
raise concerns and/or report any suspected improprieties in any
matters related to the Group in confidence and anonymity. An email
account has been set up for this purpose. All reported matters will
be investigated independently, and, in the meantime, all information
received from a whistleblower and its identity will be kept confidential.
The Board and the audit committee will regularly review the
whistleblowing policy and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.

Anti-corruption

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the Board
has adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy which outlines
guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all applicable laws
and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption and antibribery, the
responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the Group defend
against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably suspected case
of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management
or through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group would not
tolerate all forms of fraud and corruption among all employees and
those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group,
and in its business dealing with third parties. The Board and the audit
committee will review the anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy and
mechanism periodically to ensure its effectiveness and enforce the
commitment of the Group to the prevention, deterrence, detection and
investigation of all forms of fraud and corruption. Further details of
such policy can be found in the Company’s environmental, social and
governance report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Eng Wee, an external service provider, has been appointed
as the Company Secretary and reports to the chairman and the chief
executive officer from time to time. In accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, Mr. Chong has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during FY2023. The appointment and removal
of the Company Secretary is a decision subject to the approval of the
Board as a whole.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, on a one vote per Share basis (the “Requisitionist(s)”)
may, by written requisition (the “Requisition”) to the Board or the
Company Secretary, require an extraordinary general meeting (the
"EGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in the Requisition. The Requisition shall be
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
the Requisition. In the event that the Board fails to proceed to convene
the EGM within twenty-one days of the deposit of the Requisition, the
Requisitionist(s) may convene a physical meeting at only one location
which will be the principal meeting place (as defined in the Articles),
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through

Hong Kong.

the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong which will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Board has adopted a shareholders communication policy (the
“SCP") which is subject to annual review. During FY2023, the Board
has reviewed the SCP and has updated the SCP to include the
latest amendments to the Listing Rules in respect of the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications. The Board is of the view
that with the measures set out below in place, the SCP is considered to
have been effectively implemented.
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Purpose

The SCP aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
that Shareholders, in appropriate
is provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material

both individual and institutional,
circumstances,

developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to

allow Shareholders and to engage actively with the Company.

Communication Strategies
The main communication channels with the Shareholders include:

Constitutional documents

A copy of the latest memorandum and articles of association of the
Company is available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website. Save for the
amendments to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company approved by the Shareholders by way of a special resolution
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
31 January 2023, there has been no other change in the Company's
constitutional documents during FY2023.

Annual general meetings

The annual general meeting is an important discussion platform
for the Shareholders to participate, facilitating the communications
between the management of the Company and the Shareholders. The
annual general meeting is held once a year and is accessible to all the
Shareholders. The Directors answer any questions the Shareholders have
at the annual general meeting which is also attended by the external
auditor and the Company Secretary. All matters proposed to the
Shareholders for approval shall be submitted in separate resolutions and
resolved by way of poll at the annual general meeting. The procedures
of conducting a poll will be explained in detail to the Shareholders
and the voting results will be available on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website
(www.chinavtmmining.com).
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Annual reports, interim reports, announcements and circulars
The Company issues its annual reports and interim reports after
publishing the annual results and the interim results in March and
August every year, respectively, so as to periodically review the
development of the Group as well as to update its Shareholders
with its latest business information and market trends. In addition,
the Company will inform the Shareholders through announcements
regarding any major event or inside information in a timely manner. For
any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders, the Company
will hold an EGM according to the requirements of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and issue a circular prior to the specific date of the
meeting, allowing the Shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars will be uploaded to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company'’s website (www.chinavtmmining.com).

The chairman of the Board also encourages Shareholders and investors
to write to the Company via ir@chinavtmmining.com, if they wish to.

The Company’s website

The Company's website offers timely access to the Group's press
releases and other business information. Through its website, the
Company provides the Shareholders with electronic versions of the
financial reports, the latest slide presentations, as well as up-to-
date news about the Group’s business, announcements, and general
information, whichever is applicable from time to time. To make
contributions to environmental protection and maintain effective
communication with the Shareholders, the Group encourages all
Shareholders to browse the Company's corporate communication files
on the Company’s website.

Investor contacts and enquiries

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle Shareholders’ enquiries. Should investors have any enquiries,
please contact the Company via email at ir@chinavtmmining.com.

The Company will ensure that the information of the work on investor
relations is disclosed in a timely and accurate manner, and will react to
the capital market effectively and smoothly. This can help the capital
market to better understand its development strategies and operating
conditions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

mazars

To the members of
China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the "Group”) set out on pages 107 to
238, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance.
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Mazars CPA LIMITED

PRI (F) ERHmREE A RA
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

T s AT S T 18R P IR B I 4248

Tel 7l (852) 2909 5555

Fax {4 1: (852) 2810 0032

Email & #: info@mazars.hk

Website fg1ik: www.mazars.hk
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

MBS EE

Impairment of non-current assets

IR EERE

In accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there are any indications of impairment for its non-current
assets. If such indicator of impairment exists, an estimate
of the recoverable amount is performed. The Group has a
significant amount of non-current assets, including property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets. Based on the existing market conditions in the iron
ore industry and gypsum ore industry, impairment indicators
were identified for the Group’s non-current assets.
ZIR(BIRMBRELERDNG LR, SEENEREM
FTHEFRBDEEE TR MBAETR B ESREFTT
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Accordingly, management performed the impairment
assessment based on the discounted cash flows expected
to be derived from the cash-generating units (“CGUs").
There was no impairment of assets during the year.
The assessment of the recoverable amounts involved
significant estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions
and application of significant judgement, in relation to
commodity prices, the discount rate, budgeted gross margin
and production volumes. We have identified the impairment
assessment as a key audit matter due to involvement of
significant estimations and judgement in determining the
recoverable amounts of each CGUs.
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The Group’s disclosures about the impairment assessment
for these non-current assets are included in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
EEEBANZEFRHEERENGNEESRI N IEEH
BRI EE120

Independent Auditor’s Report
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHARBAFEFRERMNEFA P MAEE N

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

HANEREA EFHPEE

° testing the impairment model selected for each CGUs
based on our understanding of the methodology and
checking the mathematical accuracy;
ERHFENER ARMSEReEEBUHEN
MERE Wi EEEE ER RN

° comparing key market-derived estimates, including
commodity prices, against external data and
performing sensitivity analyses on the forecasts
prepared by management;
HEEMIBERMNRBRR G S RER  SHE
SMNEBEBRETHIL UM EEBRRNTERETE F’i
B2

o comparing key operational estimates in the models
to source data and publicly available information,
including the forward market price of iron ore and
gypsum;

EEE R B i BLAC S AR RA RV R SR (4 5T B BB SRR R A &
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° involving our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the key valuation parameters such as the
discount rate calculation applied and the valuation
model used;
BeATHER B EMTELIEMRBGHESE N
FrRE A IREA T RPAEANGERL ;

o evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence
of the external specialists engaged by the Group and
us; and

HE EEEMEMAINEZENIINLERNEZERMN
BENEBEN S &

° assessing the appropriateness of the related disclosures
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

RN BRRMNETNEAKERSBE -

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF



Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B AR

Other information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Company's 2023 annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged
with governance for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

GERERSKTHNRE  BEFERIBZR(E
BETER)ETHES  EX —EXRBRRERL
FERBAE IR - SEARA MR P LA ANEF S #8 5R
S N REEFRME M EBIUEMIERA A
TEROUBRREAERBEOMBRERMN
R B SR TE » R B BO $8 52 BRI AT AR 1F
BXRe

ERB(EBESHER ) ETEHNBED &
PIER T EXHE REFTHEEEREE - RM
U1

. A AR RFFRERMER RS
MHBERRFEERBERRIEYER &
SRHMITENRERUEEBERE U
RERGRMBENEBRE FARK
MERAER - B EGFERIBE S KRR ER
RE-BRER ERERIL FEERRA
WEEZ £ RILREZXRERFEME
HHERERRAE RS ARELR
HERME RN E R BRI RS

. THREESAEMAANEEE  URFTE
ENESEF BENLIFEYN SEH
NEEENEMMERER -

. STEEEMRME S BERNEEMERIF
g st ANAER R SR M

. HESHRAFECESGTEARNBEN
PEH A5 - IR BPTE IR B ST RG> HEE
EEFEEFEANBRAMNEKRTHE
EM - EMAEERY SE£EENEE
REENELEEREE - MREMIAE
FHEEARTEEMN  AB VN ETTIZEED
BREPRFEAEIRFSHUBHRETD
BUAERIIREE - RE A FRIKETE Al
MEEEXRFEREER -RMANES
BENRZHUAMK S H EFTESEE
oA ARFENBRALER &
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B AR

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Tsoi Wa Shan

Practising Certificate number: P07514
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REFBRMAZZHEE-
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STHEE REZH EAREFEEE 8FEHM
FEE ST H A BB ER IRV E (T E KRG -

ZMEMAERRERRER RPXMEFS
BEIMNEEEEEBER TEMMES
BRI EMRRA R G ERMBILENRA
RHRMEMEE URAEREBIIERNEE
FRERERRIIT BN BL &8 48 T (B A) -

HEREERENFED  HMABEMESIE
HAMGREMBRERNBEFARSEE EME
PR B FE R EZHENR S R HEAE
EEE RIFEARERTATARKEEES
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AR HAREFEERETEBEZE
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HEDET
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Reversal of impairment losses on
trade receivables

Impairment losses on other receivables

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expenses

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income that may
be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

WA
HE M

EF

H AU R Wz
HERDHEAX
TTHR

HAthhasz

FEW R FUR E RS 1R B Bl

HEW R IRRER R
LIURZTIRIS

752 A 1

FRiSIRB

FERFE

Hfth 2 m W

ARERABEENDEE
BmWEMEE W

MEBINEBEERN
ERER

FREEKR AT

FIH,/ (B18) BB

ENNSIEZ =N
FRER

4 A
i 3

Notes

By 5E

Am M H 2 ER R

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 128318 IEEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AB®FT
784,951 725,869
(748,417) (700,591)
36,534 25,278
17,244 8,371
(2,254) (904)
(21,783) (21,592)
(9,980) (4,198)
2,674 4,530
= (2)
(8,323) (5,965)
14,112 5,518
(5,032) (4,480)
9,080 1,038

16 31

9,096 1,069
9,697 1,304
(617) (266)
9,080 1,038

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF

/

(
N

107 |



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

moBmkEMER R X

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®EF T
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2mEE (B518)

attributable to: RRER B -
Owners of the Company RNBHER A 9,713 1,335
Non-controlling interests JEER S (617) (266)
9,096 1,069

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE SFEBHRAATZERARHE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BFEANSRKRROARR :
OF THE COMPANY:
Basic and diluted (cents) BEERKREE (D) 11 RMBA K #0.43 RMBA E#0.06
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Interests in joint ventures

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Due from related parties

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Due to related parties

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FREBEE

EN =N
ERREE
BVEE
REEEENED
TR RIA ~ AR U
MIEREMEE
RIERIBE E

FRBEEME

RBEE

78
FEURR R R 5
TR RIA  HfthfEU
MIEREMEE
FE s R Bk 75 =R IE
SHEREFEMR
RERREEEY

RBEEME

nEBaE

P RN

anaR

HA A RRIB R ST RIA
StERRITREMES

FE 1 BRI Bk 75 =R IE
HE&E
FERT IR R
REAEER
MBEEFE

BEERERRBER

Notes

By 5E

12
14
13
15

16
17

18
19

16
20
21
21

22
23
24

25
20
14

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

m A MBI
At 31 December 2023
720235124318

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AB®FT
209,696 194,168
23,008 23,095
822,135 734,401
423 436
7,219 9,350
1,062,481 961,450
18,695 13,626
119,856 207,275
95,893 5,786
2,346 1,070

25 26

8,038 9,357
244,853 237,140
71,029 35,057
8,883 8,216
76,706 77,637
69,600 91,108
2,603 5,905
2,124 4,645
10,687 9,363
241,632 231,931
3,221 5,209
1,065,702 966,659
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A MBI RR

At 31 December 2023
12023128318

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
b5 AR®T ART T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREEE
Due to related parties P& {5 FEL Bt 75 7R IE 20 2,286 =
Contract liabilities BHNEE 23 20,000 -
Lease liabilities HEAa’ 14 21,089 20,093
Interest-bearing bank and FFEBTRAMEE
other borrowings 25 12,994 -
Provision for rehabilitation BREE 26 15,303 14,660
Other payables H e RIE 24 53,728 700
Total non-current liabilities ERB A ELEEE 125,400 35,453
Net assets BHERE 940,302 931,206
EQUITY W
Equity attributable to owners HBREAATREE ANES
of the Company
Issued capital BEITRA 27 197,889 197,889
Reserves E=] 29 448,399 438,686
646,288 636,575
Non-controlling interests JEIERE R 30 294,014 294,631
Total equity R 4R %R 940,302 931,206
Hao Xiemin B #i&% Wang Hu £ &
Director % Director %
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At 1 January 2022
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income for the
year.
Exchange differences related to
foreign operations

Total comprehensive incomel/(loss)
for the year

Utilisation of safety fund surplus
reserve

Provision for safety fund surplus
reserve

Appropriation of statutory reserve

At 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2023
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income for the
year.
Exchange differences related to
foreign operations

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year

Utilisation of safety fund surplus
reserve

Provision for safety fund surplus
reserve

Appropriation of statutory reserve

At 31 December 2023

* These reserve accounts
RMB448,399,000 (2022:

202251818
FRFIE/ (58
FRAMZENE

ERBMIEERNER
28

Fr2ERE/ (B8 B8

PRRZECHAER

Z2EETREREE

120224128318

#2023F1818
ERFE/ (58)
FREMZERE

BRSIMIEERNER
=8
FR2ERE/ (8 BT

PRR2HSTERE

12023128318

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

i g
FERBEDR
7177 gy e |

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BEREATEEA

Difference

arising from

Safety acquisition

Share fund Share of non- Exchange Non-

Issued premium Statutory surplus  Contributed option  controlling Capital ~ fluctuation ~Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserves reserve surplus reserve interests reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

L€ E324

%2EE RHRE HEEEN ERKEH
BETRE RMEEER EEARE HER BARE 1 3] BFAH (1 RitER At FERER i3tk
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%TT ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR ARMTRT ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETT AREKTR ARETRT ARETR
(note 28/
(note 27) (note 29(a)) (note 29(b)) (note 29(d)) (note 29(c))  note 29(e)) (note 29(f))
(H3t28/
(Mfa27)  (W&20(a)  (WiEE20b))  (Wfsk20(d))  (Wf&E29(0)  Mf&E29(e) (3229(f))

197,889 1,877,488 220,785 191,987 87,238 9,121 (852,820) 186,200 539 (1,283,187) 635,240 294,897 930,137
- - - - - - - - - 1,304 1,304 (266) 1,038
- - - - - - - - 31 - 31 - 31
- - - - - - - - 3 1,304 1335 (266) 1,069
- - - (2,130) - - - - - 2,130 - - -
- - - 4,539 - - - - - (4,539) - - -
- - 533 - - - - - - (533) - - -
- - 533 2,409 - - - - - (2,942) - - -
197,889 1,877,488* 221,318* 194,396* 87,238* 9,121* (852,820)* 186,200* 570%  (1,284,825)% 636,575 294,631 931,206
197,889 1,877,488 221,318 194,396 87,238 9,121 (852,820) 186,200 570  (1,284,825) 636,575 294,631 931,206
- - - - - - - - - 9,697 9,697 (617) 9,080
- - - - - - - - 16 - 16 - 16
- - - - - - - - 16 9,697 9,713 (617) 9,096
- - = (1812 - - - - - 7812 - - -
- - - 8,000 - - - - - (8,000) - - -
= = m = = = = = = n) = = =
= = m 188 = = = = = (461) = = =
197,889 1,877,488* 221,591* 194,584* 87,238* 9,121* (852,820)* 186,200* 586*  (1,275,589)* 646,288 294,014 940,302
comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBEREEREVFRARANEGEE R

RMB438,686,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

# ARM448,399,0007T (20224 : AR

438,686,0007T) ©

TN
[ 11

\
|

1

2023 F8H | FiE J
/

NI IEE B R AR



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FAEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 128318 IEEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Mok AREF T AR¥FTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFHNIRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax HREA 14,112 5,518
Adjustments for: MTANZEEHNEE
Amortisation of intangible assets mE EHE 2,756 857
Bank interest income RITHE WA (10) an
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERZBITE
equipment 9,948 8,335
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEENE 3,527 1,367
Finance costs MR 8,323 5,965
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME -BERHEE
plant and equipment 15 B = - (102)
Impairment losses on other receivables — EfhEWRIEREEE - 2
Reversal of impairment losses & IS BR R (B 5 18 5 B
on trade receivables (2,674) (4,530)
Write-off of property, plant and W E BB K& E
equipment 12 314 -
Write-off of other receivables 8 ELth FE U =R 18 1,150 -
37,446 17,401
Decrease in trade and bills receivables & ST BR R B ZE B Rk /L 85,413 826
Increase in inventories FEEM (5,069) (1,726)
Increase in prepayments, other TEMT I~ IR
receivables and other assets B K HAE E S (91,244) (973)
Increase in an amount due from FEE Wit B} Bt 75 =R IE 8
related parties (2,292) (4,791)
Increase in trade payables P& BR FRIE N 35,972 6,027
Increase in other payables and accruals  EfthE{f FUIE K
FE £+ 2R IE 1 N 16,885 3,375
Increase in contract liabilities BREEEM 20,667 2,050
Cash generated from operations KEELENIRS 97,778 22,189
Interest received BUF S 10 11
Income tax paid [SENPFIRCE (2,641) (884)
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Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchase of items of property,
plant and equipment

Addition of intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Utilisation of rehabilitation

Increase in other payables

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank and
other borrowings
Repayment of bank and
other borrowings
Decrease in pledged deposits
Principal portion of lease payments
Interest portion of lease payments
Interest paid
Increase in amount due to a
related party

REEHEEDN
BEREFHE

REFHNRERE

BEVE BEMRHFHER

RERTEE

HEME - -HER
REEBEMEMRIE

BREREE

H A FE I RRIEIE N

RETHEEDN
REMNEFH

REEFHNRSRE
BT RHEMBEMRSRIEA
BEBRITRAMES
B A #1770 D
AERESEHH
HERF S8

2HHE
FE A — 4 B Bt 75 RRIBR I A0

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n\/—l_ =/ Iﬁ;@ /)|L$%§

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

Note
M &5

26

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥EFT AB®FT
95,147 21,316
(30,674) (22,091)
(48,272) (237)

= 257

(824) (2,069)

= 374
(79,770) (23,766)
82,594 88,612
(88,612) (89,612)

1 10,000

(4,965) (1,372)
(1,071) (662)
(4,659) (3,973)

= 2,238
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EEEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
ffe 5% AR®Tx ART T
Net cash flows (used in)/from BREESE) () EEW
financing activities BE&E R F5E (16.712) 5,231
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH R&REEZEY GRL)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS /NS 4E (1,335) 2,781
Cash and cash equivalents at FYNRERREEEY
beginning of year 9,357 6,436
Effect of foreign exchange rate EEXEETE T
changes, net 16 140
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERNRERAEEEBY
END OF YEAR 8,038 9,357
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEBYMERIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & MIRITAE iR 8,063 9,383
Less: pledged deposits B BERER (25) (26)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated RixEREREBRAIEED
in the consolidated statement of BERIRSEEY
cash flows 21 8,038 9,357
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited
(the "Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008
under the Companies Act. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at 5/F,
Standard Chartered Bank Building, 4-4A Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were principally engaged in
the following principal activities:

o sale of self-produced products
o trading of steels
o facility management

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
Trisonic International Limited (“Trisonic International”), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong, is the parent and the
ultimate holding company of the Company.

iR e MR

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 128318 IEEE

REIREBEX
FENSREEBBERRAR (TRKAF)
R2008F4828H A HERERIELRT
EEMRII A —EERREERAB A&
A B B 5 TS R #3E 2 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands° 7
REMNEBFTEEEMUMUNEBEEH
EBHRA4-AASRBITIRIT KESE ©

REE2023F12831HLEFEER > &R
BRETAR BB IAER) FERSE
MUTFEEER

. HEBEEMR

FRREFR (EF) IR GAlERE
RAaE (MGRIEE) » —EREEBE MK
TWMAT) RERBNEG AT REAE
/NS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

REREBER @

BEMFARMER
AATEEBFATMHENT :

Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Issued share/ interests
registration registered attributable to Principal
Company name and business share capital the Company activities
AL BETRG S HERAIATMN
NE B SRR AR E st Bh EfikE  RE#EZESL FTEEH
%
Directly held:
BHERGE -
Powerside Holdings Limited British Virgin United States 100 Investment
Islands (“BVI”)  dollars (“USD") 1 holding
B ERBRAE HERUES 17T REER
First China Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100 Investment
dollars (“"HKD") 2 holding
=ERERAHE EE 28T BEER
Sure Prime Limited BVI usbD1 100 Investment
holding
EEEUES 1E7T BEER
Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd. Singapore  Singapore dollars 100 Investment
("SGD") 10,000 holding
Hrhn g 10,0003 11 3% 7T BEER
Indirectly held:
EEIFA -
Simply Rise Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKD1 100 Investment
holding
SEZEREBERAT BHE 1787T BEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

YACIEZE

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Lingyu")®

Mg EEHKEEEBRAT

(TEm ) @

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.
(“Aba Mining”)®

PIHEERRAT
(T iz 2E)) ©

Huili Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.
(“Akuang Trading”)®

BEWEZEZERAR

(MEEZ)1)©

Sichuan Haoyuan New Material Co.,
Ltd. (“Sichuan Haoyuan")®

)l gEEm MR ARAR
(TmEE)©

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
Rk,

S R 2 M B

The People's
Republic
of China

(the “PRC")

REARHEME
(e [ERL)

PRC

F e

PRC

i

PRC

HE

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

PEREBEN @

BERFARNEN @

Issued share/
registered
share capital
BRITRG
Xt A A5

HKD850,000,000

850,000,000/ 7T

Renminbi (“RMB")

22,000,000

AR

22,000,0007T

RMB20,000,000

N
20,000,0007%

RMB20,000,000

AR
20,000,0007T

Percentage
of equity
interests

attributable to
the Company
FBRAEATMN
BAEZET DL
%

Principal
activities

FTEER

100 Product trading
and investment

holding

EmEHS K

KREER

100  Iron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sales of
self-produced
products
) R
RO EER
HEBEER
100 Iron ore
beneficiation
and sales of iron
concentrates
BEATER
& B ISR

51 Gypsum ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AEBALER
HE BZEEm
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 LEEE
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REREEHEH @
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BERFAGENEN #)
Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Issued share/ interests
registration registered attributable to Principal
Company name and business share capital the Company activities
i BRITKN, BERAXFHN
RERTE SE R HEHh Bh HEftRE RAEFESL FEER
cyO
Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining PRC RMB1,150,000 51 Gypsum ore
Co., Ltd.® mining, gypsum
ore beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
BERFESHEERRATO HE AK1,150,0007T AEEAMEK
AEBAEER
HEBEE S
Sichuan Lingwei Property Service PRC RMB10,000,000 100 Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Lingwei”)® management,
sale of
equipment and
materials, lease
of real estate
MmN ERMERFBERAE FE AR EithEEE
(e )12 E) © 10,000,0007T HERER
Mk B
GiEN=
(a) Sichuan Lingyu is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned (a) M) EEREFEE RS MR EE
enterprise under PRC law. ===
(b) These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises under (b) IEFREREBEFEAREFMAER
PRC law. e
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERINHENAKRABFRBIDESRAE
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for EREFRNERABRAERFTEEN
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BEAPRE - EEZRAREHAMFRA
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion HeFERERREN R

of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all IFRS Accounting Standards, IAS Standards and
IFRIC Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(o) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

2.1

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

B

KFEMBRRTZRER &5 2812
EEEMNBERYHERSENNGTE
Al (BEMARKMBREENN G
8 BFR g5t ERBER R BRI
REREEZEERE) FRARGFHER
AR (R BRA D BIIR BE AR TE AR e o A 47
EMBERERTRBEELMAKIEPIRS

HEEE
GEMBRREELARDRETABDHE
F2023F12B31HIEEENHHRK
FRABIBAANDEZIEZEFNE
BoEAERAZHALEERENEREM
BN A RESA LR WwEE
ERHREETENESD (BEFEAER
BRiEnREEREREEINEI1IR
B R BZE0RE > AEERNER
P

E—RERT FEE—EEE DZH
SRR AT - EARB EEHE
BEAREERNREEVELET T
RB¥HE AEERILEEHREA
BEREZAERNIEEZEMEEBFEERK
B B

(a) HREBEREMRHEFEEANSG
Nz

(b) EMEHNRHEENEFN S K&

(0 FERNREBRETKRER-
FRAIPVMBREATDMEA R QB EE
BERERM—BRNEABRER 72
BINEERAERIRGEN R AERF

BAR UREEGRSARBEERRIE
HlfERIEZ B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests; and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received;
(i) the fair value of any investments retained; and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year's consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

EREE @

ZEERE B

IR L e R L
BRRHEMRERSSEERBDNE
WAABEE ARIEERERENEE -
HAEEREASETEEMNREE
BERAGBEEREE HHm WA
X RBEREENES ARRBEEE
8o

WAEFERBERETR XA =@
flETRPAE—ERUALHIREE, A
AEEEEMTILESENREER
HFRABNMERERHIREEH (LXK
REEFIE) > AIRRERZ S AR

HAEBAREHFRBNEGE A H
RIEEB(IZFLARANEE (BEHE)
REE (iVERIFEREDRETER
R Em NS RSB EE ; I
RO S WABBIAFE (PR EER
BENRTE ; KRB AT AR L E
EMEGIBM e ER N EMEEkE
BENAEEEEE D RN AER
ERHERMEENEERENERE
EBEMEMDBEBEHNEFHE-

B BRRBESHEH

AEEDREEENEAPBREER
T B R B RS RN
s8]0

st ER B HARE
EALA(CIARN

Bt 28 ZiEATEE
B IET A

Bast#ER HE-XGHESL
BRI  EHEREEEHLY

FHEFRIE

BEst R EERENE—

BI2IESTA  FR_HAEK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting
Standards that are applicable to the Group are described below:

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the consolidated
financial statements. Management has reviewed the disclosure
of accounting policy information and considered it is consistent
with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related

to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of IAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on recognition, give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.2

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

B BRRRIKESTHED
#)
BARAEENCETERT RS E
AR SRR MO IE R AR T

BIFR g st 2R F15RIEET 4
B ECRIRE
REEITAERAGRBHEETHE
AR MIFEA B SHBE.

ZEETAHREMBRREFEEN
e HIAUE2RUEZE -EEECEE
REBREMNKE URBETS
EEIEE

B PR et ZE R SE8IRIEET 4 -
GiHhENESR
BEETARBADENAED TH K
EEBE G AT

RAZEEIT AL BH RSP HFRRE
RERERTE-

ER g5t ERF125RE5T 7 ¢
RE-XGMEXEERER
B RABEEIRIA
ZEETAEEER G H £ E RS
1SR 24 RIS VRO B
TEEAREREELER SRR
MREEHEERNRS

RAZEEIF L BN RSP HFRRE
PR E AT E

|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ir e M HRAR M

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES (continued)
Amendments to IAS 12: International Tax
Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules

The amendments provide entities with temporary relief from
accounting for deferred taxes arising from the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development’s Pillar Two model
rules. The amendments also introduce targeted disclosure
requirements to help investors understand an entity’s exposure
to income taxes arising from the rules.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS 2.3
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current”
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’”
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

™ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

@ The effective date to be determined

// \\
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that
are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the
statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with
an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current
(due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-
current. The amendments include clarifying the classification
requirements for debt a company might settle by converting it
into equity.

Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be complied with
after the reporting date do not affect the classification of debt
as current or non-current at the reporting date. Instead, the
amendments require a company to disclose information about
these covenants in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance the transparency of supplier finance arrangements and
their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a
Sale and Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently
determine lease payments arising from a sale and leaseback in
a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The new requirements
do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in profit or loss
any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a
lease.

2.3

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

E M B s K E R BB IR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of
Exchangeability

The amendments require an entity to apply a consistent
approach to assessing whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and, when it is not, to determining the
exchange rate to use and the disclosures to provide.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28,
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The Standards
are amended such that a full gain or loss is recognised when
a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a
subsidiary or not); and a partial gain or loss is recognised when
a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business,
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the
adoption of the above new/revised IFRS Accounting Standards in
future periods will have any material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement. A joint arrangement is an
arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control.
Joint control is a contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control. The Group reassesses whether it has
joint control of an arrangement and whether the type of joint
arrangement in which it is involved has changed, if facts and
circumstances change.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Joint ventures (Continued)

The Group's investment in joint venture is accounted for under
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter
for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
investee's net assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment. Except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses when the Group's share of losses of the
investee equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest
in the investee, which includes any long term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
investee.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

2.4

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's
value in use (“VIU") and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

2.4
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Year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

)
(if)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment, other
than mining infrastructure, is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)
Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units-of-production (“UOP"”) method to depreciate the cost of
the assets in proportion to the extraction of the proved and
probable mineral reserves.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant
and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowing funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Mining rights include the cost
of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation
costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of
commercial production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the
mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of the mines using the
UOP method. Mining rights are written off to profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Software

Software are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 3 years.

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, and exploration assets
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Exploration rights
and assets include the cost of acquiring exploration rights,
topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling,
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial
and technical feasibility studies, and deferred amortisation and
depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the
exploration activities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)
Exploration rights and assets (Continued)
Exploration rights are amortised over the term of rights.
Equipment used in exploration is depreciated over its useful life,
or, if dedicated to a particular exploration project, over the life
of the project on the straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.
Amortisation and depreciation are included, in the first instance,
in exploration rights and assets and are transferred to mining
rights when it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production.

Exploration and evaluation costs include expenditure incurred
to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring
legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

Exploration rights and assets shall be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed its recoverable amount. An impairment test is
performed if any of the following indicators are present:

(a) the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

(b) substantial expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

(c) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

(d) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration rights and assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration rights and assets’ fair value less costs of disposal
and their VIU. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
exploration rights and assets subject to testing are grouped
with existing cash-generating units of production fields that are
located in the same geographical region.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to either mining
infrastructure or mining rights and depreciated/amortised using
the UOP. Exploration rights and assets are written off to profit or
loss if the exploration property is abandoned.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease
at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 128310 LEEE
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 24 BEXRGTHRERN @
INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued) HE ®
Group as a lessee (Continued) FEEEZEAAAN ()
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEEE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises 2 years
Plant and machinery 1 to 20 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 128310 IEEE
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 24 EXRGHHEREN @
INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued) HE @®
Group as a lessee (Continued) FEFELZERBN (4B)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued) b) HEEE (E

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. With the exception of trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary
derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’'s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)
The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

(i) significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

(i) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

(iii) likelihood that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganization emerges.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial asset is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default; ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss

Stage 3 -

allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that without a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings and
payables is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer of the contract to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder of the contract for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the
higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with
the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation incurred
in converting materials into finished goods, based on the
normal production capacity. Net realisable value represents on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Provisions (Continued)

Provisions for the Group’s obligations for rehabilitation are
based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the
ground environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final rehabilitation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the
required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. When the liability is initially recognised, the
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing
the carrying amount of the related mining infrastructure.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is depreciated using the UOP
method over its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or changes
in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated
costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation
activities) will be recognised as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liabilities when they
occur at the appropriate discount rate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Income tax (Continued)
Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the facility management services and guarantee
services is recognised over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.
The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs
for satisfaction of the specialised mining services. Revenue from
the rendering of consultancy management service is recognised
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e. transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)
Share-based payments (Continued)
Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (cContinued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are
required to participate in a defined central pension scheme
managed by the local municipal government of the areas in
Mainland China in which they operate. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part
of the payroll of these employees to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The subsidiary that was incorporated and operates in Singapore
is obligated to contribute to an independently administered fund
(such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore, a government
managed defined contribution retirement benefit plan).

Save as disclosed, the Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed
contributions, which are recognised as an expense in the period
that related employee services are received.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in Mainland China are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation.
These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the
net investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on
those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (cContinued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EAGEHHET KM

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgement

Revenue recognition

The Group applies judgements in determining whether it is
principally involved in the trading of steels. The Group concludes
that it acts as a principal and recognises revenue in the gross
amount as the Group is able to control steels before transferring
to the customers and has discretion in establishing the price for
steels.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

(a) Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by customer type and
rating).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e. gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer's actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT”)

The Group's operating subsidiaries in Mainland China are
subject to PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain
matters relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed
by the relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and
other related policies are required in determining the
provision for PRC CIT to be made. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax expense and tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of PRC CIT payable as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB10,687,000 (2022: RMB9,363,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EBEAREHERMES @
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(¢ Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

fist REAER @
(© W% BERRBHTERED

The Group estimates useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its items of property, plant and equipment,
other than mining infrastructure for which the
depreciation is calculated on the UOP method. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and actions of its competitors. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will record an impairment
provision for technically obsolete assets that have been
abandoned.

Mineral reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mineral reserves
are inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the significant judgements involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have
to be met before estimated mineral reserves can be
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and
probable mine reserve estimates are updated at regular
intervals taking into account recent production and
technical information about each mine. In addition,
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proved and probable mineral reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimates
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in both depreciation and amortisation rates
calculated on the UOP method and the time period for
discounting the rehabilitation provision. Changes in the
estimate of mineral reserves are also taken into account
in impairment assessments of non-current assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Exploration rights and assets

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for
exploration rights and assets requires estimation in
determining whether it is likely that future economic
benefits will result either from future exploitation
or sale or whether activities have not reached a
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the
existence of reserve. The determination of mineral
reserves is itself an estimation process with varying
degrees of uncertainty depending on sub-classification.
Estimates and assumptions made may change if new
information becomes available. If, after expenditure is
capitalised, information becomes available suggesting
that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount
capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period
when the new information becomes available. Further
details are given in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
cost to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in downstream industries that consume
the Group's products. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2023
was RMB 18,695,000 (2022: RMB13,626,000).

B A HIEr Rt @

&5t FEABAR R ()
() HFRREE

(f)

REEREREERBAERN
TR BEHNARRARN
PJ HE #5 3R R 2R AR % A
Mo NEEREREREINEUS
ERFEHEFEGETLAIME
BRBEBRREFEGEE - EE
EYMHELAGAAMEHER H
FHDERMS RFEEENFR
HAERE - HERWER > BIFT
B o fid
RAXBEEERRESERET
FIX A AR BEUR[E] > BB SR B A<
RN ESMEARNIEDR
Rl o E—H R BHNGGH

HEZES

R RISt R IR R P BE

B RMIZE13 0

FEN TR RFE

EENTERFENNRHEER
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B AR A Be tH B R AR o 5% F S BT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EXREgHE KRG @
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued) &t REARAEE @)
(g)  Provision for rehabilitation (9) 1EEFEEE

Provision for rehabilitation is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to
undertake rehabilitation and restoration work which
were discounted to reflect the term and nature of the
obligations to their present values. Significant estimates
and assumptions are made in determining the provision
for rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that
will affect the ultimate liability payable. These factors
include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation
activities, technological changes, regulatory changes,
cost increases and changes in the discount rate. Those
uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure
differing from the amounts currently provided. The
provision at the end of the reporting period represents
management’s best estimate of the present value of
the future rehabilitation costs required. Changes to
estimated future costs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position by adjusting the
rehabilitation asset and liability. The carrying amount of
provision for rehabilitation as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB15,303,000 (2022: RMB14,660,000). Further details
are contained in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EREBDEREIERB AT AELL
ETERREBEIFEEN R
RKEZME HMREREUR
BREENFHARMEE - BAME
RBEREDBULAEERESEM
FH  RAZERREEXER
KREMEBE - ZEREAEER
vE B BY #6 [E Ko B AR~ R AT Eh
EEEE MR LA RAIREE
WG o R E T ERBAREE A B
B R E S AR E
TREBFARE R EHRNEE
EEEBHAKRMEERMAIR
B R EGE o st KRR A&
EEAREREINEERE
BMRGETBERARPHER -
R2023F 128310 EREERN
RE&rEA ARE®15,303,0007T
(2022%F : AR ¥14,660,000
70) cE— T HBEHN R EMBEIR
KHIEE26°
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EKXEgstHETRM&E @
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) E5t REARRE & (@)

(h)  Deferred tax assets (h) BEREEZE

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the tax losses can be utilised. Estimates
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash
flows from operations and the application of existing
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from
estimates, the ability of the Group to realise the deferred
tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period
could be impacted. The gross amount of deferred
tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB7,219,000 (2022: RMB9,350,000). Further details
are contained in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Additionally, future changes in tax laws and regulations
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could
limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions on
taxable income in future periods.

AEBERFABAINREREREK
FEERBEEERELEREBEE
EBEMNEEERRIEUE
BaNRERFEEKRRIEEBEEMN
EHH AR o RRERRUK AR
GEEt B EREENEARER
EREZEFERENIRERIARE
BEH -MAKRRENERER
MIMARGHBEEAER BIA
EEBRENRSHRRENIEL
RMEEENENEZIIEE IR
2023128310 B HERIELER
BHEERBEAANRYT7,219,000
7t (20224 : AK¥9,350,000
70) o E— T BEH NS M ER
e AV

teoh > AEBMBERER B AR
ERNNFBERRRAIBIRRED
I PR 1 2= 5 [ 5 R 5K A ) wA R 3R
MU AR RIBER RRIBES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EADHHETRMHE @
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) &t REARAEE @)
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than (i) T HEE (BELI) 1 E
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets and intangible assets) at the end of
each reporting period. Definite life non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Based on
the existing market conditions, impairment indicators
were identified for the Group’s main mining cash-
generating units, other pre-development stage mining
rights, and exploration rights and assets. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
its VIU. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When VIU calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Further details
are contained in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Leases - Estimating the IBR

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).

AEBEREREMRTEFRA
FEMEE (BECRAREERK
BVEE) RSB EAAENR
EAREFHNFEZRMEENSA
PR RAHERE SR REEER
EIRETRENS - ERRTH
AEENTIERERSEESE
B Hf R EBREELL
RERENREEFERETR
EEENREELBUMNKREE
848 H A U [B] & &8 B Al 77 72 08
B Al EEB@EAEQTERSY
ERAREERBENRSE -
ANTFEBREERADEREANE
ENRTXZHBNRDHEER
BYABRRTERN L EEERNR
EMANDBEESE -NHE
EREER EEBAMGSEE
YIRTELBUMNTFERRKRRES
ME WEBGEHEER L
SARETRENREE - E—D5F
BENEEMBRERMWEI2.

FAE— 1551 B IS EEFE
AEBTERMEEHENS
= FAILEREEEER Rt
EREEE-ERBEENEKD X
EERNBELERET  REUS
HERAEEEBERENEE
RIBERRREREBALEE
SRR R o A Ik > IE 1T &
ERERRAER XA
A Bl ErIHERHA R (FN
MIETIIMERZ N FATM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products and has four (2022:
four) reportable segments as follows:

(a) the high-Fe mining operation segment comprises the
operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe;

(b) the trading segment comprises the operation of sale of
traded products;

(0) the facility management segment comprises the provision
of facilities management services for mining related
industry; and

(d) the corporate and others segment comprises the non-
operating activities that support the Group, including
central functions such as the functional costs that have
not been allocated to the other segments.

The Directors monitor the results of the Group's reporting
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit/loss before tax except that other income and gain,
other expenses and non-lease-related finance costs are excluded
from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude interest in joint ventures, deferred tax
assets, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and tax payable as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

S ERE R

AEREE AEEEREFEUNR
BRERIDAZEEL LM THE
(20224 . IOME) T 2RDEB -

(a) SRSBIEES Y FIEHNE
TFeB 2N F65%E72%M B E
M EEEET
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(0 RIEEDECIFERIREAERT
HIREREEERY &

(d) ©EREMIBEEZESIER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BB ERERNEE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

Segment revenue
Reconciliation.

Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment sales

Revenue

Segment results

Reconciliation.

Other income and gain

Other expenses

Finance costs (other than
interest on lease liabilities
and provision for
rehabilitation)

Profit before tax

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment
receivables

Deferred tax assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Pledged deposits

Total assets

164
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AEBA
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MSNBE PR E
DERHE

#ik:
HHIBEHE

LON

NEER

#ik:

H AU A R i

=gl

BHRE (FAEES
BENHERER
B#)

RATHE

NWEE
ik
B BEERTE

BIEMEAERE

RERFEEEY
BERER

BEERE

4. DEHEH @
HZE2023F12A31ALEFE
High-Fe
mining Facility Corporate
operation Trading management and others Total
= fil
HBSES g5 REEE TERHEAM aF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR AEBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
115,280 650,175 19,496 - 784,951
- - 930 - 930
115,280 650,175 20,426 - 785,881
(930)
784,951
13,677 7,060 1,723 (9,113) 13,347
17,244
(9,980)
(6,499)
14,112
510,643 198,148 8,200 753,290 1,470,281
(178,229)
7,219
8,038
25
1,307,334
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4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

High-Fe
mining
operation
= mfl
HRRER
RMB'000
ARBTTT
Segment liabilities bag: =R 222,818
Reconciliation: 2/ 3
Elimination of intersegment #&5 %) 28 I fE {4 5018
payables
Interest-bearing bank and 3t BIR{TREMEE
other borrowings
Tax payable 3EsE
Total liabilities BERE
Other segment Hit o EEr
information
Reversal of impairment FEWERFUR B S B RE
losses on trade
receivables -
Depreciation and EREH
amortisation 16,162
Capital expenditure* BAHR 112,790
Write-off of property, plant  #fis8#1% B K&
and equipment 283
Write-off of other s E A U FRIE
receivables -
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment (excluding the additions to mining infrastructure
which was the addition of rehabilitation assets) and intangible

assets.

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

4. DEWEE @
HZF2023F12831HLEE (&)

Facility Corporate
Trading management and others Total
g5 R EE EEREM A%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFRT AREFR AREFRT AREBTFRT

154,226 2,061 72,875 451,980
(178,229)

82,504

10,687

367,032
(2,674) = - (2,674)
1 - 68 16,231

2,769 115,566

- 20 1 314

; - 1,150 1,150

* EXRAXBEREYE BERRE
(FEEFERBEERZ (WFEER
EBNEE)) URETLEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ir e M HRAR M

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

AEMA

Segment revenue

Sales to external customers EAMNBE D EHAIHE

Intersegment sales DEEHEE

Reconciliation: E2) 3

Elimination of BEDBEHEE
intersegment sales

Revenue KA

Segment results DEEE

Reconciliation: ik

Other income and gain =N 6
Other expenses Hithp%
Finance costs (other than I B MA (FEIERE

interest on lease liabilities
and provision for BH)
rehabilitation)

Profit before tax RAIFIE
Segment assets NHEE
Reconciliation: HEE

Elimination of intersegment 18443 28 & FE W 18

receivables

Deferred tax assets FILRBEE

Cash and cash equivalents RE&RREEEY

Pledged deposits BERER

Total assets BEEME

=

BENHERER

4. DEER @
B 22022F 128318 IEFE
High-Fe
mining Facility Corporate
operation Trading management and others Total
Smil
BEGES 85 FImEE hEREHM Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARETRT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
73,494 644,326 8,049 - 725,869
- - 740 - 740
73,494 644,326 8,789 - 726,609
(740)
725,869
10,428 4,819 1,036 (10,545) 5,738
8,371
(4,198)
(4,393)
5518
412,087 205,663 3,097 747,104 1,367,951
(188,094)
9,350
9,357
26
1,198,590
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

High-Fe
mining
operation
Bl
RMB'000
ARETT
Segment liabilities AHBERE 115,889
Reconciliation: Hik
Elimination of intersegment #8443 28 F&I & {3 3018
payables
Interest-bearing bank and st BIRITREMBEE
other borrowings
Tax payable ERRT
Total liabilities BEEE
Other segment Hitr HER
information
Reversal of impairment MEW R R B RS 1B [l
losses on trade
receivables (4,530)
Impairment losses on other EAEW BRI EEE
receivables 2
Depreciation and E R
amortisation 10,266
Capital expenditure* BT 35,047
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment (excluding the additions to mining infrastructure
which was the addition of rehabilitation assets) and intangible

assets.

4.

Trading

B%
RMB'000
ARBTR

167,873

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

DEER @
BZE2022F128318LEE (8B)

Facility
management
RiEE
RMB'000
ARBTT

1,048

Corporate
and others

EER A
RMB'000
ARBTT

70,197

Total

A
RMB'000
ARETT

355,007

(188,094)

91,108
9,363

267,384

* EXRXBEREVE - BRERRE
(FEEFEREER (WFAEER
EHNEE)) UREBLEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. SEEE @
Entity-wide disclosures ERERIRSE
Geographical information h 15 Y
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEIEBE 5 HIHA

TR REHARNEER KRB
MERWARMBER - FRHY
B HEREREEXNERN
RERBHHBEEE o

The following table sets out information about the
geographical locations of the Group's revenue from
external customers during the reporting period. The
geographical locations of customers are determined
based on the locations designated by the customers
at which the goods were delivered or services were
rendered.

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥Fx ARBEFT

Mainland China Hr B g 784,951 725,869
Non-current assets IETEEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®FT AREFT

Mainland China HE g 1,053,975 951,485

Singapore Honig 864 179

1,054,839 951,664

LHIFEFRBEEENUEEN
FrEtAER BT 8ERMM
E~ HMEWRIAE R EME E L
RAESEIRIAE E ©

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes prepayments, other
receivables and other assets and deferred tax assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. SDEEF @
Entity-wide disclosures (Continued) EREREEEZE®
Information about major customers FEEREH
Revenue from each of major customers, which amounted to REMGEBRAI0%HIUAENELTER
10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below: BRI AT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFTT
Trading =87
Customer A EEH - 644,326
Customer B B2RZ 404,215 -
Customer C BEFRA 245,960 -
High-Fe Mining Operations [SERRVEER 3 ¥
Customer D B2ET 81,133 -
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA ~HtRA KK
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WARFMT -
2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
AREBTT AREF T
Revenue from contracts EAESAMA
with customers
Sale of industrial products: $H& T #&E & !
High-grade iron S R 117 850 T
concentrates 115,280 14.7 73,494 10.1
Steels ik 650,175 82.8 644,326 88.8
Rendering of facility RHER M EIERT
management services 19,496 2.5 8,049 1.1
784,951 100.0 725,869 100.0
/ 77\\\
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 LEEE
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA-HMWARKE @
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers EEAHWA
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (a) B BAEH
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B E2023F12H31HLLFE
High-Fe
mining Facility
operation Trading management Total
B
Segments S8 BRZER B85 R EE ai
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥Tx AR%ETR AR%ETR
Types of goods or services EmERBEER
High-grade iron concentrates BmliEEE 115,280 - - 115,280
Trading of steels HEES - 650,175 - 650,175
Facility management services REERRT - - 19,496 19,496
115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951
Geographical market i Hi%
Mainland China Ay 115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951

Timing of revenue recognition A B SR
Goods transferred at a point in time - RE-BE%EENES 115,280 650,175 - 765,455
Services transferred over time IS B RS B O AR 7S - - 19,496 19,496

115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951

170
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments

Types of goods or services
High-grade iron concentrates
Trading of steels

Facility management services

Geographical market
Mainland China

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time

Services transferred over time

nE

EmaREER
Bm i SEE
RIEEERE

S
R

AR
RE-FEEBENER
e SihE g e

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

5. WA HEMEARKE @
EERAHNKA @)

(a) BFZUAEH (B
HZE2022F12831HLEEE

High-Fe
mining Facility
operation Trading  management Total
Emil
HESEYR g5 RIEERE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFRT ARETRT ARETT ARETET
73,494 - - 73,494
- 644,326 - 644,326
- - 8,049 8,049
73,494 644,326 8,049 725,869
73,494 644,326 8,049 725,869
73,494 644,326 - 717,820
- - 8,049 8,049
73,494 644,326 8,049 725,869
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12831HIEEE
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA-HMEAKRK= @
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHWA @)
(Continued)
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) EHFFUAEH (B)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B E2023F12831HLLFE
High-Fe
mining Facility
operation Trading management Total
B il
Segments S 1 OS] 25 RIEEE =1
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®FT AR®TR AE®FT
Revenue from contracts ERAHWA
with customers
External customers SMEE R 115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951
Intersegment sales DEBEHE - - 930 930
115,280 650,175 20,426 785,881
Intersegment adjustments DEERERIEH
and eliminations - - (930) (930)
Total revenue from contracts with SABEEANMALE
external customers 115,280 650,175 19,496 784,951
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 LEEE
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA-EMWEARYE @
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHWA @)
(Continued)
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) EnFBAEH ()
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE202F12831HILEE
High-Fe
mining Facility
operation Trading  management Total
Bl
Segments val: | HBGER g5 RIEERE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETRT ARETT ARET:
Revenue from contracts EREHKA
with customers
External customers SEER 73,494 644,326 8,049 725,869
Intersegment sales DEEHE - - 740 740
73,494 644,326 8,789 726,609
Intersegment adjustments DEE AR R IEH
and eliminations - - (740) (740)
Total revenue from contracts with ~ SMBFER LA LLEE
external customers 73,494 644,326 8,049 725,869
(b)  Performance obligations (b)) EHEE
Information about the Group's performance obligations ERAERENEENE R
is summarised below: wr
Sale of industrial products HET2ER
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery RN LEERBREMRBNE
of the industrial products and payment is generally due o FE-—RPBZFEE120
within 120 days from delivery. There were no remaining KIEHF o R2022F128B31H X
performance obligations unsatisfied or partially satisfied 2023F12A31B WEB TREY
as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023. B E REASIEER D IER ©
77N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. WA-HMWARKE @
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHWA @)
(Continued)
(b)  Performance obligations (Continued) (b) [BHRIELE (4B)
Facility management services B E R
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as BHEETH IR IE H B R A
services are rendered. Consultancy and management E BEREERBSNAH
service contracts are for periods of one year and subject —F o SFER UREEL
to renewable on annual basis, and are billed based on R AR 1020235F12831
the time incurred. There were no remaining performance Hu#mg TEAETHRENR
obligations unsatisfied or partially satisfied as at HAEEBDIER
31 December 2023.
An analysis of other income and gain is as follows: Hg A U DT -
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
b AREBTT AREFTT
Other income Hithk A
Bank interest income RITH B A 10 11
Government grants U # B (a) 264 445
Sale of raw materials R MK} EH & 7,173 2,881
Guarantee fee BRE 8,625 4,453
Miscellaneous HAth 1,172 479
17,244 8,269
Gain Wz
Gain on disposal of items of HEME BEREBE
property, plant and equipment IEB M IRE - 102
Total other income and gain HAWA R Wz 48 58 17,244 8,371
Note: ff 5E
(a) There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies (a) BEAMZE BT HEINER
relating to these government grants. ERRM R IETEEASEIE
TN

\
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FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on bank and other borrowings
(note 31(b))

Interest on mining right payable
(note 24)

Interest on lease liabilities
(note 14(c), 31(b))

Unwinding of discount on provision
(note 26)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RITREMEENFE
(M¥5E31(0))
FEAHERIERERF B (H5E24)

HEadmFIE
(fFEE14(c) ~ 31(b))
B ERLIRE R (fi5E26)

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12831HIEEE
Bt 5 AR 2
R ADITAOT -
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%FT AE®BFT
4,314 4,393
2,185 -
1,071 662
753 910
8,323 5,965

/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7.
The Group's profit before tax was arrived at after charging:
Notes
B 5

Cost of inventories sold BEHEFEERE
Cost of services provided BRHERBE A
Cost of sales THE AR
Employee benefit expenses EERMHESZ (BEEER

(including Directors’ and chief B {TH A 2%

executive’s remunerations (f5E8)) -

(note 8)):
Wages and salaries ITERHE
Welfare and other benefits @A R E A =
Defined contribution fund REHMES

— Pension scheme contributions —RIREFBIMERR

- Housing fund —FEAEE
Total employee benefit expenses BERAMAZEEE
Depreciation of property, MERRE RSB EITE

plant and equipment 12
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEETE 14(a)
Amortisation of intangible assets B2 & E# 13
Depreciation and amortisation TER#ERS

expenses
Auditor's remuneration ZE BN =

— Audit services — &5 R

- Non-audit services —IEBESTIRT
Expenses relating to short-term BISHRTE B AR

leases (included in Gt AITERE )

administrative expenses) 14(c)
Write-off of other receivables 188 H i FE WL FRIE
Write-off of property, W E - BRE K& E

plant and equipment

TN
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5 0 F1 F8
AREBHRATFABELRNOBRTEIZER
ER
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBEBFT
732,694 694,355
15,723 6,236
748,417 700,591
25,928 17,041
1,929 1,623
5,951 2,877
648 420
34,456 21,961
9,948 8,335
3,527 1,367
2,756 857
16,231 10,559
1,400 1,530
690 850
140 263
1,150 -
314 -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong

Kong

Stock Exchange”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

EERESITHRASHMN
URkeESHME AR ES

REEBMAERZFAAMRAR (TEHH
2PR) B ETHARA S R EMRGI55383(1)
(@)~ (b)) (O RMEURAE REEEF
HmER) ROB2BRBAFEEE AR
SITHRASRHMOT

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

follows:
Fees B
Other emoluments: Hid % -

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMEREYHG
in kind

Defined contribution fund
— Pension scheme contributions

REHMEE
—RIREFBIHR

Notes:

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
year were as follows:

Mr. Yu Haizong REREE
Mr. Liu Vi 2EmEsE
Mr. Wu Wen BxEE

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥F T
2,123 2,051
380 389
40 40
420 429
2,543 2,480
B5E ©
(a) BIUERITES
FRENBILIIEFRNTEENESN
T
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AREFT
150 150
150 150
150 150
450 450

FERIEECEIIIFRITEENEM
B4 (20224F : f8) o

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF

,/
(1
\
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EEKRESITHAEZHM
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID UkEEIHMNERES
EMPLOYEES (Continued) (#)

Notes: (Continued) MisE @ (&
(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the chief (b) HITEE - EFRTEERESITH
executive AB
Salaries, Pension
allowances and Scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
e EMR BAE
wsE BYF = 58I R aF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT AR®TT ARETT
2023 20235

Executive directors HITES

Mr. Hao Xiemin e 150 220 20 390
Mr. Wang Hu FEELE 150 160 20 330
300 380 40 720

Non-executive director JEHIITESE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan EoK R 1,373 - - 1,373

1,673 380 40 2,093

178
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12831HIEEE
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERRESITHASIHM
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID Ui ERES
EMPLOYEES (continued) (#)
Notes: (Continued) G-
(b) Executive directors, non-executive director and the chief (b) HITES - IFRTESERRSTH
executive (Continued) AB (#B)
Salaries, Pension
allowances and Scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
e B BRE
wE BYF =R BN =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®BTT AREEFT AREFT
2022 20224
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping* &AL~ - 67 9 76
Mr. Hao Xiemin e 150 167 20 337
Mr. Wang Hu FRAE 150 222 20 392
300 456 49 805
Non-executive director JEHITEE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan EoKRE ST 1,301 - - 1,301
1,601 456 49 2,106
* Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping has resigned from as the chief * BRTEEEREARTE
executive officer and an executive director of the FHRITERATEZTOE
Company with effect from 13 July 2022 and Mr. Hao ¥ B2022678 13884
Xiemin was appointed as the acting chief executive R TS B £ 5202247
officer of the Company on 13 July 2022. B13BEZEREAATMRE
BEERTE-

an
2023 3R | RENMKEEEEERAT i\179
%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees during the year include three
directors (2022: three). Details of directors’ remuneration are
set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining two (2022: two) highest paid employee who are
neither directors nor chief executives of the Company are as

follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits e ERREYN =
in kind

Defined contribution fund REMMES
— Pension scheme contributions —RIRESTEHR

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

EEZhEE1THASHMN
UkzE#HMakES
(&)

s (4

(9] BN ERES
FARBHFHNNALEERE=S
(2022F 1 ZR)EF-EENH
et BERINN EX AN EEHRTHE
(20225 : M%) BIFEBHIEERA
ARETHRABNEEHMEENH

BB -
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT
947 661
86 60
1,033 721

HIEULTHEANESHINES
CFEEKRFRSTHAR) WHE
LI

Number of employees

BEHAB
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Nil to HKD 1,000,000 0% 1,000,00038 7T 2 2
7N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group was not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the payers
shall pay a 10% withholding tax levied on the income derived
from Mainland China on behalf of non-resident enterprises.
Therefore, the Company is subject to withholding tax rate
of 10% over the guarantee fee of RMB8,625,000 (2022:
RMB4,453,000) during the year ended 31 December 2023 (note
5).

The provision for the PRC CIT is based on the respective PRC CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in Mainland China
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules
and regulations of Mainland China for the year. In general, all
these subsidiaries are subject to the PRC CIT rate of 25% during
the year ended 31 December 2023, except for subsidiaries in the
PRC which are qualified as Small Low-profit Enterprise and thus
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 20%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations in Singapore,
the Group's subsidiary located in Singapore is liable to Singapore
corporate income tax at a rate of 17% on the assessable profits
generated for the year.

The major components of income tax charge are as follows:

Current tax charge for the year FRAARIES WY
- Mainland China —FRE A
- Singapore — ¥
— Under (over) provision in prior year —BEFEREEBRE
(BBzEEE)

Deferred tax (note 17) EIERR A (MHEE17)

FAMIAZ HIBER

Total tax charge for the year

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

FrigM
RIEFEHENEBELEENHEAK
O AEBEEEHE2023FK2022412
A3HLEEEREESNEESEERE
BREZEEMEH -

AREBRE E2023F /2022%12831H
FFEETEESASBEIANEBHIY
FESRRAE A EEHR B B E MR B
& o

RIFEPEPEMESR L TRABRLRE
FERCEHNAMEIRE AU A
FTEURBI10% A o AL > KA B
HZE2023F 12831 HIEEEBZI0%H
MEFIERE AR 1ES,625,0007T (2022
F : ANR"4,453,0007T) &iianim (i
5£5) o

AP ECEFAEREHNERDZRA
O E A E A B9 A8 R PR 1S R AR Bl e AR
) B 5 A B AR B TR B Y E Y
PEGEFMERREBE AREMms
BZEFATEEE2023F12831H1E
FENBEZ25%NPEBEMERME
MR ERBERETFRBFE/NIRE
B AMEB20%NEBEMRERE-

BB IR PSRRI R AR > A&
UM F AR ERERNEERN
FEERIRF) 4217 % BIFR @0 7 34 £
EF1SH -

PRGN N EE2MEMMOWT !

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥F T
2,834 1,635

5 6

62 (19)

2,131 2,858
5,032 4,480

VRN
2023 3R | PESAMKHESEEERAS {\ 181

\___/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 LEEE
9. INCOME TAX (continued) 9. FIEM ®
A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to profit before tax BRBERRAEBRETATANRAFEN
at the applicable tax rate for the companies within the Group to BERAREENREBEZ HEEERR{E
the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: FENRESZ HEEROT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5F AREBTT AR¥FTT
Profit before tax HEIFIE 14,112 5,518
Tax at the respective statutory BB EEREGFTENRE
tax rates:
- Mainland China subsidiaries, — BRI F AT 25%
at 25% 3,091 2,078
- the Company and its Hong Kong —Z&ABKREEBFAT
subsidiaries, at 16.5% 16.5% 275 (476)
- Singapore subsidiary, at 17% —HIEF AR 17% 16 15
Lower tax rates enacted by local = R R R VBB R X
authorities (589) (337)
Expenses not deductible for tax GIEE 2 (a) 704 1,521
Tax effect of tax losses not REIRNEBHEENRBEZE
recognised 1,473 389
Reversal of deferred tax assets O BEFERRN
recognised in the prior years EIERIEE E — 1,309
Adjustments of previous periods 1 BVERFR T8 & B 9 38 13 HA S
reflected in current tax HEEs 62 (19)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective FAREBEBEREHEN
tax rate MRIEZ H 5,032 4,480

Note: P -

(a) Expenses not deductible for tax for the years ended 31 (a) HE2023F K%2022F12831H 1EF
December 2023 and 2022 mainly consist of administrative ENAANREZTEZ0E#EAR
expenses incurred by offshore companies. These expenses are EENTHERZ tERAEZERAA
not expected to be deductible for tax. iR -

TN
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10.

11.

12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

DIVIDEND 10. KR
During meeting of the board of directors held on 28 March R2024F3828HETTHNEEEE&E L
2024, the directors did not recommend a final dividend for the EEMEZKCEZE2023F12831H1E
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). FEMNRIKRE (20226 1 #) ©
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 1. BERAAREERRE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE FEANSKRET
COMPANY
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the REXRBILDERBGBER AR E
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the BREEFAEANFEFARABEREERE
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 2023F 12A3TBIEFEREETEER
of 2,249,015,410 (2022: 2,249,015,410) in issue during the INHEF5802,249,015,41008 (20224 :
year ended 31 December 2023. 2,249,015,4108%) 5t & o
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share HREAEERBEEFEE > AABHE
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2023 TENROAENTEESNARE R
and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices of the MRFHEHE WL RSB E2023F
Company's outstanding share options were higher than the F2022F 12831 BIEEEZTHNERE
average market prices for the Company’'s shares during the KEH EEEEHE T EREE o
current and prior years.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ME-BEREE
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure (“CIP”) Total
£ BERES WAERE HEER FREE ERIR AF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTTR AEBTT AEBTR AEBTT AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR
31 December 2023 20235128318
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 #202351818 44,234 35,451 676 1,546 142,332 84,076 308,315
Additions B 1 302 49 1319 714 23,405 25,790
Transferred from CIP BETRIR 1,072 - - - 63,151 (64,223) -
Write-off s (1,866) (673) (150) (205) (m) = (3.666)
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 43,441 35,080 575 2,660 205,425 43,258 330,439
Accumulated depreciation and FitERAR:
impairment:
At 1 January 2023 #202351818 25,458 20,207 495 1,168 65,331 1,88 114,147
Provided for the year (note 7) EREE (f:27) 2,099 1,442 28 151 6,228 - 9,948
Write-off s (1.773) (519) (142) (185) (733) - (3.352)
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 25,784 21,130 381 1,134 70,826 1,488 120,743
Net carrying amount: REFH:
At 1 January 2023 #2023E181H ﬂ ﬂ _181 _378 ﬂ ﬂ ﬂ
At 31 December 2023 #2023E128318 17,657 13,950 194 1526 134,599 41,770 209,696

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

[L) = =
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ME-BEREE @
(Continued)
Plant and Office Motor Mining
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure e Total
BF BRRES WAERE ®HEH FRER fRIR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR AEBTR AEBETR ARBTR
31 December 2022 20224128318
Cost: 2
At 1 January 2022 20221518 41,412 33,103 634 1,546 139,886 56,177 272,758
Additions HE 55 339 54 - 1,296 34,557 36,301
Transferred from CIP BRAEIR 2,767 2,74 - - 1,150 (6,658) -
Disposals HE - (732) (12) - - - (744)
At 31 December 2022 #2022£128318 44,234 35,451 676 1,546 142,332 84,076 308,315
Accumulated depreciation and BHRERAE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2022 20221518 23,959 19,558 482 1,157 59,825 1,488 106,469
Provided for the year (note 7) EREE (H57) 1,499 1,198 24 108 5,506 - 8,335
Disposals HE - (549) (1) (97) - - (657)
At 31 December 2022 202245128318 25,458 20,207 495 1,168 65,331 1,488 114,147
Net carrying amount: REFH:
At 1 January 2022 20221518 17,453 13,545 152 389 80,061 54,689 166,289
At 31 December 2022 20224128318 18,776 15,244 181 378 77,001 82,588 194,168

The Group measured all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets and intangible assets) at the lower of its
carrying amount and recoverable amount. In accordance with
the Group's accounting policies, each asset or CGU is evaluated
annually at 31 December or biannually to determine whether
there are any indications of impairment. If any such indications
of impairment exist, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

In assessing whether an impairment is required, the carrying
value of each asset or CGU is compared with its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU’s fair
value less costs of disposal and VIU. Management has performed
impairment assessment on all of the carrying amounts of the
Group's property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and
right-of-use assets. For the purpose of impairment assessment,
the High-Fe Mining CGU (comprising the property, plant and
equipment, the intangible assets and the right-of-use assets of
Aba Mining) and the Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU (comprising
the property, plant and equipment, and the intangible assets)
are treated as separate CGU. The recoverable amounts of High-
Fe Mining CGU and Shigou Gypsum Mine CGU were estimated
based on its VIU determined by discounting the future cash
flows to be generated from the continuing use of these assets.
The VIUs calculation use cash flow projections based on a
financial budget approved by the management of the Group
covering the estimated life of mine, and pre-tax discount rates
ranging between 13.75% and 16.67% (2022: between 13.26%
and 13.75%) depending on the nature of each CGU.

In determining some of the key assumptions, Management
considered external sources of information where appropriate.
Management considers the estimates applied in this impairment
assessment are reasonable. However, such estimates are subject
to significant uncertainties and judgements.

Other key assumptions used in the estimation of VIU are as
follows:

Resources — These represent one of the key factors the
management has considered during the impairment testing,
which comprise resources (measured, indicated and inferred)
estimated, on the basis of appropriate geological evidence and
sampling, with reference to the resources statements prepared
by appropriate competent persons.

12.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

ME-BERSZE ®

NGRS BEHRER  REBTL
REEEENRCESBENUNEmEHR
AlkElEiE T RElcEAREEE S
ANAFERHERNEARATHAEBEMS
NEsE BEBEHAEENE - KE
ERRE BEEEUREREESENMN
BIRESREETRENG - A ERE
EmAEESRSESEN (BERS
BEIME BERRE BEEEUK
TREEE REEAERREESEN
(BiEME - BERZBURBEEE)
WRABUNREELEBEURE -5 5
MEESREELEEMNRABOERER
SEEEMNTKREDSEENEGERE
B GERAMRTETRLESEEMEL
HARRIBERET) Gt -ERBEER
KRAEEEEEBH E RS REEH
N BEE R MIRENF13.75%
£16.67% (2022F I N F13.26%=F
13.75%) (RFEEBEREEEE UMW G
BME) ERAREREEAAE-

REEHRDETERRF BEEEECRE
BERERIIBERR - EEERDR
FRETEPTANMET B EE AT &
LAhETH R B HE E MR A i o

L EREERERANAEMEZRRN
=

BERE-T"EEENBENSKFEERE
WRARERZ— BE2LEBEESTER
ATFFEENERERE  ENEEH
ARBEAEEMBENGFERE (R
B ~ R R HE ) ©

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Commodity prices — Forecast commodity prices are based on
management’s estimates and are derived from forward price
curves and long-term views of domestic supply and demand,
building on past experience of the industry and consistent
with external sources. These prices were adjusted to arrive
at appropriate consistent price assumptions for the different
qualities and type of commodities, or, where appropriate,
contracted prices were applied. These prices are reviewed at
least annually.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margin achieved in the recent years for High-Fe Mining CGUs
and Shigou Gypsum Mine CGUs, adjusted for management’s
expectations for possible changes in the production costs and
estimated market prices.

Production volumes — Estimated production volumes are
based on the detailed life of mine plans and take into account
development plans of the mine agreed by management as part
of the long-term planning process.

Discount rate — The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Capital requirements — The determination of estimated capital
requirements is based on the expertise of both internal and
external technical specialists, after considering, among others,
the overall mine design and planning, mining and processing
technologies, operational efficiency etc, as applicable.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

Based on the above-mentioned impairment assessment, the
recoverable amounts are higher than the carrying amounts of
the non-financial assets of High-Fe Mining CGU and Shigou
Gypsum Mine CGU as at 31 December 2023, respectively, and
no provision for impairment was provided during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

12.
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2023

Cost:

At 1 January 2023
Additions

Transfer (note 24)

At 31 December 2023

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment:

At 1 January 2023

Amortisation provided during the year
(note 7)

At 31 December 2023

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2023

At 31 December 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2023%12831H
779
R2023F181H
RE
o (fsk24)
2023128318
R EHE R E -
2023FE 1818
EREHREHEERE
(M$5E7)

2023%F12831H

IRMHEE ©
R2023E181H

20235128318

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31HILEFE
13. BREE

Exploration

Mining rights and
rights assets Software Total

RiEtE HREREE BmiF =k

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR ARETRT ARETET
800,295 65,991 237 866,523
90,490 - - 90,490
65,991 (65,991) - -
956,776 - 237 957,013
132,110 - 12 132,122
2,732 - 24 2,756
134,842 - 36 134,878
668,185 65,991 225 734,401
821,934 - 201 822,135

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 LEEE
13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 13. BEEE®@
Exploration
Mining rights and
rights assets Software Total
REE MBREREE E7ds =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TRT ARBTRT ARBT®
31 December 2022 2022128318
Cost: s
At 1 January 2022 202218 1H 800,295 65,991 - 866,286
Additions NE - - 237 237
At 31 December 2022 122022%12831H 800,295 65,991 237 866,523
Accumulated amortisation and R RAE
impairment:
At 1 January 2022 1202241818 131,265 - - 131,265
Amortisation provided during the year P sHRAVE 8 B
(note 7) (P5E7) 845 - 12 857
At 31 December 2022 12022128318 132,110 - 12 132,122
Net carrying amount: AREREE
At 1 January 2022 202218 1H 669,030 65,991 - 735,021
At 31 December 2022 720225 12831H 668,185 65,991 225 734,401
As at 31 December 2023, the mining rights of Maoling- R2023F12A31H REFEAAR
Yanglongshan Mine with a net carrying amount of #172,226,00070 (2022%F 1 AR
RMB172,226,000 (2022: RMB18,477,000) were pledged to 18,477,0007T) BIE 28 — F e L S B IR HE
secure the Group's bank loans (note 25(a)). HEFER AR ERBRITERNER
(Kt5E25(a)) ©
7N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

LEASES 14. #HE
The Group as a lessee EEREAEEA
The Group has lease contracts for office premises and various KEEMEBMAZERAEEMUR
items of plant and machinery used in its operations. During the TREBERHBEEITUHAESEO -1
reporting period, the Group entered into certain long-term lease REFAN AEEMKRERIEREBS]
contracts for items of plant and machinery. Leases of office UATRIPHESN -MAEMERE
premises have lease term within 2 years. Leases of plant and WA R2E N o BR B Mt 28 H B R TEER
machinery generally have lease term between 1 and 20 years. —RA/IE20F - — RS AEEAT
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing REEEESERPHETEAERMUISNA
the leased assets outside the Group. To
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) 1EHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets AEBETEAREENRASER
and the movements during the year are as follows: FRESHUWT
Office Plant and
premises machinery Total
MAEYE R BB Tz 1 28 =5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETT ARETT

As at 1 January 2023 7R2023F1H81H 8 23,087 23,095

Additions A= 915 2,518 3,433

Exchange realignment b 0 FH R 7 - 7
Depreciation charge reEssd (MY5E7)

(note 7) (66) (3,461) (3,527)

As at 31 December 2023 820235 12H31H 864 22,144 23,008

Office Plant and

premises machinery Total

WAEYZE PR B ot 2% a5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

As at 1 January 2022 202241818 14 1,018 1,032
Additions hE - 23,405 23,405
Exchange realignment bE 2 S 25 - 25
Depreciation charge EZH (MEE7)

(note 7) (31) (1,336) (1,367)
As at 31 December 2022 722022F12831H 8 23,087 23,095

189
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. 5@
The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEBREREREAN @
(b)  Lease liabilities (b)) FHEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the HEEENRESERERE
movements during the year are as follows: W
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#TT AR¥FTT
Carrying amount at 1 January F1B1HNRE S8 24,738 2,705
New lease (note 31(b)) MAEE (F5E31(b) 3,433 23,405
Accretion of interest recognised AR ESFIE (FisE6)
during the year (note 6) 1,071 662
Payments INEA (6,036) (2,034)
Exchange realignment bE RS EE 7 -
Carrying amount at 31 December 7 12831HMRESEE 23,213 24,738
Analysed into: DR
Current portion mENE D 2,124 4,645
Non-current portion ERBIL D 21,089 20,093
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEEBEWIBARAPIRES
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. SRR M FE37IREE ©
TN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 128310 IEEE
14. LEASES (continued) 14. #HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) ERERSEEA®
()  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to () MEENRBEEENEZEUWT
leases are as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®EFT AB®FT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6) FAE&ENFIE (Mizt6) 1,071 662
Depreciation charge of EREEENTESZH (I5E14@)
right-of-use assets (note 14(a)) 3,527 1,367
Expense relating to short-term B ERRNMS GTA
leases (included in TERX) FIsE7~31()
administrative expenses)
(note 7, note 31(c)) 140 263
Total amount recognised RiEm SRR ARER
in profit or loss 4,738 2,292
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) FHENREREEBEREETH
31(c) to the consolidated financial statements. WRMIFEIV(C)IHEE o
15. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 15. REELENED
2023
20234
RMB'000
AR¥TT
Share of net assets EHFEE -
TN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

15. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 15. REETENHEEDR @
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interests in the R2023F 12831 H AEBRUTEE

following joint ventures: EEAER
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and Registered interests attributable
Name of joint ventures business share capital to the Company Principal activities
B3I A - g NG|
RETERE K&t EERECEN RAEZEDL FEEH
Sichuan Shengjiawei Property PRC RMB5,000,000 50% Facility management
Services Co. Ltd.* =a)| AR (note (a)) services
(“Sichuan Shengjiawei") 5,000,0007¢ 50% REEERE
)1 RS = B 2 AR 75 (FfzE(a))

BRAR (M0 #ER)

Sichuan Yufengwei Property PRC RMB5,000,000 50% Facility management
Services Co. Ltd.* =a)| AR (note (b)) services
(“Sichuan Yufengwei") 5,000,0007¢ 50% REEERE

B FERMER (BI3E(b))

BRAR (TE)IIFEE)
* English name is for identification purpose only. * HEXELFEEBRZF
Notes: g4

On 7 December 2023, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Sichuan Lingwei has entered into a capital
contribution agreement with an independent third party (the
"JV Partner 1") to incorporate a joint venture company, namely
Sichuan Shengjiawei, with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to
which the Group and the independent third party held as to
50% and 50%, respectively. Pursuant to the capital contribution
agreement, each of Sichuan Lingwei and the JV Partner 1
is entitled to appoint 2 out of 4 board members of Sichuan
Shengjiawei and the key strategic financial and operating
decisions in relation to Sichuan Shengjiawei’s operation require
the unanimous consent of all board members. In the opinion
of the Directors, these key decisions are related to the activities
that significantly affect the returns of Sichuan Shengjiawei.
Accordingly, neither Sichuan Lingwei nor the JV Partner 1 has
the ability to control Sichuan Shengjiawei unilaterally and
Sichuan Shengjiawei is therefore considered as jointly controlled
by Sichuan Lingwei and the JV Partner 1. As the Group has
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, Sichuan
Shengjiawei is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

R2023F1287H AR BEHNBES
EFARM)INERE—BBIE=H
(TEEhERHRNEULLERSE
IR —REEE )R ER
WA HABEE BRI REREEZ
LEIULE=F D AFFHE50%K50%%
moRIBHE MR > TR ERE
EEABMET > W) INERHAGEE
BHHESEERSMT 2% MAERRD
J11BS 5 o 2 745 1O R SRR B B 1 B 75 e
BAEHELEZREETENE A
R BERA ZSHBRATHEE
AN BERERNEHER-A
o m)INEMBEEErEBHRERE
REI BB 5 M Ry )| B > a1
BEREEASHIIERASECE
BHPHARZES -BARAEEZES
ERHOREE > W) B ERAKRY
EREENSE R

/ AN
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15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

On 7 December 2023, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Sichuan Lingwei has entered into a capital
contribution agreement with an independent third party (the
"JV Partner 2") to incorporate a joint venture company, namely
Sichuan Yufengwei, with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to
which the Group and the independent third party held as to
50% and 50%, respectively. Pursuant to the capital contribution
agreement, each of Sichuan Lingwei and the JV Partner 2
is entitled to appoint 2 out of 4 board members of Sichuan
Yufengwei and the key strategic financial and operating
decisions in relation to Sichuan Yufengwei’s operation require
the unanimous consent of all board members. In the opinion
of the Directors, these key decisions are related to the activities
that significantly affect the returns of Sichuan Yufengwei.
Accordingly, neither the Sichuan Lingwei nor the JV Partner 2
has the ability to control Sichuan Yufengwei unilaterally and
Sichuan Yufengwei is therefore considered as jointly controlled
by Sichuan Lingwei and the JV Partner 2. As the Group has
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, Sichuan
Yufengwei is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

15. MEELENEDS @
MisE @ (&

(b)

R2023F12B7H A ABINEES
BEF RN ERE—2BIE=R
(TEErERBHZ)BETIRERS
MR —EEEEEN)IFER
WREA AR EE BRI AEEEZ
BBUE=F D RFES0%K50%H
meoRBRHE R TOIFSRE
EEALMET W EHEEGEDE
BHEBERSMI 2% MART
NFEREFENBREEEMBERE
BRAEHALEBEEENE XA
R EERA ZEHBATHEE
FEN)IFERLCERNEEER R
e ) IEMAGErEBH IR
RENBAEESIEIIFE R Kl
FEHWRAZTO)ERRAGE R
BHIHERAESN BHRAEBRZES
PR EE W)IIFE/MARY
EAREENEGERZE-

/

7N\
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

15. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 15. REETENHEEDR @

Relationship with Joint Ventures HEETENRR

Sichuan Shengjiawei and Sichuan Yufengwei are engaged M) EEREED)IFERRERFPBEIE
in provision of facility management services in PRC, which HERHEIERYS AEAEEEHEM
could allow the Group to leverage the facilities management EETENKHEEEENBINELRE
expertise of other joint venturers to expand the Group’s facility BENREEEER-

management business.

Fair value of investments KREAFE
Sichuan Shengjiawei and Sichuan Yufengwei are not listed and M) B ER RO F 8 E o 5%
there is no quoted market price available for the investments. ERENEMIGRE
Financial information of joint ventures BETENMBEER
The table below shows, in aggregate, the carrying amount TRIITEEESENERN L AEAK
and the Group’s share of results of joint ventures that are not FRAERZARNEEEBERAEERE
individually material and accounted for using the equity method. HEEREER-
2023
20234
RMB'000
ARETT
Carrying amount of interests HmiREEEE -
Year ended
31 December
2023
#F20235F
12831H
IEEE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Profit and total comprehensive income FRFBEREEEAEZE
for the year =
TN
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16.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

16. FE{ITRIE HthBURRIE K
Hth&EE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
IS ARETT AREF T
Current portion: BB
Prepayments consisting of: FANRIEEE
Purchase of raw materials EEREME (a) 91,650 237
Utilities RAR 251 175
Prepayment for the maintenance B ER#EETE(INIE
of a road - 47
Other prepayments HAMFEL RIE 296 1,304
Other receivables consisting of: HAE W IBE ST
Deductible value-added tax input  BIHIEEIEIEER 560 1,117
Other receivables HpE w18 3,742 3,512
96,499 6,392
Impairment allowance PEREN =K (b) (606) (606)
95,893 5,786
Non-current portion: FETBE S -
Prepayment for the maintenance B RRAEETE(TFIE
of a road 423 434
Long-term deposit RIS - 2
423 436
96,316 6,222
77N

2023 B8 | FENKEEFLERAT ‘\1 5 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A
I%/\D/E\

175 AR MY 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

16.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The balances represents prepayment for purchase of steels for
trading business to a supplier, an independent third party which
is a state-owned enterprise in accordance with the terms of
contract.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are as follows:

At beginning of year REH]
Impairment loss RIERE
At end of year REL

Where applicable, impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to
reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate.

16.

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

FE(ITRIE - EfthEUWRFRIE K
HtEE @

M 5E

(a)

&r

A —RaEERENEIL
B EEEMMRIE.

w

ZERBBIENE R EBBEREMMIZ

STATRAS TRIE ~ EL A U IR Ko EL A
EENSREENREBEEREZD
mE:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARKF T
606 604

= 2

606 606

FERABEAT AEEEREREH
HEBEEREMERBRETRED
o MBEMERREBSRAEERN
RS2 RS IR AC SR FE IS B R A Mt o
AEBGHEERX URBER
AR R SRR A E AR B TR (U038
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 LEEE
17. DEFERRED TAX 17. EEMIA
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as EERBEEENRFANEEWT !
follows:
Losses
available for Excess tax
offsetting  depreciation
against over book Provision
taxable value of for Provision for
profits  fixed assets rehabilitation  impairment Others Total
EEEEN

QE:sis RIAHE

EHR  BHREE
HENEE M= ER%ERE HERE Hith A%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFR ARBTR ARETR AREFTR ARETR

At 1 January 2022 12022F 1818 3,289 4,871 1,031 2,202 815 12,208
Deferred tax credited/(charged) ER7EEHAK,
to profit or loss during (108R) MEETRIE
the year (note 9) (f5%9) (1,180) (456) (146) (1,163) 87 (2,858)
Deferred tax assets at 122022F 1283188
31 December 2022 ELRBEE 2,109 4,415 885 1,039 902 9,350
At 1 January 2023 K2023%F181H 2,109 4,415 885 1,039 902 9,350
Deferred tax credited/ FEREBREAR
(charged) to profit or loss (30pR) MR
during the year (note 9) 118 (fz9) - (1,643) (102) (274) (112) (2,131)
Deferred tax assets at 1R2023F 1283188
31 December 2023 BREREEE 2,109 2,772 783 765 790 7,219
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated financial AR EVBRRETME R ERIEF
statements, the following is the analysis of the deferred HE AT -
taxation:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AR¥ETF T
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 8,705 9,350
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIBBEE (1,486) -
7,219 9,350

197

/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12831HLEE
17. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 17. ERERIE )

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has tax losses
arising from Mainland China of RMB408,220,000 (2022:
RMB411,328,000) that would expire in one to five years and
other deductible temporary differences of RMB112,153,000
(2022: RMB144,393,000) that were available for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses and deductible temporary
differences as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which they can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets related to the PRC subsidiaries have been
provided at the enacted corporate income tax rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has been effective from
1 January 2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The withholding tax rate for the Group is
10%.

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’'s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future.

R2023F 12831 H  AEBBRE+FH
AR —ERAFREBPNRIBEEGEE
AE#408,220,0007T (20224 1 AR
411,328,0007T) K Mol 0 B RF = %R
AR #112,153,0007T (20224 1 AR
144,393,0007T) > 7] F DA 85 R 2R FE R
MABE AR AEBRR AR ACERE
HRFE A BLOEHRIBAIE R
W RFE R B R E A A5 1B K Rl 30 UR
B EREEDIRIERIBEE

B FARARMNRELERBEEES R
25% BB EMEEFMSRME IR

RIFEFEEREAMERNRAREN &
BERE AR INE D ERRINE
REESTRPREBURI0%MTEINR -
ZRECH2008FE1 B 1HEER L@
FR2007E 12831 HBMNER] & &
EAMBANEEEEMED G
MEEREHE AJEZEAREN
EINRE-HAEEMS > BIIREXS
10% °

22023128310 A EERFEA
A 3L B F A B R B TR N AR BY R EERR
BNME BERIEZFERLRNR
ERRNELERBERR -EFHR ZF
FREAFARAENRTERRDIKZER
e
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18.

19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVENTORIES

Raw materials Bkl

Spare parts and consumables BERHREE®
Finished goods X &

Costs to fulfil contracts BITE AR A

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables FE WL BR =R
Less: Impairment o RE
Trade receivables, net of impairment FEWER RN BN EIE
Bills receivable & U = 5%

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. During the year, the Group granted credit terms ranging
from one month to four months (2022: one month to four
months) to its customers. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing and unsecured.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

Pl
18. &
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ABEFT
13,565 8,152
2,765 3,046
1,160 1,593
1,205 835
18,695 13,626

19. BRI REE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AE®FT
100,290 207,253

= (2,674)

100,290 204,579
19,566 2,696
119,856 207,275

REBAEZFMNEZKREEARE
R ER AEBBTEL—ZNER
(20225 : —ZEHER) S HE - FEUR
RAATERERR

TN
2023 8 | PENMBEBEESRAT {\1 9 ‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 19.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of each
reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognised and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months 3EA R
Over 5 years #BiB5F

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year REH]
Reversal of impairment losses HE R B R
At end of year REA

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due and are not subject to enforcement activity.

FEWER R EE @)
RS IR (BN ASEE
) B U AR B EEE B AT T

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥ETF T
100,290 200,049

= 4,530

100,290 204,579

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥ETF T
2,674 7,204
(2,674) (4,530)

= 2,674

REBREEH ~ERNBEFERES
SHRMEREXR UETRED - &
BEDENRZEAEFHRLUGIEREANE
FoBs R (BNigE B RTRE D)
B8 HA R B E o 5t B 5 A R BREE R0
BERMREEHHIERSEHABES
-~ BRI SRR B AR R FE A
NEEMAEREXRHEN - —RME >
PR LAY BR SRR 40 8 A e 7 52 S ) S 1T U B P
PR RSN o
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Expected credit loss rate FEHR(E HiE =X
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BRE#EZE (AR BT 7T)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  FEHA(S FI1E% (AR T 7T)

As at 31 December 2022

Expected credit loss rate FEHR(E B =X
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FRE#EZE (AR BT 7T)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  FAEAE 1%L (AR T 1)

Transfers of financial assets

The Group endorsed bank acceptance bills to its suppliers for
settling trade payables of the same amounts on a full recourse
basis. All bank acceptance bills had a maturity term from one to
six months at the end of the reporting period.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

19. BRI ERERE
TXHEHINFBREEREESEANERER
BRMEEHNEERBINER

1220234128318
Current Past due Total
ENHA B HA 45t

= N/A FEH N/A REH
100,290 = 100,290

720228E12831H

Current Past due Total
B EA %1 HA 4t

- 37.1% 1.3%
200,049 7,204 207,253

- 2,674 2,674

BETHEE

76 [ 12 2 OB B B ) £ FE S 1 5 98
TEARER WUEHARSENELR
e RMEMF MERTRLEEAMN
—EXNER-

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (cContinued) 19. BWRFKRERE ®

Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirety

As at 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks with high credit quality in the
PRC to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade
payables to these suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate
of RMB3,595,000 (2022: RMB5,326,000) (referred to as the
“Derecognised Bills”). In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills
and the associated trade payables.

The maximum exposure to loss from the Group's Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their
face amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year and cumulatively. The
endorsement of bills receivable has been made evenly
throughout the year.

Transferred financial assets that are not
derecognised in their entirety

The other bank acceptance bills with a total carrying amount of
RMB 19,566,000 endorsed by the Group to its suppliers as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB2,496,000) to settle trade payables
of the same amounts, were not derecognised. In the opinion
of the Directors, the Group retained substantially all risks and
rewards of these bank acceptance bills, and accordingly, it
continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of these bills
receivable and the associated liabilities.

BEIFRIFEIRNEHESR
BE

R2023F12831H > AEERE T H#
RSP ENSEEERRTE
M ETREWRERS WEERE LS
A ANRH83,595,00070 (20224 1 AR
#%5,326,0007T) W ETZ S HER RN
(MR IR ER) - BRBRAPEERE
MAHENIRITELS AR IEERERS
BABEAREBRRHEN ((FEMKES
H)) cEEBRAE AEBEB BRI
REBENEBAI D AR KRERER > A
IEEBUSMEERAL IE R =i K AE R FE (T
RAMBIEEPRE S EE

AEBRBRIEIZENFEE2 A
RERBLOZERIEEIRBHORMBIRER
TRAMARBRNRSARESENHERE
B-EFRR ~EEYRIEEIZEN
FEM2ENATER K.

BERFEE S BEDFA KRR W
FEE - EREENHEAREEFEDY
e -

AE2YRIEERNEEE
ETHMEE

7R2023F 128310 WEKR LR E
A SERTEEARE19,566,0007T
(2022%F : AR£2,496,0007T) A FE {
BRER T B FE R HE SE AV R BB H A SR 4T K
RER -EEDA AERMREXERT
AREENBAEDEEKRE R AL
BEHMIZERENEENRE S
AR EE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

20. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES 20. EHARAEE A BASER
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
e ex AR%TT AREFT
Due from related parties: VGl Vet eI
Trade receivables FEULER TR
— Huili Caitong Iron and Titanium — — 2@ &K
Co., Ltd. (“Huili Caitong”) BREEAHE
(TEIER3®)) (a) 943 679
— Huili Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd. —&IEFH AR
(“Xiushuihe Mining"”) BERAT
(TFHACHBEZE ) (b) 444 360
- Yanyuan Xigang Cleaned Coal — RS IR
Co., Ltd. (“Yanyuan Xigang”) BREMERE
(TEZ VR 7a ) (b) 71 -
Non-trade in nature EEZHEE
— Huili Caitong —SIEE () 866 -
- Xiushuihe Mining —F KB () 22 -
— Huili Caitong —HIEE (d) = 31
2,346 1,070
Due to related parties: JETT B 5 70 E
Trade payables FE{TERER
— Huili Caitong —ZEFE (h) 14 -
— Xiushuihe Mining —FHACAHEE (h) 28 -
— Yanyuan Xigang — B8R Fa i (h) 44 -
Non-trade in nature EEZHEE
- Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., —mANNE)NEREBBRAR
Ltd. (“Chuan Wei") =) (e) 2,050 2,173
— Trisonic International —HE|ERE (f) 467 1,447
— Huili Caitong —ZEYE (9) 2,286 2,285
4,889 5,905
Analysed into: DA
Current portion TRENER 2,603 5,905
Non-current portion FEMBNER 2,286 -
N

2023 8 | FENKHEHELERAT w\z 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

20. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The balance due from Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2023
represented trade receivables from the rendering of facility
management services provided by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023, while the balance as at 31 December
2022 represented trade receivables on the rendering of
consultancy services provided by the Group.

The balance due from Xiushuihe Mining and Yanyuan Xigang
as at 31 December 2023 represented trade receivables from the
rendering of facility management services provided by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Pertain to guarantee fees income arising from the CVT
Guarantees based on 1.25% of the maximum guaranteed
amounts. For further details, please refer to note 32.

The balance due from Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2022
represented non-trade receivables on staff remuneration paid
by the Group on behalf of Huili Caitong during the year ended
31 December 2022, which was interest-free and collectible on
demand.

Chuan Wei is ultimately controlled by the same beneficial
owners of the Company. The balances due to Chuan Wei
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 mainly comprised goods
purchased paid by Chuan Wei on behalf of the Group, which
was interest-free and collectible on demand.

The balance due to Trisonic International as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 mainly represented an interest-free loan granted
by Trisonic International, which was repayable on demand.

The balance due to Huili Caitong as at 31 December 2023
represented goods purchased paid by Huili Caitong on behalf
of the Group, which was interest-free and not repayable within
next 12 months.

The balances due to Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and
Yanyuan Xigang represented the purchase of raw materials by
the Group, which was repayable on demand.

20.
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2023512831 HEW G B B4E R
IEAREBENEE2023F12831HLEE
FE 12 1 50 5 B IR AR 75 19 FE U BR 7R > T
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R ARSI FE U AR 7R 0

72023512831 HEWSE KCAIEE R
RIS A E BN E E2023F
12A3MHEFEREREEERBEN
FE U BR 7R

MAPEERERIEERRSEREE
1.25% T HHNEREWRATRE E—
F et IEE S RMIsE32

2022512831 B IE W S IBR B4 iR
IEAREBPEE20225128318 1E
FERRGEMBXMETHINIE
BSREWHIE AR B RER
@o

NEBERNAADEREE ARK
el o 1A20234FE K 20224E12 831 HE
TIEESGRFTEREIIBRKRAE
ERENNR ARBEITAIEERIK
@o

R20235 /202261283 1HENG &
BIE AR EEIs 5 Al EBRRHEN—
FREER ARERER.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 21. RERBFEEFEVUR
PLEDGED DEPOSITS BEEHER
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®EF T
Cash and bank balances R& RIRITHEER 8,063 9,383
Less: pledged time deposits for issue of 78 : FEEITET ZHEE MM
bills payable BEEM (25) (26)
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 8,038 9,357
The Group’s cash and bank balances are denominated in RMB at FEENRERIBITEHEBRNSRGHAR
the end of each reporting period, except for the following: MAR®EHE > T IIRIERRS
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFTT
Cash and bank balances MUrHEEHENERER
denominated in: IRITAEER -
HKD BT 336 84
usD E7T - 30
SGD oo 275 631
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, ARBIAIBHRBRAHMER A
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 1R 95 P B b B B IR O R 45 B ~ B FE K
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign NEBERT AEERESEBERRE
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange ETHEXEFNWRTEARBERRAR
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct mE-

foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RTRELERSHRTERNEFE
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are HFEMEGFE-RITERKBEBHER
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of ERRERITRENLCHRBEEETEN
default. R1T0

77N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. METERR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group as at RREBPFR  AEBEMNRRENEE
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date or HEASNE HH R (B A) ERE DTl
issuance date, where appropriate, is as follows: T
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AR¥FTT
Within 180 days 180K 63,649 31,302
181 to 365 days 1812 365K 1,348 1,046
1 to 2 years 1226 1,608 962
2 to 3 years 2E34F 2,149 670
Over 3 years HBIB3F 2,275 1,077
71,029 35,057
Trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are REBENEMNERRATTE BER180
normally settled within 180 days. KRHEE o
23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. AR
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AR¥FTT
Advances received from customers BWEFRBR
Sale of self-produced high-grade iron HEBERSmUEIEE
concentrates 28,883 8,216
The movement of contract liabilities for the years ended 31 BE2023F M2022F12A31HBIEFERN
December 2023 and 2022 was mainly due to the increase in EHNEBEESTIERHNRERNEES
advances received from customers in relation to the sale of self- EnmiEBEeNE R B IIE e
produced high-grade iron concentrate at the end of the year. o
TN
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 23.

Changes in contract liabilities during the reporting periods are as
follows:

At 1 January R1A1H

Revenue recognised that was included in st AFEHEHNEBENERIDIA

the contract liabilities at the beginning
of year

Increase due to cash received, excluding REWIREMEMN  FEEER

amounts recognised as revenue during AU A RIEIE
the year

Decrease due to cash refunded RERBREREMRELD
during the year

At 31 December R12831H

Analysed into: Pakiiv=I
Current portion MENEL
Non-current portion JEmENEL D

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled within
the Group's normal operating cycle, are classified as non-current
based on the Group's earliest obligations to transfer goods or
services to the customers.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

BB E®
SHBEENREARNSIT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AEB®FT
8,216 6,166
(8,044) (6,166)
28,847 8,216
(136) -
28,883 8,216
8,883 8,216
20,000 -

BHRAERAEEEREEBRATGEE
NENaRRsEEnERFBRE RS
RBENEENRERESEAIETRS-

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF

TN
[ 207 |
\ J

-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Current portion: TEEE

Payables related to: B SHIEE BT RIE
Construction in progress EETRE
Taxes other than income tax FREFSIINNIRIE
Exploration and evaluation assets RERTEEE
Payroll and welfare payable FEAS 3 5 B 4B A

Consultancy and professional BHENEERBE
services fees

Mining right payable FE (S $R B4

Deposits received B iR E

Accrued government surcharges FESTEATHI I &

Accrued interest expenses FEsT A B

Other payables HAuE RIE

Non-current portion: FEREEE S -

Mining right payable FE AT $R B A

Other payable HAuE RIE

Note:

(a) The balance of mining right payable as at 31 December 2023
represented the remaining balance of payable of approximately
RMB49,950,000 (equivalents to a present value of approximately
RMB40,524,000) for resource integration process of mining
rights to the relevant PRC government authority, which the
remaining balance is scheduled to be paid over eight annual
instalments up to 31 December 2031. During the year, the
Group completed the resource integration process of the
Maoling Mine and Yanglongshan Mine which incurred costs of
approximately RMB98,222,000 payable to the government, of
which the Group paid approximately RMB48,272,000 during
the year and the remaining balance was included in mining
right payable as at 31 December 2023, and therefore, the
Group transferred exploration rights and assets of approximately
RMB65,991,000 to mining rights included in intangible assets
upon the completion of resource integration.

HL th P& {3 7R TE B2 FE 5t RR IR

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T AR¥ETF T
27,094 32,692
7,958 6,241
8,925 6,732
11,486 9,827
1,192 3,667
4,264 -
544 104
4,529 4,529
609 954
10,105 12,891
76,706 77,637
36,260 -
17,468 700
53,728 700
130,434 78,337

R2023FE 12831 B E T RERELS
FRIETM IR BE R E RE S 12T R 8k
FEEFEEANG TEROAR
49,950,000t (HHERIBEHARLE
40,524,0007T) » ZBR FAEBRTAE R
2031F12B31HAEI D \FEH X
FToRER AEBBEEREEERE
MERLUEHBENERESRF  EE
FES BT A A 49 A R 598,222,000
T BEFAERERFRAINTHAAR
#48,272,0007T  Bf FASER E 522023
F12831 B 5t AFE(HRIERE A E
AR EREGREEREETY
AR 165,991,000t EhiF R & E
BT IR
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25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS

Bank loans — Secured
Other borrowings — Unsecured

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:

Within one year

Other borrowings repayable:

Within one year
In the second year

Total bank and other borrowings
Balances classified as current
liabilities

Balances classified as non-current
liabilities

Bank loans
Other borrowings

RITER—ARR
HifEd & — 47

DA

FER T IR 1E 2R
RITE -
—FRN

R FSURBRTIEE BT
HMER .
—FRN

s —

RITRHEMBE R

DE/NBEENER

DERIFRBEERA

RITEM
Hithfg &

25.

Notes

k3

(a)
(b)

JA=IPAN

ir e M AR M EE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

stRIRITREMBES

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%FT AR¥ET T
69,600 74,612
12,994 16,496
82,594 91,108
69,600 74,612
- 16,496
12,994 -
12,994 16,496
82,594 91,108
(69,600) (91,108)
12,994 -
2023 2022
20234 20224
(Effective interest rate)
=y -
5.00% 4.35%

4.00%-5.00%

4.00%-8.00%

2023 R | PENKEAIBEFRAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F12831HIEEE
25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. FFRBITREMEE @
BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: M -
(a) As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank loan of (a) HW2023F12A31H AEB AR
RMB69,600,000 (2022: RMB74,612,000) are secured by: ¥69,600,0007T (20224 : AR
74,612,0007T) BUIRTTE AT 518
B 1EHRF
(i) Mining rights of Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine with (i) R E FHERARARE
a net carrying amount of RMB172,226,000 (2022: 172,226,0007T (20224 :
RMB18,477,000) (note 13); and ANE#18,477,0007T) NE
E—Fhe SRR (s
13) 5 &
(ii) 100% equity of Aba Mining held by Sichuan Lingyu. (ii) T EE PR Pl B AR £ 100%
Be o
(b) The balance as at 31 December 2023 represents long-term (b) R2023E 1283 1A RIER— %
loans granted by an independent third party to Aba Mining at BUE=rANBREFZLINEHE
the annual interest rates ranging from 4.00% to 5.00% (2022: o EFEA4.00%ES5.00% (2022
4.00% to 8.00%). These loans were unsecured with repayment £ 1 4.00%%E8.00%) cEZEETRNS
terms ranging from fifteen months to two years (2022: one IR O BERENTFETREREMSE
month to eight months). (20225 : —ERZEN\EA) °
26. PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION 26. EEEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT
At beginning of year REH] 14,660 14,523
Additions NE 714 1,296
Unwinding of discount (note 6) 8538015 (HI5E6) 753 910
Utilisation during the year FRHA (824) (2,069)
At end of year PEEERES 15,303 14,660
7N
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27.

SHARE CAPITAL

Number of ordinary shares
Authorised ordinary shares of HKDO.1
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares

of HKDO.1

Amounts

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares

of HKDO.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27.

HEk#%E

EE0NEBTEEEER

EHE0IETHESETR
HeZmk

T &
EHE0IETHERETR
BeZmik

A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is as

follows:

At 1 January 2023 and

31 December 2023

Z'i" PAN
2N =

775 AR M 5E

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

B 7
2023 2022
20234 20224
10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000
2,249,015,410 2,249,015,410
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥EF T
197,889 197,889

AATRAESHEENT |

Number of
shares in issue

BRTRHEE

2023F 18 1H K2023F12831H

2,249,015,410

Issued capital
BEITRE
RMB'000
ARET T

197,889
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

2010 Option Scheme

On 15 April 2010, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2010 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of the 2010
Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time) of
any member of the Group and any persons whom the board of
directors considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or
will contribute to the development and growth of the Group.
The 2010 Option Scheme remained in force for 10 years from
its adoption date, and expired on 14 April 2020, no option may
be granted thereafter. Outstanding share options granted during
the lifespan of the 2010 Option Scheme prior to its expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
terms of the 2010 Option Scheme.

The maximum number of the Company’s shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the 2010 Option Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate,
exceed 207,500,000 shares, being 10% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue on the adoption date of the
2010 Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares issued
and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the 2010 Option Scheme to
each eligible participant in the 2010 Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting.

Share options granted to Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or any of their respective associates are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors (excluding
the independent non-executive directors who are the grantees
of the options). In addition, any grant of share options to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue on the date of offer with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares quoted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at the date
of grant) in excess of HKD5 million made within any 12-month
period from the date of grant (inclusive) would be subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

A& 17 HA 4 51 2

2010F HAHE T2

R2010F4815H » &2 B RMA—IBK D
HRRESHE] (T 2010F HAMEET 1)) 20104
RTINS ERZ2EATOELAER
EARERABDNEST RETHRAEE
ERIREHIARBRERE UREST
ERNBERAECAFTEHEAERMNE
BREEEEERNTIMAMAL 20105
HRREST R M H BB ST 0F R — &
B R2020FE48 140 2 E R B R
TEEEEE - FR2010E T 2IER M
A B SRR H T R ITE BB D HARE
BIR2010F HARE ST B IR BB B T
A Fi7fo

RIF2010FE BT 8| R A QBT MEM
sTE AR RS R A AT IR
NEREHEAEHRFEEIE207,500,000
B> BIRR201 0 B ME ST B IR H AR A
FBEETRMNEENI10% - 1EHE201046F
HARE St &I PAEEr1 218 B BARS A9 112010
FEHEFE TESEAERSEATIRER
BRER R E T ERE ST RAESR
TERITWRMDESHE LN EE B
KRBT BETRON I %AR E—T
HiBBZ ERNRDERBEFTRERR
BAE EHE

MEF RBTHRAE - TERRARK
EEEEMBHERARLRMDBAER A
RRBIUFRTEE CTEEBHREAX
BRARNBIIFNITES) fE 1L M
RELAHSE (8FEEH) Bt ER/~12ME
AHBARTIERINBIIFNITE
FUAREEEEATHEANTARNDH
RBARENAREALATEZRTRMON
0.1% UK M8 1E (B & BB ZFTFT R
ERBRBHEBELBANKRTESH)
BESEEAT AETRREAT LEE
B R HL A
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28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

2010 Option Scheme (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors provided that no option may be exercised more than
10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of shares of the Company; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options;
and (iii) the Hong Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company'’s shares on the date of grant of the share options.

2020 Option Scheme

On 16 June 2020, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the "2020 Option Scheme”). Eligible participants of the 2020
Option Scheme include Directors, chief executives, substantial
shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time) of
any member of the Group and any persons whom the board of
the Company considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed
or will contribute to the development and growth of the Group.
The number of share options available for grant under the
scheme mandate of the 2020 Option Scheme as at 1 January
2023 and 31 December 2023, respectively, is 224,901,541
which represented 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue on the adoption date of the 2020 Option
Scheme. The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HKD1 in total by
the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Directors provided that no option may be
exercised more than 10 years from the date of grant. The 2020
Option Scheme remained in force for 10 years from its adoption
date, and shall expire on 15 June 2030, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended.

As at 31 December 2023, no share options have been granted
to any eligible participants since the adoption of the 2020
Option Scheme.

28.

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

Bzin BARE ST B (53)

2010F HAKEST &I ()

BB A BERNENT N EEN B e
£1288 PUIE AR - RIS A B A IR 1) HA AR
BE S B TT I REE o FTIS
R ERIEE TR E B AR
BRSNS L B R 0E BT

ROMENTEEHEFEETE ELD
BERTIISERINESE (AR ER
PEE (INERBROHKEERHRNG
HEBPALERZ BN TFHWHE ;
Re(iii) 2 A B B A0 10 % H AR 17 B B 83 R0
BEARABZPIRTHE-

20205 HAME ST

122020568160 » &"A BN — B D
HAMEst &) (M 2020 H3/E 5T 811) 220205
AN G ER2EALTBELAER
AAMEBABINEE - BETHAE X
ERFAEHAFRES  UERAAT
EEZEHNBERASLABETHAE
ENERMRIEREHEMNEMALC
20231818 K20235FE12831H ) 1R
2020 F HRME St BV ST IR R TR
BB 17 BRI BB 3 711 75224,901,54117% >
HER2020F St BIRM P A AT
EETRMBENI10% =B RMEFE
NWENTRABAZITEHRIBITHR
AR BRZA © FTI% H R (% BB RENTT
FHIHESE T EHEEAERIRYH
HEAmI0FEBITE - PRIEBTEHAE
57 BHI20205 ERHE 51 B FR BR 40 B HA 8
STI0ER—BEBN Wi R20305E64
15SAEHAE W ©

R2023F12531H » BR#M2020F FA#E
STEILR ERATEANEERKRSE AL
B HAERIBRDEAHE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 28. MR HARESTEl @)
The following share options were outstanding under the 2010 REANRE2010F BB HERTHEN
Option Scheme during the year: RO EAREWT :
Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
Note HKD per share '000
MEFIGITEE HE"E
[ SRET T3
As at 1 January 2023 and R2023FE 1818 &
31 December 2023 2023%F12831H (a) 1.00 9,600
Note: P EE -
(a) The share options outstanding as at 1 January 2023 and 31 (a) 72023F181H X2023%12831H
December 2023 represented share options granted under the B RITENRD ISR RATR2014
2010 Option Scheme by the Company on 15 April 2014 at the FE4F158BE2010E At 3217
exercise price of HKD1.00 per share. BESKR1.00BTE LMD
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options 7R2023F 2022512831 H B R1TEH
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: BEAD BRRERN T B R ATERR T ¢
Exercise
Category of Number of price per
participant options share Exercise period
S EEHER H#EHE BRITEE 1718
‘000 HKD
TF15 BT
Directors/ 550 1.00 15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
executives 20144108158 F2024F4814H
of the 275 1.00 15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
Company 2015F48158F2024F4814H
o= /N 275 1.00 15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
THAER 2015108 15HE2024F4814H
Employees of 4,250 1.00 15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
the Group 20144108158 E2024F4814H
rEBEES 2,125 1.00 15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
201548 15HE2024F4514H
2,125 1.00 15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024

2015108 15H E20245F48514H

9,600

/ AN
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28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Group had 9,600,000 share options exercisable as at
31 December 2023 (2022: 9,600,000) and the exercise price
was HKD1.00 per share (2022: HKD1.00). The exercise in full of
the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 9,600,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HKD960,000 and share premium of HKD8,640,000
(before issue expenses).

The Group did not recognise any share option expense during
the year (2022: Nil).

The fair values of equity-settled share options granted were
estimated and valued by independent professional valuers as
at the dates of grant, using the binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the major inputs to the model
used:

Dividend yield (%) & B & (%)
Expected volatility (%) FERARME(%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) B R A (%)

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the Company had 9,600,000 share options outstanding, which
represented approximately 0.43% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

28.

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

B iR HARE ST 21 (@)
20235128318 > & EH9,600,000
{7 (20224 : 9,600,0001%) B& 15 BARE BT
T MITEEASR.008 7T (2022
£ 11.0087)  REARAARBNEAR
R BHOEHRTERDEERS
M EEINE479,600,000 A AT EFBAS
I E A ZBINIE 960,000 7T K% BB 17 %
{B8,640,0007 7T GRINPREEITRIS) ©

FER o AER I EREDEA RN RS
(20224 @ 4#) o

RUNRBEERNDAENLATEER
RHBHBEBUIERGHEMUAZEERER
BEtRfGE ETEE EE HAENF
B MR e TR HZBEAFAANEE
BAE:

Equity-settled
share options
granted on

15 April 2014
RTFBEAA
RENRESH
Be 15 HARE
2014548158

49

A HA M R 2 R R SRR R TS R R B 6 1R
WRE T —ERBREER-

STEATERSETRERHBENE
fthisE -
RGEMBREERLEZR xR A

9,600,00017 i AR 1T fEf 3 BAtE > IHE N
ZANAKABEHEITRINAI0.43%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in the consolidated
financial statements.

(@) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands.
Under the constitutional documents and the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that the
Company is able to pay its debts when they fall due in
the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed
dividend is to be paid.

(b) Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC subsidiaries,
each of the PRC subsidiaries other than Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profits after tax,
as determined in accordance with the PRC Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP"), to the
statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR"”) until such reserve
reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As Sichuan Lingyu is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise,
according to the Rules for the Implementation of
Foreign-funded Enterprise Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Sichuan Lingyu, Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used
to offset accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up
capital.

f#fE
AEARAEERBEFENRERS
RESHRGEHBRRNGS RS
BRI2F

(a) MMPEERR
RNDSEERNEASHSFEER
BZEE - REEABEREXH R
M EREE FIRMHIKR
BE> ARABEHANENREEE
HBEPNEEIAR S MZF
BEMBR T ROSEETES
RE DK

(b) ZEEfEES
BEPEARERTETFABE
ENARERMAR EFEFA
B ()& RSN BH B Ziz
BAEARGHRNEETNRE
MENIONELERBLARE
BEEZ A NEEEZHAMEAN
50%% ko

HREINEE R —ENEEEER
FORBPENECE LB
A m)INEHR AT =2 4EA
o)A R R E ARG 5T R
RIDEEH10%MEFBEEEH
B2 EERHBESEEZHEM
BARAI50% 75 Lk o

BRBEIN EEBBABE KA
EREBEZHATREDIK LR
FE T AR RBUERPRRE o &
EBEBAREREEREBETH A
IR RSB ENFE R R
BEZ-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29. RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the Company's shares
issued in exchange of or consideration paid for
subsidiaries acquired and the aggregate amount of
the nominal value for the paid-up capital of these
subsidiaries attributable to the owners of the Company
for business combinations under common control.

Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production
Expenditure jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Administration of Work Safety of the PRC
in February 2012, the Group is required to establish
a safety fund surplus reserve based on the volume of
mineral ore extracted. The safety fund can only be
transferred to retained earnings to offset safety related
expenses as and when they are incurred, including
expenses related to safety protection facilities and
equipment improvement and maintenance as well as
safety production inspection, appraisal, consultation and
training.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the
share premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to retained earnings should
the related options expire. As at 31 December 2023,
there were no expired share options due to resignation
(2022: Nil), which was transferred to accumulated losses.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represented the Group's capital
injection to subsidiaries by way of transfer from retained
profits in 2012.

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

#E @

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

B R
BERAEFIERQTE AU BT
BrRRHEBILSAEMET
By 2 A B g 10 TE {8 22 i H B 4%
THEZGHMERENERE
BEEANZEFREANBEES
H{EATRZ BAELR-

R ESHIARMRB
RETEMBBRERZEEE
EEEERBN2012F 25
BN —RIARNZ2LEEENE
Mo RERAERAREEMN
UREESFERFRFE - Z2ES
[EERRZE2ERBAXESLE
BB E R T AN LU A RS
X BEERERERRER
T REEURZEEERSE 5
i~ SR R SR A RRIR ST ©

A7 HATE (i
ROMBEBRFRSRHERR
TENRNDABNATE E—
THARFEEMHBRRME2 .4
BRAMNRNG BERTR G5
E o 2R AR AR R HA R 1T
EREEERN EER HEHE
HAEEMNBEL TERERT
BH R2023F 128310 i &
BR B 1 1T 2w B9 AR 19 A (2022
F |8 BEBRERBE

RN
BAAEIEAEER201261518
fEER SR T AT S
By o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 30. EEEKRIEEZERERN
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS EEREFAT

Details of the Group's subsidiary that has material non- BEEARFEREGZNAERTF LB
controlling interests are set out below: FEIREEIWT -

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
Percentage of equity interest held by IR PRI I AR 2 Y
non-controlling interests: Bt
Sichuan Haoyuan ma)l175= 49% 49%
Total comprehensive loss for the year PDEEFERERNERN
allocated to non-controlling interests: S HEEIBREE
Sichuan Haoyuan )= (617) (266)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling 7 ¥R4 B EARYIEIE AR ME
interests at the reporting date: RETHEER -
Sichuan Haoyuan a)E= 294,014 294,631

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial

information of the above subsidiary.

TRAPULFRENFEHMFER

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥Fx AR®ET T
Other income and gain H AW A K W &= 327 -
Other expenses HfaZ (1,586) (539)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FERNEEEIEB%E (1,259) (539)
Current assets TMENEE 944 1,406
Non-current assets EMENEE 660,140 659,900
Current liabilities mENEE (61,056) (60,019)
Net cash flows from operating activities #EEFFISNIRES REFEB 296 356
Net cash flows (used in)/from REFS (ER) BN
investing activities REREFE (302) 230
Net cash flows used in financing activities B EEEFERANIR S REFE8 - (575)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRIBEEEY OBl
cash equivalents N 28 (6) 11
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had a non-cash decrease of bills receivable
and other borrowings of RMB2,496,000 (2022:
RMB84,000), respectively, in respect of the
payment satisfied by bills receivable.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had a non-cash decrease to due to related
parties of RMB1,016,000 (2022: RMB9,402,000),
in respect of offsetting against due from related
parties of RMB1,016,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had a non-cash increase to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,433,000
(2022: RMB23,405,000) and RMB3,433,000
(2022: RMB23,405,000), respectively, in respect
of the lease addition for plant and machinery.

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group had a non-cash increase to mining
infrastructure and provision for rehabilitation
of RMB714,000 (2022: RMB1,296,000) and
RMB714,000 (2022: RMB1,296,000), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had a non-cash increase to other payables
of RMB40,524,000 in respect of addition to
mining rights as included in intangible assets.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

meRERERMEE

(a)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

FTEFRERH

REZE2023F12831H 1k
FE AERBFBAUER
ZRENRIBNERE
BEREMESIFRSED
DRAE AR 182,496,000

(20224 : AE"84,000

1) O

REZE2023FE12831H 1k
FE CAEEBFBAARIE
1 FE W A B 5 R IB A R I
1,016,0007T BY FE 1 RA 8%
FREFRERLVAAR
#1,016,0007C (20224 :
AR #9,402,0007T) ©

REZE2023F12831H 1k
FE - KAERBEHARE
WREERENERES
ERBESEIFRSIEM
DRIAANE#3,433,000
T (20228 1 AR
23,405,0007T) R AR #
3,433,0007T (20224 @ A
R #823,405,0007T) °

REZE2023F12H31H
FFE AERNRER
BRERBEIFREIE
map A AREE714,000
7t (2022 1 AR
1,296,00070) M AR
714,00077 (20224 AR
#1,296,0007T) °

FRELE2023F12831H L
FE AEEERAES
ABTEENREENE
A RIBEIFIR S E M A
A 1§40,524,0007T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 31. ZERERERMFT @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MBEFHFIEEEMEN
financing activities 25
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZF2023F12831HLEFE

Bank and Amounts due
other Interest to related Lease
borrowings payable parties liabilities
RITR P&
Hithfg & RS BBARE HEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AR¥TRT AR¥TR AR®BTR
At 1 January 2023 720231818 91,108 954 5,905 24,738
Changes from financing MEREMELEH
cash flows (6,018) (4,659) - (6,036)
New lease (note 14(b)) HEE (fFEE14(0)) - - - 3,433
Interest expense (note 6) FIERE (5k6) - 4,314 - 1,071
Exchange realignment FEREE = = = 7
Payment satisfied by DU R R E M RIS
bills receivable (2,496) - - -
Payment satisfied by MEERHEECHTIE
debt offsetting - - (1,016) -

At 31 December 2023 112023F12H31H 82,594 609 4,889 23,213

220
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

(b)

(o)

At 1 January 2022

Changes from financing
cash flows

New lease (note 14(b))

Interest expense (note 6)

Payment satisfied by
bills receivable

Payment satisfied by
debt offsetting

At 31 December 2022

4= A

2 =

R e

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
(note 14(c))
Within financing activities

31. ZRHRERERMT @
(b) RBEEBFFEL&EMFN
EE) B
HZE2022F12831HIEEE
Bank and Amounts due
other Interest to a related Lease
borrowings payable parties liabilities
RIT K 1T
Hiig 8 EEME BB ARIE HEaR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AR®Tx ARBTT ARETT
1202251818 92,192 534 13,069 2,705
MEREMEE
(1,000) (3,973) 2,238 (2,034)
MEE (H5E14(0)) - - - 23,405
FEFZ (Mzke) - 4,393 - 662
MW ERECHRIE
(84) - - -
MNEIERHEENOTRIE
- - (9,402) -
72022%F12831H ﬂ 954 ﬂ ﬂ
(C) *ﬂgmiﬁﬁ/mﬂj @\gﬁ
FARERERNEERER
MEREINT -
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TT AE®BFT
R EEENA (F5E14(0))
140 263
RREEEA 6,036 2,034
6,176 2,297
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

32.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT

As disclosed in the Company’s annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
entered into a sales and purchase agreement with Chengyu
Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd. (“Chengyu Vanadium
Titano") on 29 January 2019 in respect of the disposal of Huili
Caitong and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Huili Caitong Group”) with the consideration of
RMB550,000,000. Upon the completion of the disposal on 30
July 2019, the Huili Caitong Group (i) has ceased to be the
subsidiaries of the Company; and (ii) has become subsidiaries of
Chengyu Vanadium Titano.

Prior to the disposal of the Huili Caitong Group, the
Company had provided guarantee on the indebtedness of
the Huili Caitong Group owed to certain banks and an asset
management and financial services institution in the PRC (the
“CVT Guarantees”). The indebtedness has not been repaid and
the CVT Guarantees continued as at 31 December 2023. The
Company’s obligations under the CVT Guarantees have been
counter-indemnified by Chengyu Vanadium Titano. Details about
the CVT Guarantees and the counter-indemnity are included in
notes 34(b)(i) and (ii) to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. As at 31 December 2023, the maximum amount
of the CVT Guarantees amounted to RMB690,000,000 (2022:
RMB690,000,000).

The CVT Guarantees are measured at the higher of the
ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance
is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based
on the expected payments to reimburse certain banks and an
asset management and financial services institution for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from Huili Caitong Group. The amount initially
recognised representing the fair value at initial recognition of
CVT Guarantees was not significant. During the year ended 31
December 2023, no ECL allowance should be recognised as a
provision (2022: Nil).

The credit exposure of CVT Guarantees is classified as stage 1.
During the year, there were no transfers between stages (2022:
Nil).

32.
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32.

33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACT
(Continued)

On 27 March 2024, the Company has been notified by Huili
Caitang that a litigation has been commenced by China
Construction Bank Corporation, Liangshan Branch* (AR &
BITRRMDBRABIRWSDTT) (the “CCB”) against Huili Caitong
in the PRC (the "Litigation”), for principal indebtedness of
RMB276.9 million and interest thereof (which Huili Caitong
is still in the midst of verifying and confirming the related
calculations) owing by Huili Caitong under loan facilities granted
by the CCB, on which the Company has provided a corporate
guarantee prior to the disposal of Huili Caitong Group in July
2019.

Having considered (i) the financial position of Huili Caitong and
its subsidiary, Xiushuihe Mining as at 31 December 2023 and
(ii) the value of inventories pledged in favour of the Company
(Note 34(b)(ii)) and with reference to the opinion of the Group's
lawyer, the Group does not expect the Litigation to have
material impact on its business operations and financial position
as at the date of this report.

Details are set out in the Company's announcement dated 28
March 2024.

* English name is for identification purpose only.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: BT BRERE .

— Acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

— Integration of mineral rights
for the existing Maoling-

Yanglongshan Mine

BAmEER

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
totalling RMB5,000,000 in relation to the investment in joint
ventures.

—WEEYIE BB K

32.

33.

—MIREEE-FRLUER

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

HBEEFERSN @)

R2024F3827H A AR EGIEMBES
WMo PEEREBTROVERABRLSY
FEF)RTRERHEIEGEN
ek (TZafshl) > SR BEMBRET
MEREAS ARE276 OB B TR EF B
(BEMBENEZE KEIEETE) »
MARABFR2019F78 HETBMRE
Ea—EFILRHATER

BRERBNGEMBERETARSKARE
ER2023F 12831 BB BRI 5 i)
UARBAS@m ANERENEFEETE (F
5E34(b)(i1) " U KRB EREBEBRMNE
RoAEBERZFATEHHEEE A
MEZHNEBE BV BRLERSE

RE o

HEBEEN AR HEEA2024F3828H

YN

* EXLFEEHAS

B Kz
AEERNREARE U TFESEE |

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥F T
3,062 -

= 98,222

RHREPR AEBEBEEHEARE
5,000,000 0 &I BN S E R XMW
ERRe
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. BAERAE RSB
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) REAHMBRREMIBO DT
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had IZZ 290 AREE TR F A B R

the following transactions with related parties during the B HEITUTRS !
year:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 51 AR#TT AR¥FTT
Revenue generated from the BT RBEIRHEEE
rendering of facility management &R R E £
services: WA (i)
- to Yanyuan Xigang — B R 7 il 1,964
— to Xiushuihe Mining —FHIKANESE 7,427
— to Huili Caitong — BB 9,349
Revenue generated from the MU TABRMEHE
rendering of payroll services: ARFEFREERUWA - (if)
— to Xiushuihe Mining —FHIKAHEEE -
— to Huili Caitong —ZIEE =
Other income generated from AU TRBEIRHEFE
providing financial guarantee: BIRPTE LN EM
N (iii)
— to Xiushuihe Mining — KA B ZE 250
— to Huili Caitong —ZIEMBE 8,375
Purchase of raw materials: EBEREME
— Huili Caitong —ZBE 101
- Xiushuihe Mining —FHIKAEE 25
- Yanyuan Xigang — B R 5 3 40

// \\
(224
(224
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)
Notes:

Yanyuan Xigang, Xiushuihe Mining, Huili Caitong
and the Group are ultimately controlled by the same
beneficial owners. The Group has entered into facility
management services contracts for provision of a wide
range of facility management services from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025, with Yanyuan Xigang,
Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong, respectively.

With respect of the facility management services, the
Group entered into individual separate agreement for
each project in relation to detailed service scopes and
fees with Yanyuan Xigang, Xiushuihe Mining and Huili
Caitong, respectively. The above service fees under the
facility management services contracts were arrived after
arm’s length negotiation between the Group and each
of the above related parties, with reference to (i) the
scope of services required; (ii) the types and locations of
the facilities; (iii) the number of labours involved; and
(iv) cost-plus pricing model.

The Group has entered into payroll services contracts
for the period from 11 May 2022 to 11 August 2022,
with Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong, respectively.
The Group charged 0.1% of the amounts of employee
benefits which were paid by the Group on behalf of
Xiushuihe Mining and Huili Caitong. No such payroll
services provided for the year ended 31 December 2023.

As mentioned in note 34(b), the Group provides
guarantees for Huili Caitong Group and charges
apportioned pro rata guarantee fee based on the

maximum guaranteed amount.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

34. FAMIE X5 @
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#> NBERR2023F 181
HZE2025%12831HRHEHT
[EI LA RV 8 hE B IR AR TS o

MRMEERBMS > ~EH
EmsrlRkFEE R ERH
BURPRIE s FACTRE R GIE
MBSRITILRERNEERN
ek o LR B R IEE IEARES
BHREORBERER
EEE PR S ATE
BREE ETE2EMSB
RFBEE ;()RMEE K
B (i) RNFEFTIAY; &
(VBN EBEL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ir e M HRAR M

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Other transactions with related parties
(i) Prior to the completion of the disposal of Huili

Caitong Group, the Company provided the
CVT Guarantees in favour of the Huili Caitong
Group, which was with the aggregate maximum
guaranteed amount RMB690,000,000 as at 31
December 2023. The principal terms of the CVT
Guarantees are set out as follows:

Borrower
A

Huili Caitong
2B

Huili Caitong
SIEH@

Xiushuihe Mining
FK AR

Huili Caitong
BIEEE

// \\
[ 226 )
(226

Lender and
beneficiary of
the guarantee

ERMARERZEA

China Cinda Asset
Management Co., Ltd,
Sichuan Branch

HFEEEESEEERMNERAD

DR E
Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch
RETERITROBRAE
RUW AT
Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited,
Liangshan Branch
FETHRTRMERAA
R ATT
China Construction
Bank Corporation,
Liangshan Branch
PEIERIBITRNBRAR
RURTT
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(b) ERAEAHIEMIS

0]

Guarantor

EERA

the Company
F /N

the Company
KA FE]

the Company
PN/NC|

the Company
/NS

REREESEREER
g ARBIUEEMBEE
B %S5 AFH P E E
AR 220238128318
HNRBEFREBAARE
690,000,0007T © A B #8 £k
ERNEZETWT -

Maximum

guaranteed
amount
REERE
RMB'000
ARHET 7T

200,000

70,000

20,000

400,000

690,000



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Other transactions with related parties
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(i)

Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Trisonic
International are ultimately controlled by the
same beneficial owners. A counter-indemnity has
been entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company for the respective period
from 30 July 2019 to the date of the release
of the CVT Guarantees. Chengyu Vanadium
Titano's inventories (including, but not limited to,
structural steels and coals) with the aggregate
amount of approximately RMB1,033,661,000
have been pledged as security for such counter-
indemnity at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB944,800,000).

Outstanding balances with related
parties
Details of the Group's balances with its related parties as

at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note

20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
Details of Directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments,

including compensation of key management personnel,

are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial

statements.

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
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34. RIS 5 @)
BB ANEMRZ S @)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(i)

BY A 37 8K K & Bl B PR
A—iIETHEEARRK
el o BRSNS B AR A B
Pl RBERE > FHA
2019 7H30HEEF
E#HS®RERBEREL A
1E 720235128318 >
BRI SRR PN
1,033,661,0007% (2022
F : NE#944,800,000
7T WEE (BFEERER
BEAMMKER) BB
HIEAZRBERSENS
by

£ R Bk 75 Y Il oK WK ] 45 B

P3RS B R A B L BB 5 4
BREVEE IR I AR G M B 3R & MY 5520

WEE-

FERTEEEAEN

fafE
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. REHATHMEMTA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

ERTHMTANKRSBROKRESEN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
Financial assets EHMEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR®EF T
Financial assets at amortised cost R A G BN EE
Trade receivables [EULBR TR 100,290 204,579
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATEIRIE#F& K&
deposits and other receivables HihEWHRIBN /RS E 3,136 2,908
Due from related parties PEURRA B 75 =18 2,346 1,070
Pledged deposits BEEHRER 25 26
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBEEEY 8,038 9,357
113,835 217,940
Financial assets at fair value through A FEGETMREEZE A
other comprehensive income Btz m a0 % it B E
Bills receivable R Ex 19,566 2,696
133,401 220,636
Financial liabilities ETHaE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBEFTT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost A ENZMEE
Trade payables FETBR AR 71,029 35,057
Other payables and accruals HAEN B R ETRIE 106,461 57,740
Due to related parties FE 1< B8 Bk 75 =R 18 4,889 5,905
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITREMEBE
other borrowings 82,594 91,108
Lease liabilities HEEE 23,213 24,738
288,186 214,548

// \\
(228 )
(228
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36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values are as explained below:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets, amounts due from related parties, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to related parties
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The finance department led by the Group's executive directors
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The
corporate finance team reports directly to the chief executive
officer and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the
corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the financial controller. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

36.

iR M B RARMIEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE
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BB RN T

EEEBNEREAREEEY BER
TR BUSRRRRE stARNRIE
HtEWRBEREMEENTREE
FE WS R Bk 75 TROR ~ PR BR AR~ T A EL MR
RENEZMERE StRRITRAME
EUKREMRBERENATFEIER
THAZIHAM B AR E S REAE S o

HAEERTESRENYHHBEEH
EEMITEATEFENBRRERERT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and
bank balances, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets and amounts due from related parties, which arise
directly from its operations. Financial liabilities of the Group
mainly include financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, trade payables, amounts due to related parties and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
which is led by the Group's executive directors. The Group's
finance department identifies and evaluates financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The main
risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group's financial risk management policy is to ensure that
adequate resources are available to manage the above risks
and to create value for its shareholders. The Directors regularly
review these risks and they are summarised below.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and
financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

P75 R b IR B R R BER

FrEENERNEETZOREERBE
BEENRERBITES SBERER
FEURBR AR 3R 4B ~ 5T A TR FRIE ~ H &
WHRIERHMEENEREE R ER
Mo R - AEENERERETES
YEET AN E Ath B8 (S 7RI K FE 5T IR Ay S R
B8 FEATBRAR ~ FE(T BB 75 RUBE LUK 51
BIRITREMEE-

MEBEAEERNTEFNEETET
ERER rEEMBHRALEREE
MRS aEHH KA EHBR
o AERETMTAMEENETZAR
BEAPMRR FIXEAR- EFERRK
HNES R g o

AEENUBEREEBRRSTRERS
EHEREELMER TRAKRRAE
BE-EETEHEZE AR RSN
o

EN 1 ELER
rEEBREEHSRAERSREE
MEBRAEBEEFRSRENE  BE
HARHNESERAR -
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to
maintain adequate cash flows from operations and successfully

renew its interest-bearing bank and other borrowings to meet its

debt obligations as they fall due.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

Due to related parties

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities

Due to related parties

SRROTREMEER

RN

AN BRI A
BE&R
ENBHATE

sTERITRHMEE
AR

AN RERENE
EE&R
EABHAR

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE
37. MBRBEEBERBE
(%)
/}lL@j I’iﬂpﬂi (#)

FEBRNRMEETEEURNHETHE
BEERERENNRE R URES
RRInEM AT RIRTREMEEURETT
HEREHEE-

REREHR cEAEREEERGH
REERARBHARNT ¢

2023
20235
On Less than 3 3to 12 1to2 2t05 Over 5
demand months months years years years Total
BREX  OR3ER  3E12ER 1225 1E5E BiAsE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARBTR ARETz ARETR ARETR ARBTR AREBTR
- - 73,080 15,421 - - 88,501
71,029 - - - - - 71,029
48,469 - 6,250 21,631 20,837 18,700 115,887
- 298 2,880 5,494 3,495 18,058 30,225
4,889 - - - - - 4,889
124,387 298 82,210 42,546 24,332 36,758 310,531
2022
2002E
Less than 3 3to 12
On demand months months  1to2years 2to5years Over 5 years Total
X OR3ER 3E12EAR 1526 2E5F BIESE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFT ARETR ARETn ARETn ARBTR ARETR ARET:
- 78,990 12,579 - - - 91,569
35,057 - - - - - 35,057
57,040 - - 700 - - 57,740
2,229 286 1,056 3,669 3,670 26,606 37,516
5,905 - - - - - 5,905
100,231 79,276 13,635 4,369 3,670 26,606 227,187
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily
to the Group's bank deposits and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment
of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are disclosed in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure
arising from all of its interest-bearing loans through the use of
fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Substantial amounts of the Group's cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits are held in major reputable financial
institutions located in Mainland China and Hong Kong, which
management believes are of high credit quality. The credit risk
of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise trade and
bills receivables, other receivables and amounts due from related
parties, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group has no other financial assets which carry significant
exposure to credit risk.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group sells most of the products to a small number of
customers. As a result, it faces a high level of concentration of
credit risk. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
a concentration of credit risk as 86% (2022: 97%) and 100%
(2022: 100%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively. The Group manages this risk by offering credit
terms ranged from one month to four months to its customers
for the sale of self-produced products and its trading customers
because market conditions remained weak. The Group
maintains strict control over its outstanding receivables and
senior management regularly reviews the overdue balances. In
addition, the Group's exposure to credit risk is also influenced
by the individual characteristics of each customer and default
risk of the industry in which customers operate. During the
year, the Group generated its revenue mainly from the sale of
iron products and the trading of steels to the steel producers
and distributors that purchase the Group’s products and resell
them to steel producers. In addition, the Group also generated
revenue from the rendering of specialised mining services and
consultancy and management service to other customers. In this
regard, the Group is exposed to the concentration of credit risk
in the steel and iron industries.

B EREEBRERER
(#)

== LB
AEEEHNHEARTERAEER
AHERU R BERTREMEEEM-
Bt BIRIT R L1 15 R BB
REAMBREM E25KE -

FEBRMBEENXEELEGFEEMN
FIEERNREREBMEER - ILIh > &
EEIENBEATRERE R ERER

2
)
2N

EERE

FEBEBRABONRERREFED R
CERGEREFRNTEARESEE
RISk EEEREZSE
RiEBEARFNEEER - FERHEM
THEE (BEBBIRRRRE HME
W R A K FE U BR B 5 RIR) RIS B R
HRRZEFHEIREMEL  MAAE
HNERsEBREEFNZEIENKAES
BEoAEEUTEAMERNEERAANSE
REERE -

AR e M B IRERW 4P E > AEE
AOBERHEEABLER WEER
MEAEF - PIREHEFR > AREWER
MABZERIB6% (20224F © 97%) K 100%
(20224F 1 100%) D RIREAEER K
EAABEER BAEEERHEFREER
fro BN mRFE RN ABEILRAR
AEEAHEREERNEAKERSE
FRENF—EAZEEEENEAE-
2 £ (B 4 155 5 18] SR U [ FE W RN IE Y &R AR
ZH WHEREERE T IHER AR
Mot REBMBEASNEERBINS
FLEPNERNSMEREREETEN
BRI E -FR ZEBMNKAE
ZREMMNEEESUREELAERE
I EBEFMEEERmNoHEHEE
EmUEEITIMEE 5 o b RERD
WATRREAEME FIREEEHER
BUKBREREERS it A&EE®\
HUEERBREPPIE RETE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F 128310 LEEE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MHERBEEBERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Credit risk (Continued) EERKE @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERERELZEE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRETERAEBEFEERRNEEER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, ZEkEEEERAR FERERNAHRER
which is mainly based on past due information unless other PRIFEEMBER TR BTEEBLHA
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- BB RTER > UERR128318
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts NEFEEEERD B - MEFNEBEREME
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. ERmAEEE-
As at 31 December 2023 2023%E12831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1208 7H
EREX ZHRBEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
2 P& Ex2 PR EL3 [k [PapA szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFRT AREFRT AREFR AREFRT AREBTFR

Trade and bills receivables @  FEUER TR ZE 50 - - - 119,856 119,856
Financial assets included STABARIE
in prepayments, other HitEWHIE R
receivables and other assets HMBENSHEE
— Normal ® —Eg® 3,136 - - - 3,136
- Doubtful © — B R - - 606 - 606
Due from related parties FEWRK AR08 2,346 - - - 2,346
Cash and cash equivalents  RERRELEEY 8,038 - - - 8,038
Pledged deposits BEHRER 25 - - - 25
13,545 - 606 119,856 134,007
(a) For trade and bill receivables to which the Group applies the (a) ThAEEERRERC A ENEIER
simplified approach for impairment, information based on the MEEBEME ERNEEEENER
provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated RERE M IRRM 199 8E -

financial statements.

(b) The credit quality of the financial assets included in (b) Bt ABIRE -EMEKRRERE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered HEENEMREERAR BUEE
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no HETREMEENEEREBVATR
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant RUURKIBIEME > EMEENEE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, BEWRATER)  SHEREEN
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be EEERWRAIMEE -

“doubtful”.
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F 128310 LEEE
37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MBRARBEEBEFRKREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) REARRELZEER (8)
As at 31 December 2022 7202212 831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A TEH
ERBEX L HBHRERBE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PR LT 2] P& 3 BIEH % st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFT AREBTFT ARETR ARETT AREFT
Trade and bills receivables @ FEUER TR Z#0 - - - 209,949 209,949
Financial assets included STATBMA A
in prepayments, other HMEWRIER
receivables and other assets EIEENESHEE
— Normal © —Eg® 2,906 - - - 2,906
- Doubtful © — R REY - - 606 - 606
Due from related parties MW B RE A =R 1,070 - - - 1,070
Cash and cash equivalents  IRERREEEY 9,357 - - - 9,357
Pledged deposits BEHREN 26 - - - 26
13,359 - 606 209,949 223,914
(a) For trade and bill receivables to which the Group applies the (a) A E EFE A RERL A AN EER

simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(b) The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
"doubtful”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group's foreign currency exposures arise primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely HKD,
USD and SGD, against the functional currencies of the respective
entities within the Group.

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
Management monitors the Group's foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0%
change in RMB against HKD, USD and SGD, respectively. The
5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analyses of the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk at the end of each reporting period have
been determined based on the adjustment of translation of
the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of each reporting
period for a 5.0% change in RMB against HKD, USD and SGD,
respectively, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2023
(due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash equivalents
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
denominated in HKD, USD and SGD):

Increase/(decrease) in profit

before tax

If RMB strengthens against HKD, HMARERBIT ETK
USD and SGD Frns oo

If RMB weakens against HKD, MARBRBIT ETK
USD and SGD N3 T eSS

maiFEEm, GRL)

37.

e BB ER R M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

M5 EREREIEE R REBUER

(#)
1 2 B
AEENNEAREBRAINE (BB

o E TR RAEE R AR
EIEM A B E R -

FERTEETENEPIRZUEEE
ERNEB RS EEEERAEENI
KRR TRNAREREBHAPEKR
BYSMNIE R o

TERABAREDH R BT ETK
NI T HIR5.0% ZE IR E 5.0%
TREEEIEEEASERE KRR
Rt TR EEEHIMNEERS
BRI EgHT o HAEENSRE
HRBINERBRSREDN > HER

EHFAMEEREERER HAER
HE2023F12B31HIEFEEMNRATF)HE
EBARB DR RABT =AM
TCHIR5.0% 2 ERRE (RN E T =
TR T ENRERIREEEY

TMEENATEED S

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥F T
(31) (37)

31 37
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)
The Group does not consider that it has any significant exposure
to the risk of fluctuation in the exchange rates between HKD/
USD/SGD and RMB as a reasonable possible change of 5% in
RMB against HKD/USD/SGD would have no significant financial
impact on the Group’s profit or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders or raise new capital from its investors.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing financial risk during the year.

The Group will minimise the capital expenditure and renew
or extend its short-term loans as part of capital management.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by total equity plus net debt. The Group’s policy
is to keep the gearing ratio between 20% and 40% over the
long term. Net debt is defined as interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash
equivalents and it excludes liabilities incurred for working capital
purposes. Equity includes equity attributable to the owners of
the Company and non-controlling interest. As at 31 December
2023, the gearing ratio was 9.4% (2022: 10.3%).

B EREEBRERER
(4)

sh s ELIR ()

MR AR R BT, 5T/ R
ABAREBS%E TS H S EENE
BEEMEAMBEE WALERA
H it WE BT, %70 TR A
REHEAEXHHAR

BEAXER

FEBREAEENTIEZEENARELRE
ERBEENENREFRREFNERL
o DXFHEZREERERREE

FEREBEEEAER LEELHER
MECHEZRB -REFARAEER
R AEENGTHBERRRIKTHR
BEHMEKREEZEMER - FRLE
HEEVHERNER BERNEFF
AR R -

NEFREBEER /D EARST I EERIE
EEEHAERFABEAEE D &
EEMNEESXEZESE A ZLEXES
B FEFUEREERINEREFE-
REBNBRAREELERBERSN
20%E40% 2 [E c BRI FREH R E ST
BRTEKEMBEEURHEES®E Ik
HeERRSEEYW BU LB EREE
BEtHaMEENBE - HaGEHEB
RARBIEB AN ER R IEEREE
R2023F12831H  BELLEX%E9.4%
(20224 :10.3%) ©
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‘ 3 ‘ CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
N Yy,



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A M BRI

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. AARMBEIFEIRARE
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RREBREARBDFHFRARNER W
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 155
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AR¥ETF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFRAENRE 558,171 553,237
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 558,171 553,237
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Dividend receivable FEUWRG B 17,156 17,156
Due from subsidiaries FEWF A BIFRIA 146,194 139,642
Prepayments, other receivables and TAMRRIE ~ Mt EUERIE K
other assets Hth&EE 218 218
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 308 105
Total current assets REBEESE 163,876 157,121
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Due to subsidiaries S T RABIFIE 57,107 55,678
Due to the ultimate holding company FE(S RAL IR A BIFNIE 1,774 1,447
Other payables and accruals H A RIB M ES A 16,878 16,658
Total current liabilities mENBEMEEE 75,759 73,783
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEEE 88,117 83,338
Net assets BEFE 646,288 636,575
EQUITY Hxm
Issued capital BEITRA 197,889 197,889
Reserves (note 29) R (M5E29) 448,399 438,686
Total equity R mARER 646,288 636,575
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ITE M B EHRRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12831HIEEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. BRTNHBEIRRER @
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: M -
The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows: RABEBENEBUT :
Share Share
premium option  Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
RIPEER RS ES T &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BFR AR®F T AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2022 R2022E181H 1,877,488 9,121 (1,449,258) 437,351
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNEEWNELEE - - 1,335 1,335
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 320225128318 &
2023F181H 1,877,488 9,121 (1,447,923) 438,686
Total comprehensive income for the year FARAEEmWELEEE - - 9,713 9,713
At 31 December 2023 2023FE12831H 1,877,488 9,121 (1,438,210) 448,399
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share BRI FEEEEEEERRITEN
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further BRDHENATE E—FTHMBEES
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in BAFS R R M2 4B RIS (D A E RN
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount TG EE LN IER N ER A E
will either be transferred to the share premium account when TERE R E IR R EEE > 1 EREER
the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained EE MBS R TEBREEEFNE-
profits should the related options expire.
39. EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING 39. HREHAKREBSEIH
PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial iz RREMIBOFAIREEIN
statements, since 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this B2023F 1283 1HEREEAREZH
report, no significant events affecting the Group have taken b ST ERERFNE ARSI
place.
40. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 40. HUELREMBRR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and BEEGRN2024FE3828BHERIEET
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March B BBk E -
2024.
7N
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

published audited financial statements, is set out below.

Results

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gain
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment
Reversal of impairment
losses on trade receivables, net
Impairment losses on financial assets
included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Impairment losses on assets held for sale
Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income tax credit/(expense)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from
discontinued operations

Gain on disposal of
discontinued operations

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

HREEER
KA
HEME

el

HftA R Mz
HERDHEFZ
THRX
HithhI%
MEBERRERESR
YRR ERSE
BEFHE
stATRRUR  HAt R
MERHMEEN
SHEERERR
REHEBERERR
BERE

HEGEEBRAAE

FiisiiER/ (H%)

RECEEBERNR
BRIEGEEH
BRIECEEBENGR

HEBRIEREERNNE

FRFE/ (B8

Five-Year Financial Summary

hEMBRE

MBERRE
TXHIFEEBE R BN REENES &
B afRIEERRBHEE HEREE AN

KEZYBREKR
E
E =l
For the year ended 31 December
HENANNBLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFRT AR#ETT AR#ETT AR#ETT ARETFT
(Re-presented)
(fmE5)
784,951 725,869 714,760 488,135 517,637
(748,417) (700,591) (690,098) (441,548) (477,107)
36,534 25,278 24,662 46,587 40,530
17,244 8,371 3,888 3,864 409
(2,254) (904) (373) (4,572) (9,194)
(21,783) (21,592) (19,003) (30,515) (22,034)
(9,980) (4,198) (2,288) (3,212) 417
2,674 4,530 4,130 1,479 8,844
= @ - - (604)
(8,323) (5,965) (5,393) (5,598) (3,139)
14,112 5,518 5,623 8,033 14,395
(5,032) (4,480) (4,641) 250 (6,091)
9,080 1,038 982 8,283 8,304
- - (4,107) (32,675) (100,914)
- - 10,723 - 152,997
9,080 1,038 7,598 (24,392) 60,387
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LFEMBGRE

For the year ended 31 December

HENAHLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 20226 20215 20206 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AREBFT ARBFT ARBFT
(Re-presented)
(i 551)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hth2EKE/ (§58)
INCOME/(LOSS):
Other comprehensive income/(loss) IRARBREENDEE
that may be reclassified to profitor loss ~ B@MEMZE R,/
in subsequent periods: (B518)
Exchange differences on translation of BEBNEBEEN
foreign operations ERER 16 31 840 (1,770) 743
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/(LOSS) ERZERIE / (518) 48
FOR THE YEAR 9,096 1,069 8,438 (26,162) 61,130
Profit/(Loss) attributable to: i/ (BE) R
Owners of the Company EREEBA 9,697 1,304 8,311 (17,054) 69,199
Non-controlling interests FERER (617) (266) (713) (7,338) (8,812)
9,080 1,038 7,598 (24,392) 60,387
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2ENE/ (51B) L8
attributable to: BER
Owners of the Company KATEEA 9,713 1335 8,989 (18,489) 69,800
Non-controlling interests El32e 5 (617) (266) (551) (7,673) (8,670)
9,096 1,069 8,438 (26,162) 61,130
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) GEPRAATSERKE
per Share attributable to BEANERRMELRR
ordinary equity holders AR/ (B8
of the Company: (RMB cents) (AR®BD)
— continuing operations —FEREEY 0.43 0.06 0.04 0.42 0.52
— discontinued operations —BRIEREEKR - - 0.33 (1.18) 2.56
Total ‘it 0.43 0.06 0.37 (0.76) 3.08
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Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total equity
Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

FRYEE
RBEE
FRBEE
nEEE

BmAEm

kT

BERAADERANRE

Five-Year Financial Summary

LEMBGRE

BEE -RERIFERED

As at 31 December

1®12B31H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 2022 20215 20205 20195
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%ETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
1,062,481 961,450 915,436 913,733 944,738
244,853 237,140 246,178 311,899 325,194
(125,400) (35,453) (97,915) (25,352) (15,071)
(241,632) (231,931) (133,562) (284,828) (313,247)
940,302 931,206 930,137 915,452 941,614
(294,014) (294,631) (294,897) (289,201) (296,874)
646,288 636,575 635,240 626,251 644,740

7N
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Glossary

I

Unless otherwise specified in this annual report or the context BRIEXAFERFSBIEHANESEBFRE SRIT
otherwise requires, the following capitalised terms shall have the FEFAZAEBE MIEE !

following meanings:

“2019 Completion”
F20194 52 Al =

“2019 Counter Indemnity”

2019 & BERE bS]

“2019 Disposal”

M2019F HEFIH) bS]

“2019 Disposal Group”

M2019F HEEH) bS]
“2020 AGM”
M2020F REBIBFKRE) bS]

“2022 Counter Indemnity”

[2022F R BERE bS]

“2022 Framework Agreements”

Completion of the 2019 Disposal on 30 July 2019
12201978308 201 9F HEE A

a moveable asset pledge contract entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company on 30 July 2019, for the provision of counter-indemnity
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect of the
Company'’s contingent liabilities and potential claims under the CVT Guarantees (if
any), and the pledge of the Chengyu Vanadium Titano's inventories (including but
not limited to structural steels, coals etc) as security for such counter indemnity
AN A B AR A B 1020197 B308] U NS EE R & E > AE B B A 1 2L
KABRBZHAMEARABRNFPEAHKERTHNABEEERETHRE WAH) BH
REERE URERANRKNES (BEFEETRNEEAMIM IERE) 55
Z R MEREHNEIRY

the sale transaction of the Caitong Group from Sichuan Lingyu to Chengyu
Vanadium Titano which was entered into on 29 January 2019 and completed on
30 July 2019
72201981 H298 5T 72201947 B30 B 52 Ak F )1 )£ 180 6] A% JA $ 24 HH & B 48
EENXS

refers to the Caitong Group

U pEESE]

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 16 June 2020
1220206 B 16 B ETHRERBERE

the counter indemnity agreement entered into between Chengyu Vanadium
Titano and the Company on 16 May 2022 for the provision of counter-indemnity
by Chengyu Vanadium Titano in favour of the Company in respect of the
Company’'s contingent liabilities and potential claims covered under the Master
Guarantee Agreement (if any), and the pledge of Chengyu Vanadium Titano's
inventories (comprising structural steels and iron ores, or any other assets
approved by the Company) as security for such counter-indemnity

FAT N EA B AR R B 1020225816 He] U N R MERE 7= > WA A BRI 3L
UERBARZHAMEARTNEIHFRHE TDRENHNEEERETFER (WAH)
RERBERS UREFRANKNES (BEFEEAMMREBEANART
FANEAEMEE) (FRZRBERZNERY

collectively, the facility management services framework agreements entered into
between (i) Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Sichuan Lingwei; and (ii) Yanyuan
Xigang and Sichuan Lingwei, on 21 March 2022, respectively, in relation to the
provision of facility management services by Sichuan Lingwei to the other parties.
Please refer to Company's announcement dated 21 March 2022 for further details

F20225 2R 155 bS] uﬁﬂﬁ%m%%ﬁa (VSEBE FACUIEZE L) I1EE ; (i8R 7 K ra) 1 Z &
AR BN DERmEM AR HER HEIREREMMN 202243821 3T UNBHE
BRBIERGZ - E—THEF2REARE HEEA2022F3821HNRASE
/// B \\\
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“2023 Framework Agreements”

F2023FEZ W

“2023 EGM"
F2023F REHFRIAE

“2024 AGM"
M2024FE REBBFE KR

"Aba Mining”

imp= gy

"Aba Prefecture”

TRy M)

“Akuang Trading”

P A= & 5

“Anhydrite”

MEKAE]

“Articles”

T4BE

"Board”

EFg)

"BVI”
RERREE)

Glossary

Gl

collectively, the facility management services framework agreements entered into
between (i) Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Sichuan Lingwei; and (ii) Yanyuan
Xigang and Sichuan Lingwei, on 13 December 2022, respectively, in relation to
the provision of facility management services by Sichuan Lingwei to the other
parties. Please refer to Company's announcement dated 13 December 2022 and
circular dated 10 January 2023 for further details

DUF M B4R T8 (()V S IR AR ~ BIOR IR R I0) 1 D& Y 5 S (i) 8RR 75 8 B4 D)1 & Y
DRIFET) I DEEREM S RER M EEREMN 20226128 13857 L R
EERBERBR - E—FTFBRSHAEARTHAR2022F12813B2E R
HEF72023F1 8 10HHBX

the Shareholders’ extraordinary meeting held on 31 January 2023
20231 A3MBETHREEIARS

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting to be held on 24 May 2024
20245824 B THRRBEFKRE

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 27
February 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
fIEREEBRAB > —BR2004F2827HAEFRBERINEREELAE BER
BNEEEETAT

Aba Tibetan and Qiang Autonomous Prefecture

o] 355 el 1k ST i B 6 N

Huili Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC
on 13 June 2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BEMEEZARRE —ER2012F6 8 13BTERBEMIINEREERE] &
KABHNEEEZETFRE

an anhydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOs
— B R 58 % CaS0s

the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 4 September 2009 and as
amended from time to time

AT 2009984 H RN ST R FT BUAR B E= A2 4R A1

the board of Directors

E

the British Virgin Islands
HEBREIES
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Gl

"Caitong Group”

B pGESE

"CG Code”

rgEsral

“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”

ME AT 8

“China”, “"Mainland China”
or "PRC"
MR E ) 3 TR B P

“Company”, “our”, or “we

N/NCTRE AR A sl

“Chuan Wei"”
L

“close associates”
MEXREHEE A
“Companies Act”
A BE]

“connected person(s)”
MEAZE A L]

"Controlling Shareholder(s)”

refers to Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries, namely Xiushuihe Mining and
Panzhihua Yixingda Industrial Trading Co., Ltd.*, which engage in sale of self-
produced low-grade iron concentrates within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe
and have been disposed of by the Group on 30 July 2019

SEMBRAEFAR BIBKIBRERBRIEZHETEFREETAF) - HEH
ETFeB &M F53%E55%M B ERMABBEANER EN2019F78308HK
EEEE

refers to the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules that is applicable to the Corporate Governance Report for the Reporting
Period, unless otherwise specified
THRAINSCIPMEHBAN RS AN CEE ARENEEERTR ESHIE
BRE BRSO

Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd.*, formerly known as Weiyuan Steel
Co., Ltd.*, a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC on 3 April
2001 and a connected person of the Company
ORI R AR AR (AIBEEMMEERAR) » —fi2001F4838 T HER
UMPINEGELERE BEARFNVEABBAL

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
REARENE iAFERMS > FEEEH REREMFIITHR KRGS

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008

RN EREESRAT ) —R2008F48 280 EHEHEEMMIN AR
NS

Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 March 1998 and a connected person of the Company
mINEB)EREBRARAS > —BK1998FE3829B8 T RBIMIIMNBREERE
RANBINRAEAL

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B EHRAPTI TR &

the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the

Cayman Islands
FeEEEEENERENE (196154013 Rixa RIE:D)

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B EHRAPTR TR &

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and refers to Trisonic
International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang Jin, Shi Yinjun, Yang Xianlu, Wu
Wendong, Zhang Yuangui and Li Hesheng

MRS R B R TR E > WIS S AIBE s Kingston Grand~ T4~ GIRE L
E BEERE - RXEREE - REERERE=NBLE
7N
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"CVT Guarantees”

Feh [ 88 SR HE 1R

"Director(s)”

&%)

"Exploration Results”

U

“Financial Institutions’

M BhiAE)

“FY2022"
F20228f L E |

“FY2023"
F20230f B E |

"Group”
=S

“gypsum”
ey

“High-Fe Mining Operations”

Mm%

Glossary

Gl

guarantees given by the Company in favour of the Caitong Group guaranteeing,
inter alia, the indebtedness owing by any company(ies) in the Caitong Group to
certain banks and an asset management and financial services institution in the
PRC with original maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million, and as at
31 December 2023, RMB690.0 million

ARBUHBERAZTE AFHNER ER (EPEE WEEERNEAADE
RAEEFRITUR—EBEEEERESRBRBHEBNEGS RRSERERSAR
#730.08 870 112023F12831BAI B AR690.088 T

director(s) of the Company or any one of them

KABERN—RHABZRESR

exploration results include data and information generated by mineral exploration
programmes that might be of use to investors but which do not form part of a
declaration of mineral resources or ore reserves

BEEROESRIFREEN IHREECHRENMIRBEEE RENBEL
BEARSHBONBENER

chemical symbol of iron element

BT RMCERR

certain banks and an asset management and financial services institution in the
PRC in favour of which the Company entered into the CVT Guarantees with
an original maximum guaranteed amount of RMB730.0 million (the maximum
amount guaranteed under the CVT Guarantees as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB690.0 million) as security in relation to credit facilities granted to Huili
Caitong and Xiushuihe Mining, respectively
FEEFRITUKR—HEEEERTMBBEE  ARBUZFRTAREERT
m AT HREERER REsEREAARE730.088 T (102023F12831H
FEEKERNESEREAARKEI.0EET) FAERETEEMERS
KA 2 BV (5 B BB RV IE (R

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2022, as applicable

HZE2022F 12831 HIEHBEE R,/ 55120224128318 @ER)

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2023, as applicable
BE2023F 12831 B BFEER,5102023F128318 WER)

the Company and its subsidiaries
KRB REFRFE

a soft hydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOa + 2H20
—BE Sk EIEY) > (62 R CaS04 © 2H20

refers to operations of sale of self-produced high-grade iron concentrates within
the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe
HETFeR 2N T65%E72% M B E & (U HiE R =7
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“Hong Kong”
r&#)

“HKD*
=l

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
& B SIFR)

“Huili Caitong”

=L b6

“IFRS”

MER [ B 5 4R 5 2 A1

“Indicated”

T2l

“Inferred”

MHE R )

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEBRITHE

the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEEEER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARZMAERAHE

Huili Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.*, established in the PRC on 7 July 1998
and has been a foreign equity joint venture in the PRC since 29 December 2010,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company till 30 July 2019
BEDHBERKBRETRT K1998F7A7HBAEREMII > 520104128294
ERATENIIEEELELE EE2019F78308ALARRBNEREEE
FRF

International Financial Reporting Standards, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect

BB EER B MAEMBRERE S ERIESEHAERNEI REE B
REBEERGHEEZE G ENBR G EAREHRELZEGRE

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape
and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the
application of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEARPEEAMNE R (HEE) BE -HREAEREEOELERMGEN
D UBERAREFBENEITIRR XFESNEERI RETBBARKHETT
T

part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade (or quality) are estimated
on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence
is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade (or quality) continuity.
It is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes

BEERTERANERRMU (RNEE) JRBERENMEZBEMRERLESHE
Do MERBRENRE (BIFZE) E R (RNEE) NEEY ZHERRE
EREBREN - ERNSE KBTS MR LUE B R iR E BN R - SRR RORIE
EREL

/ AN
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“iron”

"

"iron concentrate(s)
TS

“iron ore(s)

M= a)

“iron pellet”

MK 5E

“JORC Code (2012 Edition)”

e RHEELZEGRE
(20124 FR) 4

“Kingston Grand”

I'Kingston Grand |

et
MW

“Ktpa”
[FMg, 4

Glossary

Gl

a silvery-white, lustrous, malleable, ductile, magnetic or magnetisable, metallic
element occurring abundantly in combined forms, notably in hematite, limonite,
magnetite, and taconite, and used in alloyed in a wide range of important
structural materials

—REIRHEN - -BNXE BN -IERE - BN AIRECNEBTE  UES
MEAKREFET TEAFEE GRE - MEERES CHZSEEEEBME
RAREGES

concentrate(s) whose main mineral content (by value) is iron

TEBRYRMG REE AEOEIE

compounds of iron and oxygen (iron oxides) mixed with impurities (gangue); it is a
mineral which when heated in the presence of a reductant will yield metallic iron

EEHE A WERFESY &tH) , 2E—BRERE —ENARERAE
B E BB

a round hardened clump of iron-rich material suitable for application in blast
furnaces

BERARSENBEXRECHE 2#ES

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999, 2004 and 2012, that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting

HRAR AR ASE RN EERIGE R MNEYEE GRS
HELZEGR1989FARE > WH 19924 ~ 19964 ~ 19994 ~ 20044F K201 25 & ]
REHFHRAFNADSEEHNEER BESREAITRFHENREHRA I
MARFRME N RERE EE RIS

Kingston Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
on 20 February 2007, holder of 40% of the issued share capital of Trisonic
International

Kingston Grand Limited > —fER2007F 2820 A HBRE L BESFMA IR
B A SAIER40%N B EITRA

kilometre(s), a metric unit measure of distance
NE> EE BB &R B

thousand tonnes

T8

thousand tonnes per annum

SETM
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“Listing Rules”
FEmRAL

“Maoling Extended
Exploration Area”

MEREMEE RS

“Maoling Mine”

EStEE i

“Maoling Processing Plant”

E=Na-d

“Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine”

MEfE—FRELEE

“Master Guarantee Agreement”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

EEBBRFES EHRA

formerly an independent exploration region with an area of 2.83 sq.km. covered
under the extended exploration permit of the Maoling Mine (covering 1.9 sq.km.
of the mining area of the Maoling Mine), and has been consolidated with the
Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 to form the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine

RAERARERYESHIEMBEEEER2BTHRE BE1ITHRENE
ERERETDR NBIHETEIE B2012F98 RHF USRS HAAEE—
FEE LR

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan Province,
with a mining area of 1.9 sg.km, which was integrated with the Yanglongshan
Mine under the mining licence issued by the Department of Natural Resources of
Sichuan Province on 6 May 2023 for the combined Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine
—EAIF )& X)) E RS RIREER1.9F A 2R REBEAM)IE 8
RERENR2023F586AM G HERE —FRILSRELNRBEFIEEFEEL
HEES

the ore processing plant located near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and
operated by Aba Mining
U EE—FRISENRIINIEARER B REELE

the combination of the Maoling Extended Exploration Area and the Yanglongshan
Mine (since September 2012), as operated by Aba Mining and integrated under
the mining licence issued by the Department of Natural Resources of Sichuan
Province on 6 May 2023 covering a total mining area of 2.7366 sg.km.
ERLEHAHERFEAFRLUBBESHMMA (5201209818 - A BRELE
WREBERMIIE BAERER2023F586 0 & MM REFoI SR G BHERK
IR £2.7366F 5 A E

the master guarantee agreement entered into between the Company, Huili
Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Chengyu Vanadium Titano on 16 May 2022 under
which the Company agreed to continue to provide the CVT Guarantees on certain
conditions

MEREIRIGR KNB) S BIRRIE ~ FACHIBZE K pAI iR 3K 7020225 8 16 H5T I M F R 7%
B ARBRABEERE TIRERMHPEEIRER
“Measured” part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape,
and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow
the application of modifying factors to support detailed mine planning and final
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit
TRBAL ﬁlgf*iéi}_q:ﬁ%%fﬁ%\u%fﬁ (REE2) BE-FRAAEREUEOEERGENE
TUEEREITIRR SRBESNARBERARETBRARRKKEATHT
Tﬁ
/// ) \\\
(| 248 | CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

N4



“mining right(s)"”

E2Rp

“Model Code”

MBS A

Mt
==y

“Net Profit”
T4EF)

“N/A”
T 38

"“ore processing”

MEa k)

“Panxi Region”

MEPaMIE |

“Panzhihua Yixingda”

MRt 7 BE

"Relevant Substantial
Shareholders”

MERMEEZRR)

“RMB"

TAE®E)

“Reporting Period”
R & B

“SEQ"

e s R E1RA)

Glossary

Gl

the right(s) to mine mineral resources and obtain mineral products in areas where
mining activities are licensed

REZNRETHRIDLENRRBEEE RKIRSEE R ER

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
L HRAIMERCIPTE M E BT AESETRS XS WRESTAH]

million tonnes

BEN

profit attributable to owners of the Company

BERARAEHER AT

not applicable
B

the process which in general refers to the extraction of usable portions of ores by
using physical and chemical extraction methods

MEYMEREBESARRBEATERBONERZLR

a region in Sichuan Province located at southwest of Chengdu reaching from
Panzhihua to Xichang
Mg —EE (IR AETH RS > BRRIEERE 2Bt EAER

Panzhihua Yixingda Industrial Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 July 2009 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company till 30 July 2019

BRIt BETIERREMEAE > —MBIR2009F 7898 EFREMIIMNBREE
AF BE2019F7A30B R LERAAFANEZEEEFAH

Mr. Wang Jin, Mr. Shi Yinjun, Mr. Zhang Yuangui, Mr. Li Hesheng and Mr. Wu
Wendong, are parties acting in concert and some of the substantial Shareholders
EHHRE-RRBARE - RESKE - FHUBEERRXRSLELE B—RTHHA
TRBITERS

the lawful currency of the PRC
FEDEEESHS

the year ended 31 December 2023
BZE2023F12B31HILEFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BBEPIBSNEEFRPEFRA (EREAET ~ B LUE th 75 TEDR)
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Glossary

50 =

"SGX-ST” Singapore Exchange and Securities Trading Limited

T3 32 P 5 WS ZMBRATR

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
HKDO.1 each

TR 17 15 RABIRARNE B > SREE.1ETT

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

MG R 5 3R EST=PN

“Shigou Gypsum Mine” Shigou gypsum mine located at Hanyuan County, Ya'an City, Sichuan Province,
with a mining area of 0.1228 sq.km.

TR EOERE 15 URONEEETERRNAEAERE KEAER0.1228F/F AR

“Sichuan Haoyuan” Sichuan Haoyuan New Materials Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established

in the PRC on 18 July 2011 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

)i 7&iE 5 mIEEEMMEERAS —BR2011E7B1SHEFEMIINERSEA
B BEARANFRAB) BAREEZERS %R AR

“Sichuan Lingwei” Sichuan Lingwei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 7 July 2021 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

o) 110% B 5 MINEZERMERBBRRAE > —BR2021F7A7HETERINAEREEA

B RARBNEEE2EF LT

“Sichuan Lingyu” Sichuan Lingyu Investment Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 June 2010 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

o)1z, 5 MINEEHREEEBRAT —ER2010F6 A8 THREM LN BREEA
8 ARRENEEEEFAT

“Sichuan Shengjiawei” Sichuan Shengjiawei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a Joint venture established in the
PRC on 15 December 2023, in which the Company indirectly owns 50% equity
interest

o)1 3% £ 15 MINEREENERBAERAS > —ER2023F128158BEREIRINEGEE

¥ HARBBEEERS0% R A SR

“Sichuan Xinglian” Sichuan Xinglian Mining and Technology Construction Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 June 2011 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company which was deregistered on 11 January 2023

Mo ) 1| 8 Bk 5 & EEEERMNM TRARAB > —RR201ME6B23BTERBERINAERE
FEAR BAERABNEEE2EFRE BR2023F18 118528
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“Sichuan Yufengwei”

M) 8 R

“SGD"

T N3 7Tl

“sg.km.”
ERRE)

“TEe"
[TFe

“Trisonic International”
=y -lJEy
“Type 331"
M&48331 ]
“Type 333"
[fE48333)

"USD"
&7t

“w.e.f.”

MEXH )

"Weixi Guangfa”

MErEeE)

“Wenchuan County”
-l

“Xinjin Mining”

(ZESRE)

Glossary

Gl

Sichuan Yufengwei Property Service Co., Ltd.*, a Joint venture established in the
PRC on 19 December 2023, in which the Company indirectly owns 50% equity
interest
mIEFERYMERBARRE ) —BR2023F 128198 EHRBEIRIINEGE ®
¥ AARRBEEEBS0% MK A i

the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore

IR BEDEE G

square kilometres

FHAR

the symbol for denoting total iron
RT2EORTIRE

Trisonic International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 19 July
2006 and a Controlling Shareholder
GRIERARAT > —BR2006F78 198 EEBFMMIN RG> BERKE

measured intrinsic economic resources (Type 331) as defined in the Classification
for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(ERBEER#EDH)MAENRBNANALEERE (BHH331)

inferred intrinsic economic resources (Type 333) as defined in the Classification for
Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(EREEER HEDE) MR ENRENNALEERE (B1H333)

the lawful currency of the United States of America
EHNREREEEET

with effect from

42 B B

Weixi Guangfa Iron Ore Development Company Limited*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 10 June 2005
HTEEEEEREAERAR > —BR2005F6 8 10REFREKIINEREEAR

Wenchuan County, Aba Prefecture, Sichuan Province

PO )11 Fa] 8B Ph 53 5

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 29 September 2010 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

BERHRECEEBRAR > —MBR2010F9829HEFER TN EREE LT
RARBINFAE > ARABEEHEBS1 %R A
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Glossary

Gl

“Xiushuihe Mining”

VST =

1

“Yanglongshan Mine”

FERE LSRR
“Yanyuan Xigang”
M2 R 75 5
“Yanyuan Xiwei"

&8 5 78

*  For identification purpose only

Huili Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 26 June 2007, an indirect subsidiary of the Company which owned
95.0% equity interest through Huili Caitong till 30 July 2019

BEBICUBEEBRAT > —ER2007F6 826 HEFREMRINBREELQE
BHE2019F7A30B AL AR AC BB TEN BHAEN.0%RARDNEREFA
i

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan Province,
formerly an independent exploration region with an area of 8.79 sq.km.
covered under the exploration permit of the Yanglongshan Mine, and has been
consolidated with the Maoling Extended Exploration Area since September 2012
to form the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine

—EGI BN FN S REEE RARFR USRS SMEEES
AT AABNBUIMERE > B2012E08 RHEEHIEEHEREEGHAE
E-FREWENE

Yanyuan Xigang Clean Coal Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC
HERAIBESREEAR —HRPBERINEREEAF

Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 7 December 2007
BRHARBERERECTAS > —ER2007F12878EFEMRIINEREEA
=

* EHHEE
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CHINA VANADIUM

A\\ TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING
COMPANY LIMITED
PRI SR IEE R R AR

www.chinavtmmining.com
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